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MOTION FOR LEAVE TO PROCEED IN FORMA PAUPERIS

Petitioner, Miles Sterling Bench, an indigent inmate of the Oklahoma State
Penitentiary, submits this Motion for Leave to Proceed In Forma Pauperis with his Petition
for Writ of Certiorari to the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals.

As demonstrated in the attached affidavit, Miles Sterling Bench, has been in the
continuous custody of the State of Oklahoma since his arrest on criminal charges.

The attached affidavit is on the form provided by the Clerk of this Court, and complies
with this Court's Rule 39.1 and 28 U.S.C. Section 1746(b) and 1915.

It is respectfully requested that this Court grant this Motion for Leave to Proceed In
Forma Pauperis, and permit Miles Sterling Bench, to submit his petition for writ of certiorari
for filing without prepayment of filing fees or costs.

Respectfully,

Katrina Conrad-Legler i

United States Supreme Court No. 307360
Oklahoma Bar Assoc. No. 16953
Oklahoma Indigent Defense System
Homicide Direct Appeals Division

P.O. Box 926

Norman, OK 73070

(405) 801-2666

(405) 801-2690 (telefascsimile)

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER



AFFIDAVIT OR DECLARATION
IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR LEAVE TO PROCEED IN FORMA PAUPERIS

I, Mi ‘e,s______&e,\"\dq_ _, am the petitioner in the above-entitled case. In support of
my motion to proceed in forma pauperis. I state that because of my poverty I am unable to pay
the costs of this case or to give security therefor; and [ believe T am entitled to redress.

1. For both you and your spouse estimate the average amount of money received from each of
the following sources during the past 12 months. Adjust any amount that was received
weekly, biweekly, quarterly, semiannually, or annually to show the monthly rate. Use gross
amotnts, that is, amounts before any deductions for taxes or otherwise.

Income source Average monthly amount during Amount expected
the past 12 months next month
You Spouse You Spouse

(@) s NfA_ s (O s N/
Seif-employment O, s\\ (7 g Q_ 5 A’/Pc

Employment 3

~ //
Income from real properly s O s “ 9 & § N 7
(such as rental income)
~n 7y s
Interest and dividends S_,____Q__ S 5 O S i
Gifts s O s. > s () g~
Alimony s__ () s 1 g O g B2 %
L 4 . 3
Child Support s. O 5. 5. O gL
P LY s LY I
Retirement (such as social S__O S L $ (P $
security, pensions,
annuities, insurance)
L . ¢
Disability (such as social s_() $ d 5. O s_* i
security, insurance paymenis)
Unemployment paymenis $ O s " $ @ — S5 LT i
Public-assistance $ O g g O $_ &2

(such as welfare)

Other (specify):f};&sﬁﬁ"w{? s WL.50 g » s .50 g I8

rr

Total monthly income: s | .90 g & % - (.50 e

L2
&3




2. List your employment history for the past two years, most recent first. (Gross monthly pay
is before taxes or other deductions.)

Employer Address Dates of Gross monthly pay
Employment
_N/A N/A — s O
S
S

3. List your spouse’s employment history for the past two years, most recent employer first,
(Gross monthly pay is befure taxes or other deduetions.)

Employer Address Dates of Gross monthly pay
Employment
_N/A N/A s N A
S
S

4. How much cash do you and your spouse have? $ }\i / 6 e
Below, state any money you or your spouse have inbank accounts or in any other financial
institution,

Financial institution Type of account Amount you have Amount your spouse has

ot g Npmg— S S /A
s 5

3. List the assets, and their valueg, which you own or your spouse owns. Do not list clothing
and orcinary household furnishings.

D}Mﬁa ] Other 1'eyé3tate
Value Value

1 Motor Vehicle #1 ] Motor Vhicle #2
Year, prake & model . Year, Make & model
Value Value

[] Other gésets

Desecription _J\_jiﬁl .
Valfe




G. State every person, business, or organization owing you or your spouse money, and the
amount owed.

Person owing you or Amount owed to you Amount owed to your spouse
your spouse money

_N/A . ) . . s M/A

5 $
S S
7. State the persons who rely on you or your spouse for support.
Name Relationship Age
N | pr - —

S. Estimate the average monthly expenses of yon and your family. Show separately the amounts
paid by your spouse. Adjust any payments that are made weckly, biweekly, quarterly, or
annually to show the monthly rate.

You Your spouse
Rent or home-mortgage payment
(include lot rented for mobile home) 51__@,1/ _A_ 3 N / @_’ =
Are real estate taxes included?  [T1Yes [ No
[= property insurance included? [ Yes (1 No
Utilities (electricity, heating fuel,
water, sewer, and telephone) $ _N[_A' . b N / A T

N /A 5 J_f’f_“

Food s N / A_ 3 N)ZA
Clothing $_NJ_A' _ 5 m_

Laundry and dry-cleaning 3 __N/ A__ - s N _/.'3'

Medical and dental expenzes S5 Nm_ = ‘D‘N/_ ﬂ'_

Home maintenance (repairs and upkeep)

S




Transportation (not including motor vehicle payments)

Recreation, entertainment, newspapers, magazines, ete.

Your spause

s N/A

2

b

N/A

s

[nsmrance (not deducted from wages or included in mortgage payments)

Homeowner's or renter’s
Life
Health

Motorr Vehiele

Other: ___N/A_

~

S

s

o
g

$
$
3
$

e

o

'
Lt CLESIATL - —

&

Taxes (not deducted from wages or included in mortgage payments)

(specify): ‘Mm : .

Installment payments
Motor Vehicle
Credit card(s)
Department store(s)

QOther

Alimony. maintenance, and support paid to others

Regular expenses for operation of business, profession,
or farm (attach detailed statement)

Other (specity):

Tatal monthly expenses:

s P

s N/A

_-.‘.1"..'

s N/ R
%L\I/ =
sN/A

$“__N_f/3(

ss_&‘/Ljf. _
$ A)/ff



). Do you expect any major changes to your monthly income or expenses ot in your assets or
liabilities during the next 12 months?

O Yes ')6 No If yes, describe on an attached sheet.
[ Unless T. obtam velief in MY
crimmal casefappeals.)

10. Have you paid - or will you be paying - an attorney any money for services in connection
with this case, including the completion of this form? [ Yes )q"l\*o

If yes, how much? _i"\_dgﬂj;@i ___QE,'F&%S& SQW";CQS / U"'J’ v-

[f yes, state the attorney’s name, address, and telephone number:

OI‘DS 57"\"1 — Nopvman, ok LAHoMA

11. Have you paid—or will you be paying—anyone other than an attorney (such as a paralegal or
a typist) any money for services in connection with this case, including the completion of this
form?

1 Yes (7 No

If yes, how much?
If yes, state the person’s name, address, and telephone number:

N /A

12. Provide any other information that will help explain why you cannot pay the costs of this case.

2
T'm ihcarc,erc.cvf'@d} on death vow-,

[ declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is tirrue and correct.

Executed on: N o\ ew b.@_‘!'__._LZL_ . 20_)'_g g

{Signature)
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The Petitioner, Miles Sterling Bench, respectfully prays that a writ of certiorari issue
to review the judgment and opinion of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, entered in
the above-entitled proceeding on October 4, 2018.

LIST OF PARTIES:

All parties to this action are named in the caption.

OPINIONS BELOW:

The judgment for which certiorari is sought is Bench v. State, 431 P.3d 929 (Okl.Cr.
2018). The decision in Bench was filed on October 4, 2018. See Appendix, Exhibit A.
Rehearing was denied on November 7, 2018. See Appendix, Exhibit B.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION IN THIS COURT:

The Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals, the highest Oklahoma court in which
Petitioner may obtain relief, issued its decision affirming Petitioner’s judgment and death
sentence on October 4, 2018, and denied rehearing on November 7, 2018. Pursuant to this
Court’s Rule 13.5, Petitioner timely sought from the Honorable Associate Justice Sonia
Sotomayor an extension of time to file a petition for a writ of certiorari. Justice Sotomayor
entered an order on January 30, 2019, giving Petitioner Bench up to and including April 8,

2019, to file a petition. This Court’s jurisdiction arises pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1257.



CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED:

Constitutional Provisions:

Eighth Amendment:

Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and
unusual punishments inflicted.
Fourteenth Amendment:

No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or
immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any
person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any
person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Oklahoma Statute:

Okla. Stat. tit. 21, § 701.12 (2011) Aggravating Circumstances:

Aggravating circumstances shall be:

H Ak

(4) The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel;

Aok

Oklahoma Uniform Jury Instruction 4-73;
DEATH PENALTY PROCEEDINGS— HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, CRUEL DEFINED

The State has alleged that the murder was “especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.” This
aggravating circumstance is not established unless the State proves beyond a reasonable
doubt:

First, that the murder was preceded by either torture of the victim or serious physical
abuse of the victim; and

Second, that the facts and circumstances of this case establish that the murder was
heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

You are instructed that the term “torture” means the infliction of either great physical
anguish or extreme mental cruelty. You are further instructed that you cannot find that
“serious physical abuse” or “great physical anguish” occurred unless you also find that the



victim experienced conscious physical suffering prior to his/her death.

In addition, you are instructed that the term “heinous” means extremely wicked or
shockingly evil; the term “atrocious” means outrageously wicked and vile; and the term
“cruel” means pitiless, designed to inflict a high degree of pain, or utter indifference to or
enjoyment of the suffering of others.



STATEMENT OF THE CASE:
A. Facts Material to the Question Presented.

Petitioner Bench was tried by a jury on one count of First Degree Murder for the death

of Braylee Henry. Following a guilty verdict, the jury heard evidence in aggravation and
mitigation and returned a death sentence on the count of First Degree Murder.
This petition questions whether the “especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel” aggravating
instruction sufficiently performs the narrowing function required by the Eighth and
Fourteenth Amendments in death penalty cases in light of this Court’s holdings in Arave v.
Creech, 507 U.S. 463, 471, 113 S.Ct. 1534, 1540, 123 L.Ed.2d 188(1993) (The State must
“channel the sentencer’s discretion by clear and objective standards that provide specific and
detailed guidance . . .and that make rationally reviewable the process for imposing a sentence
of death”) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted); see also Maynard v. Cartwright,
486 U.S. 356,362,108 S.Ct. 1853, 1858, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988)(*“[O]ur cases have insisted
that the channeling and limiting of the sentencer’s discretion in imposing the death penalty
is a fundamental constitutional requirement for sufficiently minimizing the risk of wholly
arbitrary and capricious action.”); Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 259-60, 96 S. Ct. 2960,
2969-70, 49 L. Ed. 2d 913 (1976)(An aggravating circumstance is constitutional only if the
jurisdiction utilizing it applies and interprets it in a “limiting” and “consistent” manner).

Prior to trial, Mr. Bench filed a motion to strike the especially heinous, atrocious, or
cruel aggravating circumstance, arguing it was unconstitutional on its face and as applied.

(O.R. 688-692) In conjunction with this motion, counsel also filed an “Objection to Standard



Instruction and Verdict Form on Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel.” (O.R. 686-687) Both motions
were denied by the trial court. (M Tr. 12/19/14, 107) Petitioner Bench reurged his objection
to the standard instruction on heinous, atrocious, or cruel during the second stage
proceedings. (Tr. XIV, 118) This was also denied by the trial court. (Tr. XIV, 118)

To prove this aggravator at trial, the State relied on the incorporation of guilt-stage
evidence. (Tr. XII, 5, 18; Tr. XIII, 6) This evidence consisted primarily of testimony from
the Medical Examiner, Dr. Inas Yacoub. An autopsy on Ms. Henry’s body revealed she
received considerable blunt force trauma to her head, neck, and upper torso. (Tr. VIII, 14,
17, 52, 69; State’s Ex. 500) The Medical Examiner concluded that the cause of death was
blunt force trauma to the head and neck. (Tr. VIII, 69) Dr. Yacoub opined that “[Ms. Henry)
was conscious at some point in time. She gets assaulted. After the assault, there was an
interval that this person could cough out blood from her nose and mouth. Then she becomes
unconscious and then dies.” (Tr. XII, 181) Dr. Yacoub testified that after Ms. Henry was
unconscious she would have lost the reflex to cough any blood out, resulting in the
accumulation of blood in her throat and airways. (Tr. XII, 181-82)

The State alleged the following in charging this aggravating circumstance, “ [t]hat
Braylee Rea Henry suffered acute blunt force trauma to the head, neck and torso and
extremities to the extent that the trauma of the neck resulted in hemorrhaging in the skin, the
muscles of the neck, fracture of the left side of the cricoid cartilage, bleeding into her
airways, around the pharynx, esophagus and the muscles in front of the cervical vertebra

... and did consciously suffer great physical pain and mental anguish as she lingered before



her death.” (O.R. 124-125) In support of the claim that the death of Ms. Henry was
especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, the State argued the physical effects of the beating and
resulting blood in the airways were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

In the penalty phase of the trial, the State recalled Dr. Inas Yacoub, the forensic
pathologist. Dr. Yacoub opined that, based on her examination, Ms. Henry had not been
rendered unconscious immediately by Mr. Bench’s attack and would have felt pain prior to
her death. (Tr. XII, 205). However, according to Dr. Yacoub, she was unable to determine
the precise moment when Ms. Henry lost consciousness. (Tr. X1I, 209) She also could not
discern how many blows Ms. Henry suffered, only that Ms. Henry was stomped on her
shoulder at least one time. (Tr. XII, 209, 210)

Dr. Yacoub provided no testimony regarding the order of the victim’s wounds. While
she did not believe Ms. Henry lost consciousness immediately, the medical examiner could
not say how soon after the attack, she lapsed into unconsciousness. (Tr. XII, 208-209) Not
to minimize the horrific nature of Ms. Henry’s injuries, but there was simply no conclusive
evidence to establish that Ms. Henry ever consciously suffered pain from these injuries.

Dr. Yacoub testified that Ms. Henry had not been immediately rendered unconscious
by the attack, yet she could not say precisely when it did occur. And, this is the relevant
inquiry in this instance. This, again, underlies the fact that the State could not show the exact

time of unconsciousness during the altercation in the store beyond a reasonable doubt.



B. How the Issue Was Raised and Decided Below.

Trial counsel filed a motion to strike the especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel
aggravating circumstance, arguing it was unconstitutional on its face and as applied. (O.R.
688-92) In conjunction with this motion, counsel also filed an “Objection to Standard
Instruction and Verdict Form on Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel.” (O.R. 686-687) Both motions
were denied by the trial court. (M Tr. 12/19/14, 107) Trial counsel also reurged the objection
during the second stage proceedings, which was also denied. (Tr. XIV, 118)

On appeal to the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals (OCCA), Petitioner recounted
the checkered past of this aggravating circumstance in Oklahoma. In 1980, this Court
invalidated Georgia’s version of this aggravator (there styled as “outrageously or wantonly
vile, horrible or inhuman”) because the terms of the aggravator were vague and overbroad.
Godfrey v. Georgia, 446 U.S. 420, 428-29, 100 8.Ct. 1759, 1764-65, 64 L.Ed.2d 398 (1980)
(If a State wishes to authorize capital punishment, it has a constitutional responsibility to
tailor and apply its law in a manner that avoids the arbitrary and capricious infliction of the
death penalty).

Some years later, the Tenth Circuit reached the same conclusion regarding
Oklahoma’s heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator. Cartwright v. Maynard, 822 F.2d 1477,
1491 (10™ Cir. 1987). The Circuit Court reached this conclusion because the terms heinous,
atrocious, and cruel were vague and not sufficiently limited and defined for a jury’s
consideration, and also because the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals was not applying

a consistent, objective narrowing construction to this facially vague and overbroad



aggravator. Cartwright,822 F.2d at 1487-91. This Court upheld the Circuit Court’s decision
in Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 108 S.Ct. 1853, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988).
Petitioner observed that the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals ostensibly narrowed
the aggravating circumstance by requiring that it be established only when the evidence
proved beyond a reasonable doubt the murder was preceded by torture or serious physical
abuse. Stoufferv. State, 742 P.2d 562, 563 (Okl.Cr. 1987). The OCCA identified two kinds
of murder meeting this standard: murders involving the infliction of “great physical anguish™
and murders involving the infliction of “extreme mental cruelty.” Cheney v. State, 909 P.2d
74, 80 (Okl. Cr. 1995). According to the OCCA, the torture or serious physical abuse
standard is met only when there is proof of inordinate conscious physical suffering beyond
that attendant to the homicide. See Crawford v. State, 840 P.2d 627, 641 (Okl. Cr. 1992).
With this background established, Petitioner reminded the QCCA that Oklahoma’s
use of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator has remained under scrutiny from the Tenth
Circuit, which has expressed concern the use of this aggravator once again resembles the
catch-all approach found unconstitutional in Cartwright. See Romano v. Gibson, 239 F.3d
1156, 1176 (10" Cir. 2001); Thomas v. Gibson, 218 F.3d 1213, 1229 n.17 (10" Cir. 2000);
Medlock v. Ward, 200 F.3d 1314, 1324 (10" Cir. 2000) (Lucero, J., concurring).
Petitioner argued that, consistent with constitutional standards, aggravating factors
must be neither vague nor overbroad. Cartwright, 822 F.2d at 1489. In Oklahoma, there is
no consistent or reasoned basis upon which a murder can confidently be excluded as

especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. In Romanov. Gibson,239F.3d 1156, 1176 (10* Cir.



2001), the Tenth Circuit pointed to recent Oklahoma cases that had begun to blur the
common understanding of the requisite torture and conscious physical suffering, finding the
existence of these elements in almost every murder. Citing Fiuke v. State, 14 P.3d 565, 568
and n. 9 (Okl. Cr. 2000)(Noting evidence victim was aware of attack sufficient to show
torture); and Washington v. State, 989 P.2d 960, 974-75 (Okl. Cr. 1999)(Holding sufficient
evidence supported this aggravator where victim may have consciously suffered for less than
one minute after defendant shot her eight times after brief encounter). There is certainly a
concern that Oklahoma’s interpretation of its narrowing language could again render this
aggravator unconstitutional. See Thomas, 218 F.3d at 1229.

Petitioner brought to the OCCA’’s attention that even that court’s most recent attempts
at narrowing the breadth of this aggravator have not done enough to guide the sentencer
toward the small number of cases to which it is supposed to be applied. The re-worked
uniform instruction still fails to inform the jury that “extreme mental cruelty” and “great
physical anguish” must last for an appreciable amount of time prior to death, and that
“conscious physical suffering” is supposed to refer to suffering beyond the brief period of
conscious suffering that accompanies virtually every homicide. See DeRosa v. State, 89 P.3d
1124, 1156 (Okl.Cr.2004). While the jury was issued the standard Uniform Jury Instruction
No. 4-73, OUJI-CR(2d), (O.R. 1435-1338), this instruction failed to inform the jury of the
limiting constructions placed upon it by the OCCA.

Petitioner acknowledged that the OCCA has routinely and repeatedly rejected this

very same claim. See Bosse v. State, 400 P.3d 834, 857-58 (Okl.Cr. 2017) vacated and



remanded by Bosse v. Oklahoma, 137 S.Ct. 1, 196 L.Ed.2d 1; Coddington v. State, 254 P.3d
684,710 (Okl.Cr. 2011); Underwood v. State, 252 P.3d 221, 246-47 (Okl.Cr. 2011); Cuesta-
Rodriguez v. State, 241 P.3d 214, 238-39 (Okl.Cr. 2010). Petitioner also acknowledged that
the OCCA has offered by way of explanation that “an aggravating circumstance does not
become ‘overbroad’ based upon the manner it is applied to particular cases.” Mitchell v.
State, 136 P.3d 671, 711 (Okl.Cr. 2006) citing DeRosa v. State, 89 P.3d 1124, 1154-55
(OkL.Cr. 2004). While this would certainly be true of a facially valid aggravator (i.e., one
that is neither vague nor overbroad on its face), the statutory language has been found to be
unconstitutionally vague and overbroad, and it is only the OCCA’s narrowing construction
applied to particular cases that has saved this aggravator from constitutional attack. See
Cartwright, 822 F.2d at 1491; Romano, 239 F.3d at 1175-76.

Petitioner also pointed out to the OCCA that it had previously adopted a narrowing
construction, limiting this aggravator to “the conscienceless or pitiless crime which is
unnecessarily torturous to the victim,” Nuckols v. State, 690 P.2d 463,471-73 (Okl.Cr. 1984),
but that the court’s failure to apply that construction consistently, and to make that language
mandatory, leaves the aggravator open to constitutional attack. Cartwright, 822 F.2d at
1488-89. In the same manner, failing to consistently and objectively apply the court’s more
recent narrowing constructions, essentially applying the aggravator to all murders except
those involving instantaneous deaths, renders the constitutionality of this aggravator suspect
once again, See, e.g., Welchv. Workman, 639 F.3d 980, 1006-07 (10" Cir. 2011) (evaluation

of whether this aggravator has been constitutionally applied requires reviewing the state

10



court’s findings as to the duration of conscious suffering on the part of the victim); see also
Mediock, 200 F.3d at 1324 (Lucero, J., concurring); Thomas, 218 ¥.3d at 1228 n.17.
Despite this compelling argument, the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals once
again rejected Petitioner’s claim, with little explanation except to state that it has rejected
these arguments before and does so again. Bench v. State, 431 P.3d at 961-63. Whether the
State had met its burden of proving the aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt, the appellate
court found that, “Similar to many others before him, Appellant argues that this Court’s
attempt to limit and narrow this aggravating circumstance have been unsuccessful. We have
repeatedly rejected this claim. The argument and authorities which Appellant presents raise
nothing new. We continue to find that the current uniform instructions defining this
aggravating circumstance sufficiently narrow its application to pass constitutional muster.”

Id., 431 P.3d at 961-62 (internal citations omitted).

11



REASON THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT THE WRIT:

Certiorari Should Be Granted Because the Oklahoma Court of Criminal

Appeals’ Refusal to Either Consistently Apply its own Limiting

Construction to the Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel Aggravating

Circumstance or to Require Juries be so Informed is Clearly Contrary to

this Court’s Capital Sentencing Jurisprudence and the Eighth

Amendment.

Despite the basic requirement that aggravating circumstances narrow the class of
murderers eligible for a death sentence, either by way of clear, limiting language in the
aggravator itself or through the application of limiting construction in jury instructions or by
the appellate courts on appeal, Oklahoma’s “Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel” aggravating
circumstance as it is currently used does not accomplish this. See, e.g., Aravev. Creech, 507
U.S. 463,471, 113 S.Ct. 1534, 1540, 123 L.Ed.2d 188 (1993); Maynard v. Cartwright, 486
U.S. 356, 362, 108 S.Ct. 1853, 1858, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988); and Proffitt v. Florida, 428
U.S. 242, 253, 96 S. Ct. 2960, 2967, 49 L. Ed. 2d 913 (1976).

The bare language of the aggravator itself is vague and overbroad, seemingly
applicable to almost every homicide wherein the victim does not die immediately and is
unaware of his or her pending demise. Although the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals
has applied a limiting construction to this aggravator, that court neither routinely nor
consistently applies it to cases before it. Neither does that court require juries to be informed
of the limiting construction, thus depriving them of the opportunity to constitutionally apply
this aggravator in capital cases.

This Court has recognized that this very aggravating circumstance is unconstitutional

in the past, and nothing has changed since. The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals has routinely

12



recognized that Oklahoma is likely applying this aggravator in an unconstitutional manner.
See, e.g., Romano v. Gibson, 239 F.3d 1156, 1176 (10" Cir. 2001); Thomas v. Gibson, 218
F.3d 1213, 1229 n.17 (10™ Cir. 2000); Medlock v. Ward, 200 F.3d 1314, 1324 (10" Cir.
2000) (Lucero, J., concurring). In Thomas, the Circuit Court of Appeals noted:

This court need not decide the question of the general viability of such an
inference in this case because the inference fails for other reasons.
Nevertheless, we would be remiss if we failed to note that the inference
appears to raise serious constitutional questions about whether Oklahoma’s
heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator legitimately narrows the class of those
eligible for death. See Richmond v. Lewis, 506 U.S. 40, 46, 113 S.Ct. 528, 121
L.Ed.2d 411 (1992)(“The relevant Eighth Amendment law is well defined. .
. . [A] statutory aggravating factor is unconstitutionally vague if it fails to
furnish principled guidance for the choice between death and a lesser
penalty.”). Oklahoma adopted the “torture or serious physical abuse” overlay
to the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator, with its concomitant requirement
of conscious suffering, for the very reason that Oklahoma’s prior, unrefined
version of the aggravator had been struck down by the Supreme Court as
vague and overly broad. See Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 363-64,
108 S.Ct. 1853, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988). The inference adopted by the
OCCA, however, appears to completely unwind the requirement of conscious
suffering: in every murder committed with more than one blow an inference
would arise that the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel because no
reasonable murderer would continue beating the victim if she had become
unconscious after the first blow. See Thomas I, 811 P.2d at 1349. There
exists, at a minimum, a serious constitutional question as to whether an
aggravator which makes eligible for the death penalty all murderers who strike
more than one blow adequately narrows the class of murderers eligible for the
death penalty. See Maynard, 486 U.S. at 361-62, 108 S.Ct. 1853.

Thomas v. Gibson,218 F.3d at 1229 n. 17.
More recently, the Tenth Circuit has once again questioned Oklahoma’s failure to

apply any limiting construction to this aggravator. In Pavattv. Royal, 859 F.3d 920, 930-38
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(10" Cir. 2017) (pending en banc review on October 2, 2018) !, the federal appeals court
recounted the tortured history of this aggravator in Oklahoma and again faulted the OCCA
for failing to properly analyze this aggravating circumstance. The Tenth Circuit court
granted relief, in part, because “the OCCA has not construed ‘conscious physical suffering’
in a way that distinguishes this case from the many cases in which the death penalty is not
imposed. Virtually any murder in which the victim did not die instantly could qualify for the
enhancement under this construction if there is a possibility that the act of murder did not
immediately render the victim unconscious and the wounds could have caused pain.” Id. at
936.

Just as in Pavatt, the OCCA failed to properly decide whether there was sufficient
evidence to sustain the aggravator. Although the court could certainly determine how
conscious physical suffering should be defined under Oklahoma law, it totally failed to
consider the other component of the analysis. As a result, the court failed to determine
whether the evidence would support a finding of conscious physical suffering under a
definition of that term that satisfied both Oklahoma law and the Eighth Amendment. /d.

The reason for granting certiorari in this case is similarly compelling, because the
OCCA has signaled that it will continue to act in an unconstitutional manner on this issue
until told otherwise by this Court. Because Oklahoma is currently applying the especially

heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator in a constitutionally vague and overly broad manner,

! See Fed. R. App. P. 35(a) and 10" Cir. R. 35.6 (The grant of rehearing en banc vacates the
judgment, stays the mandate, and restores the case on the docket as a pending appeal; the panel decision is
not vacated unless the court so orders).

14



and has failed to give capital juries constitutionally acceptable guidance regarding the

situations to which it applies, Mr. Bench’s death sentence must be vacated.
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CONCLUSION
Miles Sterling Bench respectfully requests this Court grant this petition for certiorari
to the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals on the question presented. Petitioner further
requests that this Court vacate the death sentence in this case and grant such other relief as

it deems appropriate.
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Core Terms

murder, trial court, photographs, jurors, defense
counsel, ineffective, questions, argues, jail, plain error,
circumstances, depraved mind, injuries, kill, admissions,
asserts, aggravating circumstances, second stage,
witnesses, articles, impeach, mitigation, present case,
neuro-imaging, insanity, evinced, closing argument,
corroborated, sentencing, issues

Case Summary

Overview

HOLDINGS: [1]-Defendant, who was sentenced to
death for first degree murder, was properly denied a
change of venue. He failed to show he was so
prejudiced by pretrial publicity that he did not receive a
fair trial under the Sixth Amendment, Okfa. Const._ari. i1,
§ 20, and Okla. Stat. tit. 22§ 561; [2]-The determination
that defendant voluntarily made statements without any
interrogation was not clearly against the logic and effect
of the facts presented. A jailer's questions to defendant
fell squarely within the "routine booking question”
exception. The trial court properly rejected defendant's
motion to suppress; [3]-The trial court properly
determined that there was not any evidence to support
an instruction upon second degree depraved mind
murder; [4]-Pursuant to Okla. Stat fit. 21, § 701.13, the
court found the sentence of death to be factually
substantiated and appropriate.

Outcome

Judgment and sentence affirmed. Defendant's
application for an evidentiary hearing on his Sixth
Amendment claim was denied.

LexisNexis® Headnotes

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental
Rights > Criminal Process > Right to Jury Trial

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Defendant's
Rights > Right to Fair Trial

Constitutional Law > Bill of Rights > State
Application

HN1|1’.] Criminal Process, Right to Jury Trial

The Sixth Amendment right te a jury tral guarantees to
the criminally accused a fair trial by a panel of impartial,
indifferent jurors and it is a basic requirement of due
process that an accused receive a fair trial in a fair
tribunal. Likewise, Okla. Const. art. I, § 20, and Okla.
Stat. tit. 22§ 561, (2011) gquarantee a criminal
defendant a fair trial by an impartial jury.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of
Review > Plain Error > Burdens of Proof

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals > Standards of
Review > Plain Error

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Challenges to Jury
Venire > Pretrial Publicity > Change of Venue
Requests
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HN2|$] Plain Error, Burdens of Proof

When a defendant does not renew his pretrial request
for a change of venue at any point during voir dire, he
has waived appellate review of this issue for all but plain
error. The Court of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma
reviews the defendant's claim pursuant to the test for
plain error set forth in Simpson v. State. Under this test,
an appellant must show an actual error, which is plain or
obvious, and which affects his substantial rights. The
court will only correct plain error if the error seriously
affects the fairness, integrity or public reputation of the
judicial proceedings or otherwise represents a
miscarriage of justice.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Challenges to Jury
Venire > Pretrial Publicity > Change of Venue
Requests

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Allocation

Evidence > Inferences &
Presumptions > Presumptions > Particular
Presumptions

HN3E)
Requests

Pretrial Publicity, Change of Venue

Analysis of a request for a change of venue begins with
the rebuttable presumption that the accused can receive
a fair trial in the county in which the offense occurred. It
is the appellant's burden to show he has been so
prejudiced by pretrial publicity that he did not receive a
fair trial. The Court of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma
has adopted the two-part test which the United States
Supreme Court set forth in Murphy v. Florida. First,
there are rare instances in which prejudice is presumed.
If the fact pattern reveals the influence of the news
media, either in the community at large or in the
courtroom itself, pervaded the proceedings prejudice is
presumed regardless of the assurances of individual
jurors that they can be fair and impartial. However, juror
exposure to information about a defendant's prior
convictions or news accounts of the crime with which
the defendant is charged, standing alone, does not
create a presumption of prejudice. Media coverage
extends to most homicides, particularly capital cases.
The mere fact that pretrial publicity is adverse to a
criminal defendant is not enough to presume prejudice.
Thus, the court only presumes prejudice where a
conviction has been obtained in a trial atmosphere that
has been utterly corrupted by press coverage or entirely

lacking in the solemnity and sobriety to which a
defendant is entitled,

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Challenges to Jury
Venire > Pretrial Publicity > Change of Venue
Requests

Evidence > Inferences &
Presumptions > Presumptions > Particular
Presumptions

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Defendant's
Rights > Right to Fair Trial

HN4|.‘;] Pretrial

Requests

Publicity, Change of Venue

In the context of a request for a change of venue, the
second part of the two-part test which the United States
Supreme Court set forth in Murphy v. Florida focuses on
the situation where the facts are not sufficiently
egregious to give rise to the presumption of prejudice.
This is the much more common circumstance. In this
situation, a reviewing court must evaluate the totality of
the circumstances in order to determine whether the
defendant received a trial which was fundamentally fair.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries & Jurors > Voir
Dire

HN§|.‘.’.] Juries & Jurors, Voir Dire

Qualified jurors need not be totally ignorant of the facts
and issues involved. It is sufficient if the juror can lay
aside his impression or opinion and render a verdict
based on the evidence presented in court.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals > Standards of
Review > Abuse of Discretion

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of
Review > Abuse of Discretion > Evidence

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Suppression of Evidence

HN6|$] Standards of Review, Abuse of Discretion



Page 3 of 47

2018 OK CR 31, *31, 2018 Qkla. Crim. App. LEXIS 33, **1

The Court of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma reviews the
trial court's denial of a motion to suppress for an abuse
of discretion. This is the same standard of review
applied to the trial court's admission of evidence. An
abuse of discretion has been defined as a clearly
erroneous conclusion and judgment, one that is clearly
against the logic and effect of the facis presented or,
stated otherwise, any unreasonable or arbitrary action
taken without proper consideration of the facts and law
pertaining to the matter at issue.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Commencement of
Criminal
Proceedings > Interrogation > Voluntariness

HNZ];‘.] Interrogation, Veluntariness

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment
is the comerstone of the determination of the
admissibility of an inculpatory statement. In Culombe v.
Connecticut, the U.S. Supreme Court set forth the test
for the admissibility of an inculpatory statement under
the Due Process Clause: The ultimate test remains that
which has been the only clearly established test in
Anglo-American courts for two hundred years: the test
of voluntariness. Is the confession the product of an
essentially free and unconstrained choice by its maker?
Ifitis, if he has willed to confess, it may be used against
him. If it is not, if his will has been overborne and his
capacity for self-determination critically impaired, the
use of his confession offends due process. The
voluntariness of a confession is evaluated on the basis
of the totality of all the surrounding circumstances.

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental
Rights > Procedural Due Process > Self-
Incrimination Privilege

Criminal Law & Procedure > Commencement of
Criminal
Proceedings > Interrogation > Voluntariness

Constitutional Law > Bill of Rights > State
Application

HNQ[.‘L] Procedural Due Process, Self-Incrimination
Privilege

The Court of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma has
generally refused to interpret the provision against self-

incrimination within Okla. Const. art. Il § 21, broader
than the United States Supreme Courl's interpretation of
similar federal provisions. Instead, in addressing
confessions or inculpatory statements, the Court of
Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma has interpreted both § 7
and § 21 of the Oklahoma Constitution consistent with
the Supreme Court's overriding standard. The ultimate
test for the admission of either an inculpatory statement
or a confession is the test of "voluntariness." A
statement is voluntary, and thus admissible in evidence,
only when all the surrounding circumstances indicate
that the statement is the product of an essentially free
and unconstrained choice by its maker.

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Interrogation > Miranda
Rights > Notice & Warning

HNQ[!’.] Miranda Rights, Notice & Warning

The term "interrogation” under Miranda refers not only to
express questioning, but also to any words or actions on
the part of the police (other than those normally
attendant to arrest and custody) that the palice should
know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating
response from the suspect. The special procedural
safeguards set forth in Miranda are not required where a
subject is simply taken into custody, but rather where a
suspect in custody is subjected to either express
questioning or its functional equivalent.

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Interrogation > Miranda
Rights > Notice & Warning

Criminal Law & Procedure > Commencement of
Criminal
Proceedings > Interrogation > Voluntariness

HN10[¥) Miranda Rights, Notice & Warning

Volunteered statements of any kind are not barred by
the Fifth Amendment. In post-arrest situations where
Miranda wamings have not yet been given, a
defendant's voluntary statements, not made in response
to questioning, are admissible.

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Interrogation > Miranda
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Rights > Routine Booking Questions

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Interrogation > Miranda

Rights > Voluntary Waiver
HN11|'.".] Miranda Rights, Routine Booking
Questions

The "routine booking question” exception exempts from
Miranda's coverage questions to secure the biographical
data necessary to complete booking or pretrial services.
The inquiries necessary for proper booking procedures
do not amecunt to "interrogation” for the purposes of
Miranda. The underlying rationale for the exception is
that routine booking questions do not constitute
interrogation because they do not normally -elicit
incriminating responses. Therefore, the police may not
ask questions during booking that are designed to elicit
incriminatory admissions, without first obtaining a waiver
of the suspect's Miranda rights.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals > Reversible
Error > Evidence

Evidence > Types of Evidence > Demonstrative
Evidence > Photographs

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of
Review > Abuse of Discretion > Evidence

HN12|.?.] Reversible Error, Evidence

The admissibility of photographic evidence, as with all
evidence, is reviewed under an abuse of discretion
standard. Unless a clear abuse of discretion is shown,
reversal will not be warranted.

Evidence > Relevance > Exclusion of Relevant
Evidence > Confusion, Prejudice & Waste of Time

Evidence > Types of Evidence > Demonstrative
Evidence > Photographs

Evidence > Relevance > Relevant Evidence

HN13|.".] Exclusion of Relevant
Confusion, Prejudice & Waste of Time

Evidence,

Photographs are admissible if their content is relevant
and their probative value is not substantially outweighed

by their prejudicial effect. Relevant evidence is defined
as evidence having any tendency to make the existence
of a fact that is of consequence to the determination of
the action more probable or less probable than it would
be without the evidence. Okla. Stat. art. 12, § 2401
{2011). The probative value of photographs of murder
victims can be manifesied in numerous ways, including
showing the nature, extent and location of wounds,
establishing the corpus delicti, depicting the crime
scene, and corroborating the medical examiner's
testimony. Although relevant, evidence may be
excluded if its probative value is substantially
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion
of the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay,
needless presentation of cumulative evidence, or unfair
and harmful surprise. Okla. Stat. art. 12, § 2403 (2011).
Where there is duplication in images, the appellant has
the burden to show that the repetition in images was
needless or inflammatory. When measuring the
relevancy of evidence against its prejudicial effect, the
court should give the evidence its maximum reasonable
probative force and its minimum reasonable prejudicial
value.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals > Standards of
Review > Abuse of Discretion

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Jury
Instructions

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Judicial
Discretion

HN14|."‘L] Standards of Review, Abuse of Discretion

The determination of which instructions shall be given to
the jury is a matter within the discretion of the trial court.
Absent an abuse of that discretion, the Court of Criminal
Appeals of Oklahoma will not interfere with the trial
court's judgment if the instructions as a whole,
accurately state the applicable law.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment > Bifurcated Trials

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Allocation

Criminal Law & Procedure > Criminal
Offenses > Lesser Included Offenses > Homicide
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HN151%) Capital Punishment, Bifurcated Trials

In Beck v. Alabama, the United States Supreme Court
held that a sentence of death may not constitutionally be
imposed after a jury verdict of guilt of a capital offense,
when the jury was not permitted to consider a verdict of
guilt of a lesser included non-capital offense, and when
the evidence would have supported such a verdict.
However, Beck does not require that the jury in a capital
case be given a non-capital option where the evidence
absolutely does not support that option. A Beck claim
has two components. First, the appellant must establish
that the crime on which the trial court refused to instruct
was actually a lesser-included offense of the capital
crime of which he was convicted. Second, the appellant
must show that the evidence presented at trial would
permit a rational jury to find him guilty of the lesser
included offense and acquit him of first degree murder.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Jury
Instructions > Particular Instructions > Lesser
Included Offenses

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Allocation

HN16|.‘.'..] Particular Instructions, Lesser Included
Offenses

Prima facie evidence of the lesser offense must be
presented at trial in order to warrant giving the lesser
included instruction. Prima facie evidence of a lesser
included offense is that evidence which would allow a
jury rationally to find the accused guilty of the lesser
offense and acquit him of the greater.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Homicide,
Manslaughter & Murder > Murder > Second-Degree
Murder

HN1 Z].‘..L] Murder, Second-Degree Murder

Murder in the second degree occurs when perpetrated
by an act imminently dangerous to another person and
evincing a depraved mind, regardless of human life,
although without any premeditated design to effect the
death of any particular individual. The elements of
second degree depraved mind murder are: First, the
death of a human, Second, caused by conduct which
was imminently dangerous to another person, Third, the
conduct was that of the defendant's, Fourth, the conduct

evinced a depraved mind in extreme disregard of
human life, Fifth, the conduct is not done with the
intention of taking the life of any particular individual. A
person evinces a depraved mind when he engages in
imminently dangerous conduct with contemptuous and
reckless disregard of, and in total indifference to, the life
and safety of another.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of
Review > Plain Error > Burdens of Proof

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Reviewability > Preservation for
Review > Failure to Object

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of
Review > Plain Error > Evidence

HN18|$.] Plain Error, Burdens of Proof

A defendant waives appeliate review of an expert
testimony issue when he fails to object to the testimony
at the time of trial. Therefore, the court reviews
defendant's claim pursuant to the test set forth in
Simpson v. State, and determines whether the
defendant has shown an actual error, which is plain or
obvious, and which affects his substantial rights. The
court will only correct plain error if the error seriously
affects the fairess, integrity or public reputation of the
judicial proceedings or otherwise represents a
miscarriage of justice,

Evidence > ... > Testimony > Expert
Witnesses > Criminal Proceedings

Evidence > Admissibility > Expert Witnesses
HN191.‘.'.] Expert Witnesses, Criminal Proceedings

The Oklahoma Evidence Code places few restrictions
on the information an expert may rely upon to form her
opinions. The facls or data need only be of a type
reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field
in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject, Okla.
Stat. art. 12, § 2703 (Supp. 2013). Pursuant to Okla.
Stat. art. 12, § 2705, an expert may testify in terms of
opinion or inference and give her reasons therefor with
or without prior disclosure of the underlying facts or
data. However, an expert witness cannot vouch for the
truthfulness or credibility of a witness. "Vouching” occurs
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when an attorney or witness indicates a personal belief
in a witness's credibility, either through explicit personal
assurances of the witness's veracity or by implicitly
indicating that information not presented to the jury
supports the witness's testimony. Thus, an expert is not
permitted to testify as to whether a witness was either
lying or telling the truth.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment > Aggravating Circumstances

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Sentencing > Appeals > Capital
Punishment

HNZO[.‘J.] Capital  Punishment,

Circumstances

Aggravating

When the sufficiency of the evidence of an aggravating
circumstance is challenged on appeal, the court reviews
the evidence in the light most favorable to the State to
determine if any rational trier of fact could have found
the aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable
doubt.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment > Aggravating Circumstances

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of
Proof > Prosecution

HNZ21 |$] Capital Punishment, Aggravating
Circumstances

To prove the continuing threat aggravator, the State
must present evidence showing the defendant's
behavior has demonstrated a threat to society and a
probability that this threat would continue to exist in the
future. Evidence evincing that the murder was callous
can be considered as supporiing the existence of a
continuing threat. Attempts {o escape are among the
other factors that, coupled with the calloused nature of
the crime, may also support a finding that the defendant
would commit criminal acts of violence that would
constitute a continuing threat to society. A criminal
history exhibiting a pattern of escalating violence is also
viewed as supporting a determination that a defendant
would constitute a continuing threat.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment > Aggravating Circumstances

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of
Proof > Prosecution

HN22[.‘!’.] Capital Punishment, Aggravating
Circumstances

To prove the continuing threat aggravator, the State
need not identify any particular violent act that the
defendant committed prior to the crime. To prove this
aggravating circumstance, the State may present any
relevant evidence, in conformance with the rules of
evidence, including evidence from the crime itself,
evidence of other crimes, admissions by the defendant
of unadjudicated offenses or any other relevant
evidence. Evidence that the defendant has committed
other crimes which were non-violent may satisfy the
State’s burden of proof if, coupled with the other
evidence at trial, the prior offenses indicate a likelihood
of future violence. A prior criminal history of non-violent
offenses may support the existence of a continuing
threat where the evidence shows that the slaying was
callous and pitiless.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment > Aggravating Circumstances

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Jury
Instructions > Particular Instructions

HN23|;".] Capital Punishment, Aggravating
Circumstances
The current uniform instructions defining the

aggravating circumstance that a crime was especially
heinous, atrocious, or cruel sufficiently narrow its
application to pass constitutional muster.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment > Aggravating Circumstances

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of
Proof > Prosecution

HN24|.‘L] Capital
Circumstances

Punishment, Aggravating

To prove that a murder is especially heinous, atrocious
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or cruel, the State must show: (1) the victim's death was
preceded by torture or serious physical abuse; and (2)
that the facts and circumstances of the case establish
that the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Torture
in the context of this aggravating circumstance may take
any of several forms including the infliction of either
great physical anguish or extreme mental cruelly. As to
the circumstance of extreme mental cruelty, the torture
must produce mental anguish in addition to that which of
necessity accompanies the underlying killing.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment > Aggravating Circumstances

HN2§].“'.] Capital Punishment, Aggravating
Circumstances

Anticipation of death is sufficient to support the mental
anguish requirement of the heinous, atrocious or cruel
aggravator. The length of time which the victim suffers
mental anguish is irrelevant. Instead, the analysis
focuses on the acts of the petitioner and the level of
tension created. Serious physical abuse is proved by
showing that the victim endured conscious physical
suffering before dying. There is sufficient evidence of
serious physical abuse where the victim suffered
numerous defensive wounds indicating that the victim
was conscious and atiempted to fight off her attacker.
So long as the evidence supports a finding that death
was preceded by torture or serious physical abuse, the
jury is permitted to consider all the circumstances of the
case, including the attitude of the killer and the pitiless
nature of the crime.

Criminal Law &

Procedure > Appeals > Prosecutorial
Misconduct > Prohibition Against Improper
Statements

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Appeals > Prosecutorial
Misconduct > Tests for Prosecutorial Misconduct

HNZBl.‘.'] Prosecutorial Misconduct,
Against Improper Statements

Prohibition

In the context of a claim of prosecutorial misconduct,
relief will only be granted where the prosecutor
committed misconduct that so infected the defendant's
trial that it was rendered fundamentally unfair, such that

the jury's verdicts should not be relied upon. The Court
of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma evaluates alleged
prosecutorial misconduct within the context of the entire
trial, considering not only the propriety of the
prosecutor's actions, but also the strength of the
evidence against the defendant and the corresponding
arguments of defense counsel. The court has long
allowed counsel a wide range of discussion and
illustration in closing argument. Counsel are permitted to
fully discuss from their standpoint the evidence, the
inferences and deductions arising from it.

Constitutional Law > Substantive Due
Process > Scope

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Appeals > Proseculorial
Misconduct > Use of False Testimony

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Allocation

Constitutional Substantive Due

HN27]%)

Process

Law,

The knowing use of false or misleading evidence
important to the prosecution's case in chief violates the
Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. To
prove such a claim on appeal the appellant bears the
burden to establish (1) certain testimony was
misleading, (2) the prosecution knowingly used the
testimony and (3) the testimony was material to guilt or
innocence.

Criminal Law &

Procedure > Appeals > Reviewability > Preservation
for Review

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Reviewability > Preservation for
Review > Records

HN28|.'!'.] Reviewability, Preservation for Review

The Court of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma will not
review allegations of error that are neither supported in
the record or by legal authority.

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Defenses > Insanity > Burdens of
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Proof

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Proof Beyond
Reasonable Doubt

Evidence > ... > Presumptions > Particular
Presumptions > Sanity

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of
Proof > Defense

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of
Proof > Prosecution

HN29i%) Insanity, Burdens of Proof

There exists a presumption of sanity under Oklahoma
law that confinues until a criminal defendant presents
sufficient evidence to raise a reasonable doubt as to his
sanity at the time of the offense. Only if a criminal
defendant presents sufficient evidence to raise
reasonable doubt as to his sanity, does the State bear
the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that
the defendant was sane at the time of the commission
of the offense.

Criminal Law &

Procedure > Appeals > Prosecutorial
Misconduct > Prohibition Against Improper
Statements

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals > Reversible
Error > Prosecutorial Misconduct

HN30|.."L] Prosecutorial Misconduct, Prohibition

Against Improper Statements

The law is clear that prosecutors may not misstate the
evidence. However, they are permitted to comment
upon the evidence and draw logical inferences
therefrom. A minor misstatement of fact will not warrant
a reversal unless, after a review of the totality of the
evidence, it appears the same could have affected the
outcome of the trial.

Criminal Law &

Procedure > Appeals > Prosecutorial
Misconduct > Prohibition Against Improper
Statements

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Appeals > Prosecutorial
Misconduct > Tests for Prosecutorial Misconduct

HN31|$.] Prosecutorial Misconduct,
Against Improper Statements

Prohibition

It is improper for the prosecution to attempt to elicit
sympathy for victims. However, the Court of Criminal
Appeals of Oldahoma has distinguished between the
instance where a prosecutor overily sought sympathy
for the victims and the instance where the prosecutor's
comments likely evoked an emotional reaction but were
reasonable inferences based upon the evidence at trial.
Comments which are not a deliberate attempt to elicit
sympathy but are reasonable inferences based upon the
evidence generally fall within the wide range of
permissible argument.

Evidence > Relevance > Exclusion of Relevant
Evidence > Confusion, Prejudice & Waste of Time

HN3g|.".'] Exclusion of Relevant
Confusion, Prejudice & Waste of Time

Evidence,

Okla. Stat. tit. 12, § 2403 (Supp. 2003) is constitutional.

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental
Rights > Criminal Process > Assistance of Counsel

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Allocation

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Effective
Assistance of Counsel > Sentencing

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Effective
Assistance of Counsel > Tests for Ineffective
Assistance of Counsel

Evidence > Inferences &
Presumptions > Presumptions > Particular
Presumptions

HN33|.".] Criminal Process, Assistance of Counse!

The Court of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma reviews
ineffective assistance of counsel claims under the two-
part test mandated by the United States Supreme Court
in Strickland v. Washington. The Strickland test requires
an appellant to show: (1) that counsel's performance
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was constitutionally deficient; and (2) that counsel's
deficient performance prejudiced the defense. The court
begins its analysis with the strong presumption that
counsel's conduct fell within the wide range of
reasonable professional assistance. An appellant must
overcome this presumption and demonsirate that
counsel's representation was unreasonable under
prevailing professional norms and that the challenged
action could not be considered sound trial strategy.
When a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel can be
disposed of on the ground of lack of prejudice, that
course should be followed. To demonstrate prejudice an
appellant must show that there is a reascnable
probability that the outcome of the trial would have been
different but for counsel's unprofessional errors. The
likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not
just conceivable. When a defendant challenges a death
sentence, the question is whether there is a reasonable
probability that, absent counsel's errors, the sentencer
would have concluded that the balance of aggravating
and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death.

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental
Rights > Criminal Process > Assistance of Counsel

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Sentencing > Appeals > Capital
Punishrment

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Effective
Assistance of Counsel > Tests for Ineffective
Assistance of Counsel

HN34|$] Criminal Process, Assistance of Counsel

When a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel can be
disposed of on the ground of lack of prejudice, that
course should be followed. To demonstrate prejudice an
appellant must show that there is a reasonable
probability that the outcome of the trial would have been
different but for counsel's unprofessional errors. The
likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not
just conceivable. When a defendant challenges a death
sentence, the question is whether there is a reasonable
probability that, absent counsel's errors, the sentencer
would have concluded that the balance of aggravating
and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death.

Constitulional Law > ... > Fundamental
Rights > Criminal Process > Assistance of Counsel

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Effective
Assistance of Counsel

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals > Procedural
Matters > Records on Appeal

HN3§|."L] Criminal Process, Assistance of Counsel

The Court of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma analyzes
requests to supplement the record which are based
upon ineffective assistance of counsel claims pursuant
to Okla. R. Ct. Crim. App. 3.11(B); Okia. Stat. tit. 22, ch.
18, app. (2017). Rule 3.11{A) solely allows the court to
supplement the record on appeal with items admitted
during proceedings in the trial court but which were not
designated or actually included in the record on appeal.
McElmurry v. State strictly limits supplementation under
Rule 3.11(A) to matiers which were presented to the
trial court). Rule 3.11(A) is not intended to allow parties
to bolster a trial record with extra-record documents or
evidence. In contrast, Rule 3.11(B)(3)(b) enables an
appellant to qualify for an evidentiary hearing to support
his or her claim of ineffective assistance of counsel by
submitting affidavits and extra-record documents
attached to his application for evidentiary hearing.

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental
Rights > Criminal Process > Assistance of Counsel

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals > Procedural
Matters > Records on Appeal

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Clear & Convincing
Proof

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Effective
Assistance of Counsel > Tests for Ineffective
Assistance of Counsel

HN36|.'.".] Criminal Process, Assistance of Counsel

The Court of Criminal Appeals of Oklahoma reviews an
application under Okla. R. Ct. Crim. App. 3.11(B)(3)(b),
Okla. Stat. tit. 22, ch. 18, app., pursuant to the analysis
set forth in Simpson v. State. The court reviews and
consider an appellant's application and affidavits along
with other attached non-record evidence to determine
whether the appellant has provided sufficient
information to show the court by clear and convincing
evidence that there is a strong possibility trial counsel
was ineffective for failing to utilize or identify the
evidence at issue. This standard is less demanding than



Page 10 of 47

2018 OK CR 31, *31; 2018 Okla. Crim. App. LEXIS 33, **1

the test imposed by Strickland.

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental
Rights > Criminal Process > Assistance of Counsel

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Sentencing > Appeals > Capital
Punishment

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Effective
Assistance of Counsel > Tests for Ineffective
Assistance of Counsel

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Effective
Assistance of Counsel > Trials

HN3z].“.] Criminal Process, Assistance of Counsel

Defense counsel's decision not to present particular
evidence in mitigation may be sound trial strategy.
Similarly, the question of which witnesses to call on a
criminal defendant's behalf is a matter of trial strategy.
An appellant must show that capital defense counsel's
strategic decision to not call a witness was objectively
unreasonable.

Counsel: FOR DEFENDANT: MITCHELL SOLOMON,
SHEA SMITH, CAPITAL TRIAL DIVISION, OKLA
INDIGENT DEFENSE, NORMAN, OK.

FOR APPELLANT: TRACI J. QUICK, KATRINA
CONRAD-LEGLER, HOMICIDE-DIRECT APPEALS,
OKLA INDIGENT DEFENSE, NORMAN, OK.

FOR THE STATE: JASON HICKS, DISTRICT
ATTORNEY, LEAH EDWARDS, ASST DISTRICT
ATTORNEY, DUNCAN, OK,

FOR THE STATE: MIKE HUNTER, ATTY GENERAL
OF OKLAHOMA, CAROLINE E.J. HUNT, ASST
ATTORNEY GENERAL, OKLAHOMA CITY, OK.

Judges: LUMPKIN, PRESIDING JUDGE. LEWIS,
V.P.J.: Concur, HUDSON, J.: Concurring in Results,
KUEHN, J.: Specially Concurring, ROWLAND, J.:
Concur.

Opinion by: LUMPKIN

Opinion

LUMPKIN, PRESIDING JUDGE:

[*P1] Appellant, Miles Sterling Bench, was tried by jury
and convicted of First Degree Murder (271 0.5.2071. §
701.7({A}) in the District Court of Stephens County, Case
Number CF-2012-172. The jury found the presence of
two aggravating circumstances: 1) the murder was
especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and 2) the
defendant posed a continuing threat to society, and set
punishment as death. The trial court formally sentenced
Appellant in accordance with the jury's verdict. Appellant
now appeals his conviction and sentence. [**2] '

FACTS

[*P2] Appellant began working at the Teepee Totem
convenience store in the town of Velma, Stephens
County in May of 2012. He was twenty-one years old.
Appellant lived outside of town with his grandparents.
His cousin, Clayton Jenson, regularly drove him to work.

[*P3] After three weeks of training, Appellant began to
close the store by himself. On June 6th, Jenson drove
Appellant to work. They visited for 2 hours beforehand
and discussed Appellant's plan to go to California so
Appellant could be a mixed martial arts ("MMA") fighter.
Jenson dropped Appellant off shortly before 2:00 p.m.
Other than a sore throat, Appellant seemed absolutely
normal to Jenson that day.

[*P4] Sixteen-year-old Braylee Henry drove into Velma
around 7:30 p.m. to get an item from the grocery store.
After completing this task, Henry went into the Teepee
Totem to get some candy and a soda fountain drink.
Through Appellant's admissions to his psychological
expert, we know that Appellant attacked Henry while
she was filing a cup at the fountain. He struck Henry
and took her to the ground. He strangled Henry with a
choke hold and dragged her Into the store's stockroom.

[*P5] Henry played basketball for her school and was
in good shape. [**3] Once inside the storeroom, she
fought back. Appellant attacked Henry a second time.
He repeatedly hit her. Appellant brutally beat Henry's
head, face, neck, and chest. Appellant dragged Henry
across the room causing her head to strike the floor. He
stomped on her head, neck, arm, and upper back with
his shoe. Appellant's prolonged savagery resulted in
Henry's death. She asphyxiated on the blood in her

' Appellant filed his Petition in Error on October 22, 2015. He
filed his Brief on February 28, 2017. The State filed its Brief on
June 28, 2017. The case was submitied to the Court on July
18, 2017. Oral argument was held on March 7, 2018.
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lungs and died from the blunt force trauma to her head
and neck.

[*P6] Appellant then took steps to conceal what he had
done and fiee to Califomia. He put a sack around
Henry's head and placed her body inside a shopping
cart. Appellant covered Henry's body with boxes,
pushed the cart out to Henry's car, and placed her body
inside the back seat. Appellant gathered up peanut
butter, sunflower seeds, a toothbrush, rubbing alcohol,
and razors from the store's shelves and placed them in
the car. He drove Henry's car to a semi-secluded area
on his grandparent's land and removed her body from
the car. Appellant completely undressed Henry from the
waist down and pulled her jacket, tank-top, and sports
bra up until they fully exposed her breasts. He dragged
Henry's body to a muddy spot in the field [**4] and
partially covered it with dirt and vegetation.

[*P7] Appellant went inside his grandparent's home,
put a clean shirt over the top of the shirt he was
wearing, and collected additional items for his trip,
including boots, clothing, hydrogen peroxide, and his
wallet, Recognizing that it was too early for Appellant to
be home from work, his grandfather, Stanley Bench,
asked Appellant if he had quit or been fired. Appellant
simply responded, "Yes."” Appellant informed Mr. Bench
that he was leaving. He went outside and washed
himself in the water spigot. When he was done, he stuck
his head back inside the door and declared; "Pa, | love
you." Mr. Bench responded; "l do you too. Be careful out
there and don't get hurt." Appellant stated, "Okay," and
left.

[‘P8) Tammy Wilkerson ventured into the Teepee
Totem around 8:15 that evening. She was alarmed to
discover that the clerk was missing from the store.
When she looked into the storeroom she discovered a
poal of blood. Wilkerson called the Velma Paolice
Department and contacted, Melissa Lynn, one of the
other store clerks who lived nearby.

[*P9] When Henry failed to return on time, her mother
went looking for her. She contacted law enforcement
when she was [**5] unable to find Henry.

['"P10] The Stephen's County Sheriffs Department
investigated Appellant’'s absence from the store. Deputy
Michael Moore documented the interior of the
conveénience store and obtained a DNA sample from the
pool of blood in the storeroom. Deputy David Martin
went to the home of Appellant's grandparents to check
on Appellant’s welfare. Using canine officers, Lieutenant
Chad Powell discovered Henry's nude body in the

nearby field. The officers put out a "BOLO" alert for
Henry's car.

[*P11] Deputy Quinton Short of the Custer County
Sheriff's Department received the alert and observed
Henry's vehicle headed west on Interstate 40. He
stopped the car and approached it on foot. Short
observed in plain sight a Jarge amount of blood in the
backseat. He discovered Appellant seated in the driver's
seat and ordered him to exit the car. Once outside the
sedan, Appellant spontaneously declared that he was
not driving the wvehicle. Slightly confounded by
Appellant's assertion, Short responded; "Then whose
vehicle is it?" Appellant then stated; "I think | f****d up, |
may have killed somebody." Deputy Short observed that
Appellant had blood on his clothing. He took Appellant
into custody and transported [**6] him to the Custer
County Jail.

[*P12] Chief Investigator Robert Short of the Custer
County Sheriffs Department observed that Appellant
had dirt on his face as well as on the shoulder of his
shirt. He further noticed that Appellant had blood on his
shirt, shoes, and socks. There was a mixture of blood
and dirt on the bottom of Appellant's shoes. Short
further observed that Appellant's hands were red and
swollen.

{*P13] Detention Officer, Kendall Brown, booked
Appellant into the Custer County Jail. While Brown was
gathering Appellant's information, Appellant interjected
several admissions. Appellant informed Brown; *I think |
might have messed up. | think | may have killed
somebody." Later, Appellant mentioned; "I might have
blacked out." Appellant asked Brown if he would be able
to make bond. After Brown advised Appellant that he did
not know, Appellant spontaneously stated; "l think |
murdered someone, The officer in the car mentioned
manslaughter *** isn't manslaughter murder?" Still later,
Appellant volunteered; "l think Stephens County is
gonna come get me."

[*P14] Appellant repeatedly engaged Brown in small
talk. Some of his statements evinced prior knowledge
concerning the mental health system. Appellant [**7]
volunteered that he had undergone "psych evaluations"
while in the military and added that the "dude in the
straight-jacket” is usually the one screaming that he is
"not crazy."

[*P15] Appellant attempted to develop grounds for an
insanity plea from his conversation with Brown;
Appellant asked where he was at? After Brown
indicated that he was in Arapaho in Custer County,
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Appellant stated; "If they believe that | don't know where
[ am at they might believe that | was crazy.” Thereafter,
Appellant queried: "Since | blacked out do you think that
| should go for an insanity plea or what?" Brown
informed Appellant that he could not give him any legal
advice whatsoever.

[*P16] Investigator Justin Scott of the Stephens
County District Attarney's Office executed a search
warrant on Appellant's person. Agppellant also
spontaneously volunteered a statement to Scott.
Appellant asked if Oklahoma had the death penalty.
When Scott answered that under certain circumstances
they do, Appellant declared that he needed death or
needed to be locked away in the big house. Scott
noticed that Appellant had a bite mark on his elbow.

{“P17] Forensic testing revealed that Henry's DNA
profile matched the DNA profile of the blood [**8]
discovered in the storeroom. Similarly, Henry's profile
matched the DNA profile of the blood found on
Appellant's shoes.

ISSUES RELATING TO JURY SELECTION AND
COMPOSITION

[*P18] In Proposition | Appellant contends that the trial
court erred when it denied his pretrial request for a
change of venue. He argues that this action denied him
his right to an impartial jury and a fundamentally fair
trial.

[*P19] HN1[T) The Sixth Amendment right to a jury
trial “guarantees to the criminally accused a fair trial by
a panel of impartial, ‘indifferent jurors™ and it is a basic
requirement of due process that an accused receive a
fair trial in a fair tribunal. DeRgsa v_State, 2004 QK CR
19, .17 89 P.3d 1124 1133 {quoting Irvin v. Dowd
366 U.S, 717, 722, 81 8.Ct. 1639, 1642, 6 { . Ed.2d 751
(1961)). Likewise, Article Il Section 20 of the Qkiahoma
Constitution and 22 _0.5.2011, § 561 guarantee a
criminal defendant a fair trial by an impartial jury.

[*P20] We note that Henry's murder occurred in the
small, rural farming community known as Velma. The
town is approximately 18 miles southeast of Duncan,
the county seat of Stephens County and where the trial
took place.

[*P21] Appellant timely filed an application for change
of venue prior to trial. He cited to the titles of
approximately 125 news articles appearing in either
print, television or online. However, he did not include

the content of the actual articles. It appears that not all
of [**9] the cited articles actually referenced the instant
case.2 We also note that many of the cited news
sources were not from the local community in which the
crime occurred but were from sources throughout the
state and across the globe as a whole.? Several of the
cited titles appear to be from news aggregator
websites.* Other articles belonged to online groups
requiring admission to the group prior to accessing the
cited blog.5 Thus, many of the cited articles would not
necessarily have been readily available in the local
community. After the trial court denied his application,
Appellant filed a motion to reconsider and attached the
contents of 9 of the cited articles. The district court
denied Appellant's renewed request,

[*P22]) The trial court conducted individual voir dire of
the wvenire concerning the death penalty, prior
knowledge conceming the offense and pretrial publicity.
HNZ[#] Appellant did not renew his pretrial request for
a change of venue at any point during voir dire. As such,
we find that he has waived appellate review of this issue
for all but plain error. See Hain v. State, 1996 OK CR
26, 11 6-7. 919 P.2d 1130, 1136, We review Appellant's
claim pursuant to the test for plain error set forth in
Simpson v. State, 1994 OK CR 40, 876 F.2d 690.
Stewart v. State, 2016 OK CR 9, 112, 372 P.3d 508,
511. Under this test, an appellant must show an [**10]
actual error, which is plain or ohvious, and which affects
his substantial rights. Id. This Court will only correct
plain error if the error seriously affects the fairness,
integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceedings
or otherwise represents a miscarriage of justice. /d.

[*P23] Reviewing Appellant's claim in the present case

2Two articles appear to reference Appellant's graduation from
high school. In addition, two of the arlicles are simply
publications of Henry's obituary.

JAppellant's list of aricle titles includes articles from
news9.com, koco.com, kforcom and Newsok.com in
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma; tulsaworld.com and ktul.com in
Tulsa, Oklahoma; The Shawnee News-Star in Shawnee,
Oklahoma; The Durant Democrat in Durant, Oklahoma; The
Republic in Columbus, Indiana; the SFGATE in San
Francisco, California; the Newstimes in Danbury, Connecticut;
The Chron in Houston, Texas; Mail Online from the United
Kingdom; and a non-english cinema  website
("onlinetamilcinema.com™) in South India.

4 See Wn.com,; freenewspapers.com; and Examiner.com.

5See Cafemom.com; websleuths.com; cncpunishment.com;
wittyprofiles.com.
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for plain error, we find that he is not entitled to relief.
HN3(¥] "Our analysis begins with the rebuttable
presumption that the accused can receive a fair trial in
the county in which the offense occurred...” Hain. 1996
OK CR 26, _1 7 919 P.2d at 1135. It is Appellant's
burden to show he has been "so prejudiced by pretrial
publicity that he did not receive a fair trial." Chifdress v.
State, 2000 OK CR 10, 1134, 1 P.3d 1006. 1014.

[*P24] This Court has adopted the two-part test which
the United States Supreme Court set forth in Murphy v.
Florida,_ 421 {J.S. 794, 95 S.Ct 2031, 44 L.£d.2d 589
{1975). DeRosa, 2004 OK CR 19, § 20. 89 P.3d at
1135; Braun v. State, 1995 OK CR 42, .30, 909 P.2d
783, 792. First, there are rare instances in which
prejudice is presumed. if the fact pattern reveals “"the
influence of the news media, either in the community at
large or in the courtroom itself, pervaded the
proceedings” prejudice is presumed regardless of the
assurances of individual jurors that they can be fair and
impartial. Murphy, 421 U.S. at 799, 95 S5.Ct._at 2035,
The Supreme Court in Murphy identified four cases as
exemplifying the circumstances where prejudice is
presumed.

In [**11] Irvin v. Dowd the rural community in which
the trial was held had been subjected to a barrage
of inflammatory publicity immediately prior to trial,
including information on the defendant's prior
convictions, his confession to 24 burglaries and six
murders including the one for which he was tried,
and his unaccepted offer to plead guilty in order to
avoid the death sentence. As a result, eight of the
12 jurors had farmed an opinion that the defendant
was guilty before the trial began; some went 'so far
as to say that it would take evidence to overcome
their belief in his guilt.

Murphy, 421 U.S. at 798, 95 S.Ct._at 2035, (citing Irvin
v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 728, 81 S.Ct. 1639, 1645_6

L.Ed.2d 751 {1961)). In Rideau v. Louisiana, 373 _U.8S.
723, 83 S.Ct 1417, 10 L .Ed.2d 663 {1863), a television
station, in the community where the crime occurred and
the trial took place, broadcast on three occasions a 20
minute film of the defendant's confession. Murphy, 421
U.S. at 799 95 S.Ct at 2035-36. The trial in Estes v.
Texas, 381 U.S. 532 85 S.Ct. 1628, 14 | .Ed.2d 543
(1265), was conducted in a circus atmosphere which
included the press sitting within the bar of the court and
overrunning the proceedings with television equipment.
Murphy, 421 U.S. at 799, 85 S.Ct. at 2036. Similarly, the
conviction in Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 86
S.Ct. 1507, 16 L.Ed.2d 600 (1966}, "arase from a trial

infected not only by a background of extremely
inflammatory publicity but aiso by a courthouse given
over to accommodate the public appetite for carnival.”
Murphy, 421 (LS. at 799, 95 S.Ct. at 2036. Prejudice
was presumed in each of these cases because [**12]
the proceedings "were entirely tacking in the solemnity
and sobriety to which a defendant is entitled in a system
that subscribes to any notion of fairness and rejects the
verdict of a mob." /d.

[*P25] However, juror exposure to information about a
defendant's prior convictions or news accounts of the
crime with which the defendant is charged, standing
alone, does not create a presumption of prejudice. /d.
“"Media coverage extends to most homicides, particularly
capital cases.” Braun, 1995 OK CR 42, 1132 909 P.2d
at 793 (quotations and citation omitted). The mere fact
that pretrial publicity is adverse to a criminal defendant
is not enough to presume prejudice. Id. Thus, this Court
only presumes prejudice where a conviction has been
obtained "in a trial atmosphere that has been utterly
corrupted by press coverage” or entirely lacking in "the
solemnity and sobriety to which a defendant is entitled
in a systern that subscribes to any notion of fairness and
rejects the verdict of a mob."™ /d., 1995 OK CR 42, 1131,
909 P.2d at 792 (quoting Murphy, 421 U.S. at 799. 95

S.Cl._at 2036); DeRosa, 2004 OK CR 19, 1.19. 89 P.3d
at 1135,

[*P26] HN4[*] The second part of the Murphy test
focuses on the situation where the facts are not
sufficiently egregious to give rise to the presumption of
prejudice. DeRosa, 2004 OK CR 19, .20, 89 P.3d at
1135. This is the much more common circumstance. /d.
In this situation, a reviewing [**13] court must evaluate
the "totality of the circumstances” in order to determine
whether the defendant received a trial which was
“fundamentally fair." /d., citing Murphy, 421 1.5 at 799,
95 S.Ct. at 2035-36.

[*P27] Tuming to the present case, we find that the
cited news coverage neither pervaded the ftrial court
proceedings nor utterly corrupted the trial atmosphere.
There was not a barrage of inflammatory publicity
immediately before Appellant's trial as outlined in frwin,
Rideau or Sheppard. Although there was considerable
media coverage of the case, the cited articles appeared
over the course of the thirty-two months that passed
between the date of the offense and Appellant's trial.
See Braun. 1995 OK CR 42, Y 32, 909 P.2d at 793
(finding fact that publicity occurred over four-year period
somewhat dispositive). The substance of the articles
which Appellant actually included within his motion to
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reconsider was neither invidious nor inflammatory in
nature. See Beck v. Washington, 369 U.S. 541, 556, 82
S.Ct. 955, 963. 8 L.Ed.2d 98 (1962). Appellant's
characterization of the articles is not supported by the
record. The articles did not demonize Appellant,
demand swift justice, or stoke the emotional climate.5
Similarly, the articles did not opine or assert that certain
testimony or evidence suggested Appellant's guili or
support for impositon of death [**14] sentence.
Instead, the articles simply recited only basic facts about
the case and its progression through the court system.”
Nothing in the record suggests that the individuals
summoned to serve as jurors were predisposed to
convict. Accordingly, we refuse to presume prejudice in
the present case.

['P28] Instead, we review the totality of the
circumstances of the present case in order to determine
whether Appellant received a frial which was
fundamentally fair. This includes review of the voir dire
statements of individual jurors, voir dire statistics, and
the atmosphere within the community, as reflected in
the news media. Braun, 1995 OK CR 42, 131, 809 P.2d
al 793, citing Murphy, 421 U.S. at 800-08, 95 S.Cl._al
2036-40. "[T]his Court focuses not on the jurors who
might have been impaneled, but on the jurors who
actually were impaneled." DeRosa, 2004 OK CR 19, 7
21, 89 P.3d at 1135.

[*P29] Reviewing the totality of the circumstances in
the present case we find that Appellant was not denied
a fundamentally fair trial. The voir dire record reflects a
fair and impartial jury venire which was not predisposed
to convict Appellant. The trial court ultimately called 101
individuals to fill the venire. The transcript of the
proceedings reveals that 53 of the venire members, a
little over 50%, had received information about the
case [**15] through the media, co-workers, friends or

8The article "How we got the bum's rush,” did not demonize
Appellant, instead, it alleged that the District Court had
violaled the constitution when the article's author attempted to
enter a closed pretrial hearing and was escorted from the
courtroom,

7 One of the attached articles was a piece by a national author
recounting how things had changed in Duncan, the county
seat of Stephen's county and location of Appellant’s trial. The
article cited to the murder of a foreign college athlete, the
shooting of a local donkey, and the downturn in the stores on
Main street. Two of the attached articles were from local
individuals contesting the national author's portrayal of
Duncan. We see little, if any, relevance between these arlicles
and the subject at issua.

family. Many of them had received limited information
about the case. Some had only heard about the offense
when it had first happened. Others had only caught the
passing words of an acquaintance. The trial court
excused 9 individuals for cause because they were
unable to set aside what they knew about the offense
and decide the case based upon the evidence
presented in court.® Therefore, less than 10% of the
venire members possessed a partiality which could not
be laid aside.

[*P30] Although the trial court took note that the case
carried emaotion in the close-knit town of Velma, where
the offense occurred, this sentiment did not appear to
carry over into the remainder of Stephens County. Many
of the venire members who were ultimately excused due
to partiality, lived, worked or had a similar connection to
the town of Velma. However, the trial court was not
required to go to great lengths to select jurors who
appeared impartial from the other parts of Stephens
County. See Murphy, 421 (LS. at 802--03, 95 S.Ct_at
2037 (finding length which trial court must go in order to
select jurors who appear impartial is another factor
relevant in evaluating atmosphere of community). The
predominant reason [**16] that the trial court excused
an individual from other parts of the county was due to
their inability to consider all three punishment options.
As discussed above, the news articles about the case
were largely factual in pature. After individual
questioning, defense counsel was not compelled to
challenge the partiality of the venire. For these reasons,
we conclude that the atmosphere within the cormmunity
was not so inflammatory as to suggest that Appellant
could not receive a fair trial,

[*P31] Similarly, the voir dire statements of the
individual jurors do not suggest a general partiality or an
inflammatory atmosphere. Although they were
individually questioned, none of the venire members
excused for partiality either glorified Henry or expressed
a strong sentiment against Appellant. Instead, the
individuals simply expressed their inability to be
impartial by stating or confirming that they could not set
aside what they knew about the offense and decide the
case based on the evidence presented at trial.

[*P32] Focusing on the jurors who were actually
impaneled, we find that Appellant received a fair trial by
a panel of impartial, indifferent jurors. We note thatHN5]

*The District Court also excused 4 individuals who were either
friends with Henry's family or had a family member who was a
friend of Henry or her family.
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7l“] “[qlualified jurors need not ...[**17] be totally
ignorant of the facts and issues involved." Murphy, 421
U.S at 799-800, 95 S.Ct. at 2036. "It is sufficient if the
juror can Jay aside his impression or opinion and render
a verdict based on the evidence presented in court.”
Irvin, 366 LS. at 723, 81 S.Ct. at 1643.

[*P33] The record establishes that 4 of the impaneled

jurors (A.R., C.C., M.H., and R.R.) had not received any
information about the case. Although 8 of the impaneled
jurors had received some information about the cases
prior to being summoned, this exposure was minimal.
Jurors D.B., R.G., and L.W. had not seen any media
reports about the case but had heard about it from
someone else. Jurors M.R. and S.G. had seen media
reports about the case but were too preoccupied with
other parts of their lives to pay much attention to it.
Jurors G.W., R.M., and L.R. had simply heard about the
offense when it first happened but did not know the
details of the case.

[*P34] Regardless of the level of pretrial exposure to
the facts of the case, the record establishes that all of
the impaneled jurors were both indifferent and impartial.
The trial court asked and each and every member of the
panel, including the three alternates, expressly affirmed
that they could set aside any prior knowledge or
opinions regarding the case [**18] and decide the case
based upon the evidence presented at trial. All of the
impaneled jurors indicated, in one form or another, that
they could be impartial as to both guilt and punishment.

[*P35] Appellant has not shown that any of the jurors

who were actually impaneled were challengeable for
cause. As no individual sat on the jury that could not set
aside his or her impression or opinion and render a
verdict based on the evidence presented in court, we
find that Appellant was not denied a fundamentally fair
trial. Proposition | is denied.

FIRST STAGE ISSUES

[(*P36] In Proposition Il Appellant chalienges the trial
court's refusal to suppress his inculpatory statements to
Custer County Detention Officer, Kendall Brown. He
argues that the admission of the statements at trial
violated his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth
Amendmenis to the United States Constitution as well
as corresponding provisions of the Oklahoma
Constitution.

[*P37] The record shows that Appellant made several
inculpatory statements to Brown as he was being

booked into the Custer County Jail. Appellant filed a
prefrial motion seeking to suppress these statements.
The trial court held a hearing pursuant to Jackson v.
Denno. 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774, 12 | .Ed.2d 908
(1964). Appellant argued that his statements were
involuntary because Brown had failed to [**19] advise
him of his rights under Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S.
436, 86 S.C!l. 1602, 16 L.Ed. 2d 694 (1966). Finding that
Appellant voluntarily made the statements without any
interrogation, the trial court denied Appellant's motion.
At ftrial, Brown testified to the admissions over
Appellant’s objection renewing his motion to suppress.

[*P38] M[?] We review the trial court's denial of a
motion to suppress for an abuse of discretion. Sanders
v. State, 2015 OK CR 11, 117, 358 P.3d 280, 285. This
is the same standard of review applied to the trial court's
admission of evidence. Davis v. State, 2011 OK CR 29
1156, 268 P.3d 86, 125. An abuse of discretion has
been defined as a clearly erroneous conclusion and
judgment, one that is clearly against the logic and effect
of the facts presented or, stated otherwise, any
unreasonable or arbitrary action taken without proper
consideration of the facts and law pertaining to the

matter at issue. Neloms v. State, 2012 OK CR 7, .35,
274 P 3d 161, 170.

[*P39] The United States Supreme Court has
recognized that H_A-'?[?] the Due Process Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment is the cornerstone of the
determination of the admissibility of an inculpatory
statement. Miller v. Fenton, 474 U.5. 104, 109--10, 106
S.Ct. 445, 449, 88 L.Ed.2d 405 {1985). In Culombe v.
Connecticut, 367 U.S. 568, 602 81 S.Ct 1860, 1879, 6
L.Ed.2d 1037 (1961), the Supreme Court set forth the
test for the admissibility of an inculpatory statement
under the Due Process Clause:

The ultimate test remains that which has been the
only clearly established test in Anglo—-American
courts for two hundred years: the test of
voluntariness. Is the confession the product of an
essentially [**20] free and unconstrained choice by
its maker? If it is, if he has willed to confess, it may
be used against him. If it is not, if his will has been
overborne and his capacity for self-determination
critically impaired, the use of his confession offends
due process.

The voluntariness of a confession is evaluated on the
basis of the totality of all the surrounding circumstances.
Schneckioth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226, 83 S.Ct,
2041, 2047, 36 1 .Ed.2d 854 (1973).
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[*P40] MQ{"“] This Court has generally refused to
interpret the provision against self-incrimination within
Aricle I, § 21 of the Oklahoma Constitution broader
than the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of
similar federal provisions. Dennis v. State, 1999 OK CR
23, .20, 990 P.2d 277, 286-86; Stale v. Thomason,
1975 OK CR 148 1 14, 538 P.2d 1080, 1086. Instead,
in addressing confessions or inculpatory statements,
this Court has interpreted both § 7 and § 271 of the

are not barred by the Fifth Amendment and their
admissibility is not affected by our holding [**22] today.”
Miranda, 384 U.S. at 478, 86 S.Ct._at 1630. In Romano
v. State. 1995 OK CR 74, 909 P.2d 92, this Court
recognized this circumstance stating that "[ijn post-
arrest situations where Miranda wamings have not yet
been given, a defendant's voluntary statements, not
made in response o questioning, are admissible.” /d.,
1995 OK CR 74, 1119, 909 P.2d at 109.

Oklahoma Constitution consistent with the Supreme
Court's overriding standard. Williams v_State, 1982 OK
CR 107, T 14-17, 648 P.2d 843. 845; Brown v. Siale,
1963 OK _CR 67, 11 14, 22-27 384 P.2d 54, 53-61;
Marks v. State, 1951 OK CR 145. 94 Okla. Crim. 425,
237 P.2d 459, 461. The ultimate test for the admission
of either an inculpatory statement or a confession is the
test of "voluntariness.” Johnson v, State, 2012 OK CR 5
174, 272 P.3d 720, 727; Williams, 1982 OK CR 107, 1]
17, 648 P.2d at 845; Brown, 1963 OK CR 67, TN 26-27.
384 P.2d at 61. A statement is voluntary, and thus
admissible in evidence, only when all the surrounding
circumstances indicate that the statement is the product
of an essentially free and unconstrained choice by its
maker. Id. (quotation and citation omitted).

[*P41] As he did below, Appellant argues that his
inculpatory statements were not voluntary because
they [*21] were given during custodial interrogation
and Brown did not advise him of his Miranda rights. In
Miranda, the United States Supreme Court held that the
prosecution could not use statements, whether
exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial
interrogation of a defendant unless the suspect
receives, prior to police questioning, certain warnings
including the right to remain silent, that any statement
he does make may be used as evidence against him,
and that he has the right to the presence of an attomey,
either retained or appointed. Miranda, 384 U.S._at 444,
86 S.Cf. at 1612, HNQI"F] "The term ‘interrogation’
under Miranda refers not only to express questioning,
but also to any words or actions on the part of the police
(other than those normally attendant to arrest and
custody) that the police should know are reasonably
likely to elicit an incriminating response from the
suspect." Rhode isfand v. Innis. 446 U.S. 291, 301, 100
S. Ct. 1682, 1689, 64 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1980). The special
procedural safeguards set forth in Miranda are not
required where a subject is simply taken into custody,
but rather where a suspect in custody is subjected to
either express questioning or its functional equivalent.
Id.. 446 U.S. at 300-01, 100 S.Ct. at 1689.

[*P42] HN10{%*] "Volunteered statements of any kind

[*P43] In Pennsylvania v. Muniz, 496 U.S. 582, 110

S.Ct. 2638, 110 L.Ed.2d 528 (1990), _a plurality of the
Supreme Court recognized HN711[®] the ‘“routine

booking question” exception which exempts from
Miranda's coverage, questions to secure the
biographical data necessary to complete booking or
pretrial services. /d. 496 U.S. at 601--02, 110 S.Ct. al
2650. (plurality of four justices) (quotations and citation
omitted). In Clavion v. State, 1992 OK CR 60, 1129, 840
P.2d 18, 27, this Court determined that the inquiries
necessary for proper booking procedures do not amount
to "interrogation” for the purposes of Miranda. See also
Gilbert v. State. 1997 OK CR 71, 11 46-47, 951 P.2d 98,
112 ("findling] no error in admitting Appellant's
responses to background information as no Miranda
warnings were required.”).

[*P44] "The underlying rationale for the exception is
that routine booking questions do not constitute
interrogation because they do not normally elicit
incriminating responses.” United States v. Parra, 2 F.3d
1058, 1068 (10th Cir. 1993). Therefore, the police may
nol ask questions during booking that are designed to
elicit incriminatory admissions, without first obtaining a
waiver of the suspect's Miranda rights, Muniz, 496 U.S.
at 602 n. 14, 110 S.Ct. at 2650 n. 14; Clayton, 1992 OK
CR 60, 1129, 840 P.2d at 27 (finding booking questions
did [**23] not require Miranda warning because
"questions certainly were not the kind which the
detective should know were reasonably likely to elicit
incriminating statements").

[*P45] Tuming to the present case, we find that the
frial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied
Appellant's motion to suppress and admitted the
challenged statements at trial. It is patently clear that
Appellant was in custody. However, the trial court's
determination that Appellant voluntarily made the
statements without any interrogation is not clearly
against the logic and effect of the facts presented.

[*P46] Appellant's statements to Brown were preceded
by his spontaneous declaration to Deputy Quinton
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Short; “| think | ***d up, | may have killed somebody."
Short took Appellant into custody and transported him to
the Custer County Jail.

Detention Officer Brown contacted Appellant as soon as
the amresting officers brought him into the jail and sat
him in the back of the room. Brown started gathering
Appeltant's biographical information to get a head start
on the booking process. This exchange was captured
on the jail's recording system and introduced into
evidence at the pretrial hearing. Brown asked Appellant
the [*™24] necessary questions to book him into the jail,
including his name, date of birth, height, weight, eye
color, place of birth, current address, marital status,
telephone, medical issues, and current medications.
Brown simply asked Appellant for the requisite
information and did not make any small talk. When
Brown asked if he had any allergies to any medications,
Appellant said; "[I've] been losing my voice lately."
Brown followed up and asked; "Sick or something with a
cold or flu?* Appellant stated; "l got a problem. | know |
did something wrong. | just blacked out. Brown
remarked; "Dude, | don't have nothing to do with
anything like that." Appellant replied; "I know." Then he
stated, "It's bad.”

[*P47] After Appellant's admission, Brown returned to
asking Appellant the compuler generated booking
questions, including his social security number,
emergency contact, whether Appellant was addicted to
any drugs or alcohol which would cause him to have
withdrawal symptoms during his stay in the jail, and
whether Appellant had any identifying tattoos. Appellant
disclosed that he had a tattoo of "PX SPEC" on his left
upper arm. Brown sought to clarify the nature of the
tattoo. When he correctly recognized [**25) it as
military, Appellant became very talkative.

[*P48] Brown was unable to complete the booking
process. Instead, he was forced to wait until the
amesting officers released Appellant from the back of
the room so he could bring him up to the front and go
over the information entered into the computer. During
the interim, Brown answered Appellants many
questions and generally chatted with Appellant about
the military and guns.

[*P49] Brown related at trial that he did not interrogate
Appellant but simply engaged in small talk like he did
with most arrestees to make them easier to deal with
and make the booking process go smoother. After a
time, both men fell silent. Without Brown making any
statement or question, Appellant bluntly stated; "I think |

may have killed somebody.” Brown advised Appeltant,
"Dude, don't tell me," and fell silent again.

[*P50] Since Appellant had made the previous
admissions and Brown knew the jail's recording system
did not always accurately capture entire conversations,
Brown used his phone to record Appellant's statements.
Appellant returned to asking Brown questions. He asked
Brown if he was a jailer? He, then, asked if Brown had
seen any interesting characters. Brown
answered; [**26] ‘"Interesting? No. Crazy? Yes." He
related anecdotes about two colorful inmates that had
been held in the jail. Appellant volunteered that the
military required "psych evaluations” and added that the
"dude in the straightjacket" is usually the one
screaming that he is "not crazy.” He further stated; "we
all have to be a little crazy to keep from going insane.”

[*P51] When the arresting officers returned, they
checked on Brown's progress booking Appellant into the
jaill. They released Appellant from the back of the room
so Brown could complete the process. Afier Brown
moved him to the front of the room, Appellant freely
chatted with Brown. When he asked; "Is there some
detective or someone | can talk to?," Brown advised
him; "I don't know." Appellant asked about the list of
Bondsman on the wall and Brown explained how bonds
worked. After Appellant asked if he could write down
their numbers, Brown related that Appellant was only
being temporarily held in his county.

[*P52] Appellant queried where he was at and Brown
informed him that he was in Arapaho in Custer County.
Appellant then spontaneously declared; "If they believe
that | don't know where | am at they might believe that |
was crazy." Brown [**27] made no response to this
statement. Appellant followed up by asking; "Do you
think that Il make bond at all?” Brown responded; "I
have no idea, dude. | don't know if you have charges or
are gonna have charges. | don't have a clue." Appellant
then volunteered; "l think | murdered someone. The
officer in the car mentioned manslaughter ... isn't
manslaughter murder?” Brown advised Appellant that
he was unable to tell him and explained that he was just
a jailer, did not know anything about the law, and simply
booked people into the jail,

[*P53] Brown informed Appellant that "technically" he
was not booking Appellant into the jail but was simply
showing that he was there. When Appellant stated, "I
think Stephens County is gonna come get me,” Brown
did not respond. Appellant then asked Brown; "Since |
blacked out, do you think that | should go for an insanity
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plea or what?" Brown finally drove home his point by
advising Appellant; "l can't give you any legal opinions
whatsoever."

[*P54]) After a period of silence, Brown asked Appellant
some additional medical questions and quickly
confirmed the information that Appellant had previously
given him. He had Appellant read over the jail rules and
acknowledge [**28] his receipt of the same; execute a
statement accounting for Appellant's property; and
certify his answers to the medical questions. After
completing the booking process, Brown gave Appellant
a blanket and placed him in one of the cells in the jail.

['P55] Based upon the totality of the circumstances,
we find that the trial court properly rejected Appellant's
motion to suppress. The record plainly supports the trial
court's determination that Appellant voluntarily made the
statements without any interrogation. Brown's questions
to Appellant fell squarely within the "routine booking
question” exception. The questions which Brown asked
Appellant were clearly not designed to elicit
incriminatory admissions. Thus, Appellant was not
subject to interrogation.

[*P58] Instead, Appellant's statements were the
product of an essentially free and unconstrained choice
on his part. The record shows that Appellant was
predisposed to confess and explain away his offense.
Appellant's admissions were volunteered. The great
majority of his statements were made when Brown
paused his book-in questions or was simply silent.
Appellant's inculpatory statements did not directly
respond to any of Brown's questions.

[*P57] Appellant [**29] argues that his statements
should have been suppressed because Brown went
outside the scope of the ordinary booking questions. We
are not persuaded by this argument. Although Brown
engaged in small talk with Appellant, his questions were
certainly not the kind which an officer should know were
reasonably likely to elicit incriminating statements. As
such, we conclude that Appellant was not subjected to
custodial interrogation or its functional equivalent.

[*P58] The trial court's determination that Appellant
volunteered the statements is not clearly against the
weight and effect of the facts presented. Accordingly,
we find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion
when it admitted Appellant's admissions at trial.
Propaosition |l is denied.

[*P58] In Proposition lll, Appellant challenges the trial
court's admission of State's Exhibit Numbers 501

through 523. He argues that these photographs were
gruesome, lacked probative value and were unfairly
prejudicial. HN12[®] The admissibility of photographic
evidence, as with all evidence, is reviewed under an
abuse of discretion standard. Glossip v. State, 2007 OK
CR 12 180, 157 P.3d 143, 157. Unless a clear abuse
of discretion is shown, reversal will not be warranted.
Horn v. State, 2008 OK CR 7. Y141, 204 P.3d 777, 787.

[*P60] The trial court examined all of the State's [**30]
proffered photographs during a pretrial hearing on
Appellant's motion and, again, at trial. The trial court
individually assessed each of the photographs and
excluded any which were cumulative. After hearing the
testimony of the State's witnesses, the trial court
determined that the photos corroborated the medical
examiner's testimony, showed the nature, extent,
number and nature of Henry's injuries, were not unduly
prejudicial and admitted the exhibits.

[*P61] "The issue of gruesome photographs has been
discussed by this Court in case after case, and the
issues relating thereto are well known." Cole v._ Siate
2007 OK CR 27, 1 29, 164 P.3d 1089, 1096.
“Gruesome crimes result in gruesome pictures.” /d.,
quoting Patton v. State, 1998 OK CR 66, 160, 973 P.2d
270, 290. HN13[ %] Photographs are admissible if their
content is relevant and their probative value is not
substantially outweighed by their prejudicial effect.
Davis 2011 OK CR 29, 186, 268 P.3d at 113; Bernay v.
State, 1999 OK CR 37,_11_18 989 P.2d 998, 1007.
Relevant evidence is defined as evidence having any
tendency to make the existence of a fact that is of
consequence to the determination of the action more
probable or less probable than it would be without the
evidence. 12 0.5.2011._§ 2401. "The probative value of
photographs of murder victims can be manifested in
numerous ways, including showing the nature, extent
and location of wounds, establishing the [**31] corpus
delicti, depicting the crime scene, and corroborating the
medical examiner's testimony.” Davis, 2011 OK CR 29,

1186, 268 P.3d at 113.

[*P62] "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if
its probative value is substantially outweighed by the
danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues,
misleading the jury, undue delay, needless presentation
of cumulative evidence, or unfair and harmful surprise.”
12 0.5.2011. § 2403. Where there is duplication in
images, the appellant has the burden to show that the
repetition in images was needless or inflammatory.
Mitchell v. State, 2010 OK CR 14, Y 63. 235 P.3d 640,
656. "When measuring the relevancy of evidence
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against its prejudicial effect, the court should give the
evidence its maximum reasonable probative force and
its minimum reascnable prejudicial value." /d.. 2010 OK

that photographs are not relevant if the cause of death
is not contested. Smallwood v. State, 1995 OK CR 60, 1
33, 907 P.2d 217. 228, Hooks v. State, 1993 OK CR 41,

CR 14, 71, 235 P.3d at 657, Mayes v. State, 1994 OK
CR 44,177, 887 P.2d 1288, 1310.

[*P63] Reviewing the record, we find that the trial court
did not abuse its discretion when it admitted the
challenged photographs. The photographs admitted as
State’s Exhibit Numbers 501 through 518 depicted
Henry's injuries. State’s Exhibit Humber 501 showed
Henry's face, head, and shoulders. The remaining
photographs were close up images of the abrasions,
contusions and trauma which Henry suffered. The
photographs do not depict the work of the medical
examiner but solely display Henry's [**32] injuries.

[*P84] The challenged exhibits held great probative
value. The photographs accurately depicted the nature,
extent and location of Henry's wounds, established the
corpus delicti, and corroborated the medical examiner's
testimony. They were neither extensive nor cumulative.
Each photograph depicted a different aspect or injury on
Henry's body. The medical examiner, Dr. Inas Yacoub,
extensively relied upon the exhibits to illustrate to the
jury the blunt force trauma to which Henry had been
subjected and explain how that ultimately caused her
death. As such, we find that the probative value of
Exhibit Numbers 501 through 518 was not substantiaily
outweighed by their prejudicial effect.

[*P65] The photographs admitied as State's Exhibit
Numbers 519 through 523 depicted the blood-soaked
clothing which Henry had worn that night. Appellant's
claim that this evidence was gruesome is not well taken,
As with the other challenged exhibits, the photographs
of Henry's clothing held great probative value. The
exhibits were probative of the nature, extent and
location of Henry's wounds and corroborated the
testimony of the State's witnesses. The blood-soaked
nature of the clothing tended to establish [**33] the
force and violence to which Henry was subjected and
corroborated the medical examiner's determination that
her death was caused by blunt force trauma. Thus, we
find that the probative value of Exhibit Numbers 519
through 523 was not substantially outweighed by their
prejudicial effect.

[*P66] Appellant argues that the photos were not
necessary to prove the State's case. He asserts that Dr.
Yacoub's testimony and the diagrams in her report
adequately covered Henry's wounds and the cause of
death. This Court has repeatedly rejected the argument

T 26, 862 P.2d 1273, 1281. The State is charged with
establishing the elements of the offense and is entitled
to corroborate and illustrate the testimony of its
witnesses about what the crime scene looked like and
the manner of death. Davis, 2011 OK CR 29, .89, 268
P.3d at 113. The State is not required to downplay the
visual effects of a particular crime. /d. A medical
examiner's diagrams and testimony concerning the
location, nature, and extent of injuries are necessarily
limited in their ability to convey to the jury the actual
appearance of the victim's injuries. DeRosa, 2004 OK
CR 19, 1172 89 P.3d at 1150.

[*P67] Appellant also argues that the photographs
obfuscated the evidence of [**34] his mental illness.
We are not persuaded by this argument. Although the
photographs show the results of the brutal crime, the
photographs do not remotely approach those that this
Court has previously determined as extremely
grotesque. See Cole, 2007 OK CR 27, 1130, 164 P.3d at
1096 (finding photographs depicting helpless child after
grown man broke him in half "extremely grotesque, the
sort of pictures that we would all like to avoid in our
lives."). Because the photographs accurately depicted
the nature, extent and location of Henry's wounds,
established the corpus delicti, evidenced the force and
violence to which Henry was subjected and
corroborated the medical examiner's testimony, we find
that their probative wvalue was not substantially
outweighed by their prejudicial effect. The photographic
evidence was neither extensive nor cumulative,
Therefore, we conclude that the trial court did not abuse
its discretion in the admission of the challenged
photographs. Proposition Il is denied.

[*P68] In Proposition V, Appellant contends the trial
court erred in refusing to give his requested instructions
on the lesser included offense of second degree
depraved mind murder. He further asserts that by failing
to instruct the jury on any[**35] lesser forms of
homicide, the trial court violated his federal due process
rights under Beck v. Alabama, 447 {J.8. 625_ 100 S.Ct.
2382, 65 L.Ed2d_392 (1980). HN14[*] “The
determination of which instructions shall be given to the
jury is a matter within the discretion of the trial court.”
Eizember v. State, 2007 OK CR 29, f 111, 164 P.3d
208, 236. "Absent an abuse of that discretion, this Court
will not interfere with the trial court's judgment if the
instructions as a whole, accurately state the applicable
law." Id.
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[*P69] In denying Appellant's requested lesser offense
instruction, the trial court determined that there was not
any evidence to support an instruction upon second
degree depraved mind murder. Reviewing the record we
find that Appellant has not shown that the trial court's
conclusion was clearly against the logic and effect of the
facts presented. Neloms, 2012 OK CR 7, .35, 274 P.3d
at 170,

[*P70] HN15[4] In Beck, the United States Supreme
Court held that a sentence of death may not
constitutionally be imposed after a jury verdict of guilt of
a capital offense, when the jury was not permitted to
consider a verdict of guilt of a lesser included non-
capital offense, and when the evidence would have
supported such a verdict. Beck, 447 (.S. at 637, 100
S.Ct. at 2389. However, Beck does not require that the
jury in a capital case be given a non-capital option
where the evidence absolutely does not support
that [**36] option. Davis, 2011 OK CR 29, § 122 268
P.3d at 120, cifing Spaziano v. Florida, 468 UU.S. 447,
455--56, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 3159--3160,_82 L.Ed.2d 340

(1984,

[*P71] A Beck claim has two components. Davis, 2011
OK CR 29, 11 120,268 P.3d atf 120. First, the appellant
must establish that the crime on which the trial court
refused to instruct was actually a lesser-included
offense of the capital crime of which he was convicted.
id. Second, the appellant must show that the evidence
presented at trial would permit a rational jury to find him
guilty of the lesser included offense and acquit him of
first degree murder. /d.

[*P72] We must turn to State law to resolve Appellant's
Beck claim. This Court had fraditionally looked to the
statutory elements of the charged crime and any lesser
degree of crime to determine the existence of any lesser
included offenses. State v. Tubby, 2016 OK CR 17, 11
5-6, 387 P.3d 918, 920. "However, in Shrum v. State
1999 OK CR 41, 991 P.2d 1032, 1035, a majority of this
Court determined the ‘'strict statutory elements
approach' was too narrow and inflexible and broadened
the rule to include situations 'where the lesser and
greater offense are in the same class of offenses and
are closely or inherently related, but the elements do not
satisfy the strict statutory elements test.” id.. 2016 OK
CR 17, 117, 387 P.3d at 921, quoting Shrum, 1999 0K
CR 41, 11 7--9, 991 P.2d at 1036.

[*P73] HNTG[*] Prima facie evidence of the lesser
offense must be presented at trial in order to warrant
giving the lesser included instruction. Davis, 2011 OK

CR 29 1 101, 268 P.3d at 116. Prima facie evidence of
a lesser [**37] included offense is that evidence which
wauld allow a jury rationally to find the accused guilty of
the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater. /d.; see
also Simpson v. State, 2010 OK CR 6, 117,230 P.3d
888, 897 (a lesser offense instruction should not be
given unless the evidence would support a conviction
for the lesser offense).

[*P74] As Second Degree Murder has historically been
recognized as a lesser included offense of First Degree
Murder, we conclude that the requested lesser offense
was, in fact, a necessarily included offense of the
charged crime ® Therefore, Appellant was entitled to an
instruction upon second degree depraved mind murder
if prima facie evidence of the offense was presented at
trial.

[‘P75] HN1Z]?] "Murder in the second degree occurs
Twlhen perpetrated by an act imminently dangerous to
another person and evincing a depraved mind,
regardless of human life, although without any
premeditated design to effect the death of any particular
individual.™ Williams v. State, 2001 OK CR 9, 23, 22

P.3d 702, 712, (quoting 21 0.5.1991, § 701.8(1)}). The
elements of second degree depraved mind murder are:
First, the death of a human, Second, caused by conduct
which was imminently dangerous to another person,
Third, the conduct was that of the defendant's, Fourth,
the [**38] conduct evinced a depraved mind in extreme
disregard of human life, Fifth, the conduct is not done
with the intention of taking the life of any particular
individual. Inst. No. 4-91, OUJI-CR(2d) (Supp.2000).
"[A] person evinces a 'depraved mind' when he engages
in imminently dangerous conduct with contemptuous
and reckless disregard of, and in total indifference to,
the life and safety of another."” /d.

[*P76] Examples of this crime include: (1) shooting into
a crowd, where one does not intend to kil! any particular
person, but where the likelihood of death is probable; (2)
steering a speeding vehicle into the oncoming path of
another speeding vehicle; (3) throwing a heavy stone

9 But ses, contra Willingham v, State, 1997 OK CR 62, 11.20--
27,947 P.2d 1074, 1080--1081 (second degree murder is not
a 'esser included offense of first degree murder), overruled in
part by Shrum, 1999 OK CR 41, 1 10, 991 P.2d at_1036. |
concurred in Willingham but previously acceded to this
interpretation in an effort to give the trial bench and bar a
bright line to apply in determining lesser included offenses as
to first degree murder. Grissom v. State, 2011 QK CR 3, 1 4.
253 P.3d 969, 997 {Lumpkin J., Specially Concurring).
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into a crowded street, and (3) aiming a gun at the
victim's ankles intending to simply injure the victim but,
because of poor marksmanship, shooting the victim in
the back and killing him. Id.; Smaliwood, 1995 OK CR
60. 1148, 907 P.2d at 231; Smith v. State, 1984 OK CR
15, 15 n. 1. 674 P.2d 569, 571 n.1, Dennis v. State.
1977 OK CR 83, 1124, 561 P.2d 88. 95; Gibson v. State,
1970 OK CR 171, 1_10. 476 P.2d 362, 365. An
accidental killing will not support a finding that the killer
had a depraved mind. Harris v._State, 2004 OK CR 1.
50, 84 P.3d 731, 750; Crumley v. State, 1991 OK CR
72, 1113, 815 P.2d 676, 678--79.

[*P77] Reviewing the record, we find that the evidence

was insufficient to permit a rational jury to find Appellant
guilty of second degree depraved mind murder. There
was not any evidence to support an instruction upon
second degree depraved [**39] mind murder. Neither
the State nor Appellant presented evidence evincing
that Appellant engaged in conduct akin to shooting into
a crowd, ie. imminently dangerous conduct done
without the intention of taking the life of any particular
individual. Thus, no reasonable view of the evidence
gives rise to the inference that Appellant's conduct
evinced a depraved mind in extreme disregard of
human life.

[*P78] Similarly, there was not any evidence showing
that Appellant acted without the intention of taking the
life of any particular individual. Appellant's sole defense
at trial was that he was legally insane at the time of the
offense. During opening argument, defense counsel
admitted that Appellant had taken Henry's life and
asserted that Appellant's actions did not make any
sense because Appellant was insana. Appellant offered
the testimony of forensic psychologist, Curtis Grundy,
Ph.D., to support this defense. Grundy testified as to
Appellant's mental health and sanity but did not render
any opinion about Appellant's ability to form the intent to
kill at the time of the offense.

[*P79] During Dr. Grundy's evaluation, Appellant made
several statements concerning Henry's murder. Dr.
Grundy related [**40] these statements to the jury. The
trial court determined that Appellant's statements
concerning the offense evinced that he had intentionally
taken Henry's life. As the trial court's conclusion is not
clearly against the weight and effect of the facts
presented, we are bound to accept this interpretation of
the evidence. Appellant admitted that he had
intentionally taken Henry's life but sought to excuse that
act under the notion that he acted under an insane
delusion that he killed somebody who he believed had

intended to kill him. In light of Appellant's and defense
counsel's admissions, we find that no rational jury could
conclude that Appellant acted without the intention of
taking Henry's life,

[*P80] In the absence of any evidence showing bath
that Appellant's conduct evinced a depraved mind in
extreme disregard of human life and that he acted
without the intention of taking the life of any particular
individual, we must conclude that the evidence would
not have permitted a rational jury to find Appellant guilty
of second degree depraved mind murder. Therefore, we
find that the trial court properly refused Appellant's
request for an instruction upon this lesser included
offense.

[*P81] At[**41] the same time, we conclude that the
evidence would not have permitted a rational jury to
acquit Appellant of the charged offense of first degree
murder. Deputy Quinton Short testified that Appellant
informed him; "l think that | F****d up. | may have killed
somebody.” Detention Officer Kendall Brown testified
that when he later encountered Appellant in the jail,
Appellant advised him; "l got a problem. [ know | did
something wrong . . . | think | may have killed
somebody.” The medical examiner's testimony
established that Appellant subjected Henry to a
prolonged, brutal, and relentless attack. Dr. Inas Yacoub
testified that Henry had extensive blunt force trauma to
her head, face, scalp, neck and upper torso which
resulted in internal bleeding. She also had bruises on
her legs, arms, and hands. Sufficient pressure had been
applied to Henry's neck to cause the fracture of the
cricoid cartilage, petechiae in both eyes, and bleeding in
the lining of her airways. Yacoub explained that the
numerous injuries could not be explained by a single
impact. Henry also had pattern injuries on her head,
neck, arm, and upper back which were consistent with
the bottom of Appellant's shoes. The
photographs [**42] of Henry's injuries and the clothing
that she wore on the night of her death thoroughly
corroborated Dr. Yacoub's explanation. As no
reasonable view of the evidence would permit a rational
jury to acquit Appellant of first degree murder, we find
that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it
refused Appellant's request for an instruction upon
second degree depraved mind murder.

[*PB2] Since Appellant has not shown that the
evidence presented at trial would permit a rational jury
to find him guilty of second degree depraved mind
murder and acquit him of first degree murder we find the
trial court did not violate Appellant's federal due process
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rights under Beck. Proposition V is denied.

[*P83] in Proposition VI, Appellant contends that Dr.
Terese Hall rendered improper expert opinion
testimony. He argues that Hall improperly vouched for
the credibility of the State's witnesses while dismissing
the credibility of key defense witnesses.

[*P84] Appellant concedes that HN18[T] he waived
appellate review of this issue when he failed to object to
Hall's testimony at the time of trial. Therefore, we review
Appellant's claim pursuant to the test set forth in
Simpson v. State, 1994 OK CR 40, 876 P.2d 690, and
determine  whether Appellant has shown an
actual [**43] errar, which is plain or obvious, and which
affects his substantial rights. Tolleft v. State, 2016 OK
CR 15 T 4 387 P.3d 915 916. This Court will only
correct plain error if the error seriously affects the
faimess, integrity or public reputation of the judicial
proceedings or otherwise represents a miscarriage of
justice. Id.

[*P85] Applying this analysis to the present case, we
find that Appellant has not shown the existence of an
actual error that is plain or obvious. Appellant presented
the testimony of forensic psychologist, Curtis Grundy,
Ph.D., and the State presented the testimony of forensic
psychologist, Terese Hall, Ph.D., in rebuttal. Both Dr,
Grundy and Dr. Hall testified that in forming their
respective opinions they relied upon information from
people who had interacted with Appellant both before
and after Henry's murder, including Appellant's
immediate family members and members of law
enforcement. Both also testified that they compared and
contrasted the individuals' numerous statements in
armiving at their final opinion.

[*P86] Appellant lived with his grandparents at the time
of the offense. Both Dr. Grundy and Dr. Hall related that
they had received two different sets of information from
Appellant's grandparents. Their accounts [**44] had
changed over time. Appellant's grandfather, Stanley
Bench, testified at preliminary hearing approximately
five months after the offense. Mr. Bench advised that
there was nothing wrong with Appellant. When he met
with Dr. Grundy approximately two years after the
offense, Mr. Bench gave a different account. Mr. Bench
indicated that a month prior to the offense, Appellant
began mumbling to himself; he had trouble sleeping and
stayed up all night; he banged on his bedroom wall and
spoke in two different voices; and he stopped showering
and grooming himself. Mr. Bench further indicated that
Appellant advised that he had an implant in his brain like

the Manchurian Candidate; a man and a woman from
the Navy were after him; they had come into the store
trying to kill him; and he was going to have to do
something about them if they didn't stop.

[*PB7] Appellant's grandmother, Albertha Bench,
initially indicated that Appellant lived in a world of make
believe; he thought that he had seen spirits; was
sometimes depressed and moody; did not like authority;
was easily angered; and believed that he was smarter
than everyone else. A few of Mrs. Bench's statements
indicated that Appellant may have had [*45] some
paranoia. She related that Appellant had advised her
that he thought someone was after him and he came
into her room one night because he thought something
was in his room. At preliminary hearing, Mrs. Bench
simply described Appellant as "a little mental." When Dr.
Grundy evaluated Appellant two years after the offense,
Mrs. Bench's relation of mental health concerns about
Appellant had substantially grown. Despite the fact that
she worked the graveyard shift and did not regularly see
Appellant, Mrs. Bench related that Appellant was
irrational; went without sleep for 4 or 5 days at a time;
hit ber bedroom wall at night; did not shower or groom
himself;, claimed that he was Jason Bourne or a spy;
claimed that he had a chip in his head like the
Manchurian Candidate; and repeatedly came into her
room at night claiming that he was scared. Mrs. Bench
indicated Appellant stated that he saw heads coming
out of the closet after him, the apparition of a little girl in
a white dress, and a man and a woman on these
occasions. He further advised her that a man and a
woman wanted to kill him, they had a hit out on him, and
they had come into the convenience store, again.

[*PB8] Dr. Grundy testified [**46] that he heavily relied
upon the statements of Mr. and Mrs. Bench in reaching
the conclusion that Appellant had schizophrenia,
suffered a psychotic break with delusions and was
legally insane at the time of the offense. Testifying in
rebuttal, Dr. Hall related that although Appellant had
some psychological problems she did not see any signs
of severe psychosis in him. She did not believe that he
was sufficiently impaired at the time of the crime to
render him unable to know right from wrong. Explaining
why she reached a different conclusion than Dr. Grundy,
she noted the inconsistencies in the grandparent's
statements over time. Dr. Hall testified that she
"discounted” the later statements because she felt that
the statements both given under oath and closer in time
to the offense were more reliable.

[*P89] Appellant challenges Hall's statement about her
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discounting as improper vouching. HN19['1“] The
Oklahoma Evidence Code places few restrictions on the
information an expert may rely upon to form her
opinions. Lewis v. State, 1998 OK CR 24, Y 19, 970
P.2d 1158 _1166. The facts or data need only be of a
type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular
field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject.
id; 12_0.5Supp.2013, § 2703. Pursuant to 12
0.5.2011,_ § 2705, an expert may testify [**47] in terms
of opinion or inference and give her reasons therefor
with or without prior disclosure of the underlying facts or
data. /d.10

[*P90] However, this Court has determined that an
expert witness cannot vouch for the truthfulness or
credibility of a witness. Warner v. State, 2006 OK CR
40 1 24, 144 P.3d 838, 860-61, overruled on other
grounds by Taylor v. Stale, 2018 OK CR 6, 419 P.3d
265. "Vouching" occurs when an attorney or witness
indicates a personal belief in a witness's credibility,
either through explicit personal assurances of the
witness's veracity or by implicitly indicating that
information not presented to the jury supports the
witness's testimony. Nicksll v. State, 1994 OK CR 73, 1
7, 885 P.2d 670, 673. Thus, an expert is not permitted
to testify as to whether a wilness was either lying or
telling the truth. Lawrence v. State, 1990 OK CR 56, 1 4.
796 P.2d 1176, 1177.

[*P91] We find that Hall's explanation did not constitute
improper opinion on the credibility of a witness. Hall did
not indicate a personal belief as to whether Mr. and Mrs.
Bench were either lying or telling the truth. Instead, she
simply explained why she relied upon certain facts more
than other facts. We note that the challenged statement
was part of Hall's explanation for why she reached a
different opinion than Dr. Grundy. It is clear from the
record that forensic psychologists reasonably rely upon
such assessments in[*48] forming their opinions.
Thus, Hall properly disclesed the discounting as part of
the facts underlying her opinion that were different from
Dr. Grundy's assessment.

[*P92] Appellant also challenges Hall's statement that

0Since this Courl decided Lewis v. State, 1998 OK CR 24,
570 P.2d 1158, the Legislature has amended Section 2703 to
add that facts or data otherwise inadmissible "shall not be
disclosed to the jury by the proponent of the opinion or
inference unless the court determines that their probative
value in assisting the jury to evaluate the experl's opinion
substantially outweighs their prejudicial effect.” 12
0.S.Supp.2013, § 2703.

she took Mr. and Mrs. Bench's later statements with a
grain of salt. Not satisfied with Hall's explanation that
she had discounted the later statements, the prosecutor
pushed Hall into testimony that nearly crossed the line
of propriety. The prosecutor clarified that Hall had heard
Dr. Grundy's discussion of individuals' "motivations [ ] to
fabricate or elaborate or lie" and then obtained Hall's
admission, "Yes" that she had taken the Benches’ "later
statements with a grain of salt” "because of that." This
exchange very nearly placed Hall in the position of
rendering an opinion as to whether the Benches were
lying or telling the truth. As Hall did not testify as to what
motivation she believed the Benches held, we find that
Appellant has not shown an actual error that was plain
or obvious.

[*P93] Appellant further asserts that Hall vouched for
the testimony of Clayton Jenson when she stated that
he was worthy of belief because he was consistent in
his statements o both law enforcement [**49] and to
her. Appellant's claim is not supported by the record.
Hall never remarked that Jenson was worthy of belief.
When Hall initially disclosed that she had received two
different sets of information from Appeflant's family she
mentioned that she would discuss Jenson separately
because he "was the same throughout." Later, she
related what Jenson had told her. Hall did not render
any opinion as to whether Jenson was lying or telling
the truth. She did not indicate a personal belief in
Jenson's testimony at frial. As such, we conclude that
Appellant has not shown the existence of an actual error
in Hall's testimony about Jenson's statements.

[*P94] Appellant also argues that Hall contended that
jail administrator Dallas Cowen was trustworthy. Again,
this assertion is not supported by the record. Hall did not
testify that Cowen was trustworthy. The record shows
that the prosecutor continued to explore why Hall's
opinion differed from Dr. Grundy's opinion. Hall affirmed
that she had information from Cowen as to how
Appellant acted differently when a doctor or attorney
visited him which Dr. Grundy did not have. She also
affirmed that she thought it would have been important
for Dr. Grundy to [**50] have had this information. Hall
did not render any opinion as to whether Cowen lied or
told the truth. She did not indicate a personal belief in
Cowen's stalement. As such, we conclude that
Appellant has not shown the existence of an actual
error,

[*P95] Finally, Appellant claims that Hall impermissibly
stated her belief that Appellant's family was not credible
and implied that Dr. Grundy's reliance on the family was
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misplaced. We are not persuaded by this argument. Hall
testified: "[I] think Dr. Grundy considered the family
information that was offered later on to be highly
credible and | did not. | think that is the main difference.”
Again, this was part of Hall's explanation as to why she
reached a different conclusion than Grundy. Hall did not
render any opinion as to whether the Benches were
lying or telling the truth. She did not tell the jury who to
believe. As such, we find that Appellant has not shown
the existence of an actual error.

[*P96] In the heading of this proposition of error,
Appellant outlines that Hall's testimony rendered his trial
fundamentally unfair in violation of the Fourteenth
Amendment to the United Stfales Constitufion. As
Appellant has not provided any argument or authority
supporting this c¢laim, we find that he has
forfeited [*51] appellate review of the issue. Rule
3.5(C)Y6), Rules of the Qklahoma Court of Criminal
Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 18, App. (2017) ("Failure to
present relevant authority in compliance with these
requirements will result in the issue being forfeited on
appeal."); Malone v. State. 2013 OK CR 1, 1 59. 293
P.3d 198,215 (finding claim lacking argument or
authority waived); Harmon v, State, 2011 QK CR 6,
90. 248 P.3d 918, 946 (finding claim waived where no
argument or authority presented). Proposition VI is
denied.

SECOND STAGE ISSUES

{*P97] In Proposition IX, Appellant challenges the
sufficiency of the evidence supporting the continuing
threat aggravating circumstance. HNZOI?] When the
sufficiency of the evidence of an aggravating
circumstance is challenged on appeal, this Court
reviews the evidence in the light most favorable io the
State to determine if any rational trier of fact could have
found the aggravating circumstance beyond a

reasonable doubt. Grissom v. State, 2011 OK CR 3. 1
61, 253 P.3d 969, 990,

[*P98] HN21|?] To prove the continuing threat
aggravator, the State must present evidence showing
the defendant's behavior has demonstrated a threat to
society and a probability that this threat would continue
to exist in the future. Bush v. State, 2012 OK CR 9, §
42, 280 P.3d 337, 347. Evidence evincing that the
murder was callous can be considered as supporting
the existence of a continuing threat. Grissom. 2011 OK
CR 3. 161, 253 P.3d af 990. Attempts to escape are
among the other factors that, coupled with the calloused

nature [**52] of the crime, may also support a finding
that the defendant would commit criminal acts of
violence that would constitute a continuing threat to
society. Bush, 2012 OK CR 9. Y 43-49,_ 280 P.3d at
347-48. A criminal history exhibiting a pattern of
escalating violence is also viewed as supporting a
determination that a defendant would constitute a
continuing threat. Davis, 20711 OK CR 29, ] 139, 268
P.3d at 122; Rojem v. State, 2006 OK CR 7, 1 65,130
P.3d 287, 300.

[*P99] Appellant argues that none of the evidence
which the State elicited in support of this aggravating
circumstance indicates that he is likely to commit future
acts of violence. He asserts that the incidents the State
used to support this aggravating circumstance were
non-violent. HN22[¥] The State need not identify any
particular violent act that the defendant committed prior
to the crime. Bush, 2012 OK CR 9, 1 44, 280 P.3d at
347. "To prove this aggravating circumstance, this Court
has held the State may present any relevant evidence,
in conformance with the rules of evidence, including
evidence from the crime itself, evidence of other crimes,
admissions by the defendant of unadjudicated offenses
or any other relevant evidence." Bland v. State, 2000
OK CR 11, 1 135 4 P.3d 702, 735 {quotations and
citation omitted). Evidence that the defendant has
committed other crimes which were non-viclent may
satisfy the State's burden of proof if, coupled with the
other evidence [**53] at trial, the prior offenses indicate
a likelihood of future violence. Jones v. Siate, 2006 OK
CR 10, 11 6. 132 P.3d 1, 2. A prior criminal history of
non-violent offenses may support the existence of a
continuing threat where the evidence shows that the
slaying was callous and pitiless. Bush, 2012 OK CR 9, 1|
43,280 P.3d at 347; Grissom, 2011 QK CR 3, {62, 253
P.3d at 990.

[*P100] Taking the evidence in the light most favorable
to the State, we find that any rational juror could have
found that Appellant's behavior had demonstrated a
threat to society and a probability that this threat would
continue to exist in the future. The facts of the crime
itself demonstrated that Appellant would continue to
present a threat to society after sentencing. Scoft v
State, 1995 OK CR 14, Y 36, 891 P.2d 1283, 1296
{finding sheer callousness with which defendant
commits a particular murder can support continuing
threat aggravating circumstance); Hooks, 71993 OK CR
41, 1133, 862 P.2d at 1282 (recognizing Court's holding
that nature and circumstances of killing itself are
sufficient to show propensity toward future acts of
violence). Appellant's slaying of Henry was both brutal
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and callous. His treatment of her body after her death
further evinced this fact.

[*P101] In addition to the facts of the crime itself, the
evidence showed that Appellant had violently attacked a
family member. James Zolinski of the Will County
Sheriff's Department in lllinois [**54] testified that on
July 27, 2008, he responded to a domestic altercation
involving a father and a son at Appellant's home. Deputy
Zolinski found Appellant's stepfather, Farlan Huff, with
facial injuries. Huff's eye was almost swollen shut. He
also had a cut above it. Appellant was seventeen years
old at that time. He did not have any injuries on this
person. After interviewing all of the parties present at
the home, Zolinski arrested Appellant for domestic
abuse.

[*P102] Farlan Huff testified and detailed what had
occurred. Huff related that Appellant and he became
embroiled in an argument after he reminded Appellant
to complete his chore of taking the trash out. Appellant's
mother, Dana Huff, heard the argument and came up to
Appellant's room. She directed Appellant and Mr. Huff;
“Just duke it out.” Mistakenly, Mr. Huff took off his
glasses and placed them on top of something. Before
he turmed completely back around, Appellant punched
him in the eye. Appellant then placed Mr. Huff in a
"sleeper hold" restricting the circulation in his neck. As
Mr. Huff was starting to pass out, he called out; "Dana, if
you let him --." Appellant did not stop until Mrs. Huff
directed him to do so.

[*P103] Appellant [**55] had training in hand-to-hand
combat, in addition to his Naval training. Dana Huff and
Albertha Bench testified that Appellant had received
training in martial arts. Mrs. Bench indicated that
Appellant practiced regulary while staying in her home.
Clayton Jenson testified that Appellant desired to go to
California and become a mixed martial arts fighter.
Appellant's attack on Mr. Huff mirrored the choke-hold
he later used to subdue Henry.

[*P104] The evidence further showed that Appellant
had a long history of sexually aggressive conduct
towards females that escalated over time and
culminated in him callously slaying Henry and pitilessly
leaving her semi-nude body in a field. Karen Doyle
testified that in July of 2005 she moved into the house
behind Appellant's home. Appellant was fourteen years
old at that time. On several occasions Doyle observed
Appellant through a window as she swam in her
backyard pool. Appellant appeared to be masturbating.
During Labor Day Weekend, Appellant's sexual

aggression toward Doyle intensified. Doyle heard
Appellant shouting "F**k Me, F**k Me" as she came out
of the water. When she glanced towards Appellant's
home, she observed that Appellant was
completely [**56] nude and leaning halfway out of his
bedroom window with his hands in the air. Doyle was
frightened and called the palice. Although she continued
to live behind Appellant's home, she remained fearful of
him. Despite law enforcement's intervention, Doyle
continued to nofice someone peeking out of the blinds
after this incident.

[*P105] Appellant's criminal activity and level of
violence continued to escalate after his discharge from
the Navy. In what can only be perceived as an act of
planning, Appellant began to approach those who
appeared to be young and female in or near the
convenience store. He made physical contact with their
bodies and attempted to entice or lure them to be alone
with him. The evidence showed that Appellant
inappropriately  touched  sixteen-year-old Jesse
Anderson only days before Henry's murder. Anderson
testified that Appellant visited the sno-cone stand across
the street from the Teepee Totem where she worked.
Appellant spoke to Anderson but the conversation was
nothing more than casual customer conversation. On
June 2, 2012, Appellant chased Anderson as she was
driving off in her car. He ran across the street and
tapped on her car window until she stopped and
rolled [**57] down the window. Appellant advised
Anderson that he did not think it was right that she leave
without them knowing each other's names. Anderson
exchanged names with Appellant. When he stuck his
hand out as if to shake her hand Anderson reciprocated
the gesture. Instead of shaking hands, Appellant kissed
Anderson's hand. He asked Anderson for her phone
number, her address, where she was going, and if he
could ever take her out on a date. Anderson was
freaked out by Appellant's behavior. She did not feel
that she knew Appellant well enough and did not
consent to his kiss. She refused to provide Appellant the
information he had requested and declined his request
for a date. Anderson was sufficiently bothered by the
incident that she reported it to her parents.

[*P106] Thereafter, Appellant sexually assaulted Gina
Mercer. 21 0.5.2011,_§ 112 (defining "sexual assault” to
include "any type of sexual contact or behavior that
oceurs without explicit consent of the recipient including,
but not limited to ... fondling"). Mercer testified that
approximately four or five days before Henry's murder
Appellant inappropriately touched her while she was
shopping in the Teepee Totem. Mercer related that she
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entered the store [**58] with her daughter. Other than
Appellant, no one else was in the store. Appellant came
up behind Mercer while she was at the soda fountain.
He put his arms around Mercer under her breasts. She
exclaimed; "Don't touch mel | don't even know who you
are,” and slapped Appellant on the shoulder. In
response, Appellant declared; "I'm sorry. | thought you
were a high school girl." Mercer related that Appellant's
actions were completely unwelcome, inappropriate and
unacceptable. She reported this incident to the store
owner. After Henry's death, Mercer realized the gravity
of the situation and reported the incident to law
enforcement.

[*P107] The day before Henry's murder, Appellant had
a lewd encounter with fifteen-year-old Breanna
Stinchcomb while she was shopping at the Teepee
Totem. 21 0.5.2011, § 1123 (lewdly touching, feeling or
mauling the body of a child under 16 constitutes lewd
molestation). Stinchcomb testified as to her eerie
encounter with Appellant. She related that Appellant
came up behind her while she was at the glass door to
the refrigerated soda cans so she turned and walked to
the candy section and picked up two packages of
candy. Appellant followed her to the soda fountain
machine. Although the cups[**59] were perfectly
straight, Appeliant came up next to her, reached his
right arm around her and acted as if he was
straightening up the cups. As he did so, the side of his
body came into contact with Stinchcomb. Appeliant
commented on Stinchcomb's attractiveness. He moved
his hand and asked her if she wanted to go in the back
and exchange life stories. Stinchcomb declined
Appellant's offer stating that her mother was outside
waiting on her. Appellant continued to make Stinchcomb
feel uncomfortable as he rang up her purchase at the
register. He advised her that he was only working at the
store o make enough money to get back into the Navy.
He asked Stinchcomb about her interests. When he
found out that Stinchcomb liked music, he advised her
that he played the guitar and suggested that they hang
out and play the guitar together. Appellant's actions
scared Stinchcomb and she immediately advised her
mother about his behavior once she was safely outside.

['P108] Appellant suggests on appeal that these
incidents showed nothing more than "harmless
indiscretion,” "overly-friendly attempts to converse with
women,” or "crass” behavior. However, viewing these
incidents in the context of the remainder of [**60] the
evidence, we find that the incidents clearly demonstrate
that Appellant's behavior displayed a pattern of
escalation tending to indicate a likelihood of future

violence.

[*P109) We note that the evidence concering
Appellant’s attempts to escape also tended to show that
Appeliant would be a continuing threat to society. The
evidence showed that Appellant had fled from his
unlawful transgressions in the past and committed
additional crimes along the way. Deputy David Matthew
Welsh of the Will County Sheriff's Office in Wilmington,
llinois testified that Appellant admitted to stealing a car
while he was AWOL from the Navy. He hid at the home
of one of his friends.

[*P110] The State's evidence further established that
while awaiting trial, Appellant escaped from a restraint
chair and attempted to escape from the jail. Detention
Officer, Timothy Jackson, testified that Appellant was
placed into a restraint chair because he had rammed his
head into a wall. Appellant escaped from the chair and
into a different part of the jail. He took off his orange jail
uniform, put on a trustee's green uniform, and used this
uniform to gain entry into other areas of the jail.
Supervisor, Nathan Hicks, testified [**61] that Appellant
used the trustee's clothing to make his way towards the
exit to the jail. As the jail employees searched for him,
Appellant ducked into a holding cell near the jail's exit.
When Hicks found Appellant hiding in the cell, Hicks
asked him what he was doing. Appellant admitted that
he was trying to get out. Detention Officer, Kyle Henson,
asked Appellant what had been his whole point, and
Appellant indicated; "It was worth a try."

[*P111] Viewed in its entirety, Appellant's behavior
coupled with the callous and pitiless nature of the
slaying demonstrated a threat to society and a
probability that this threat would continue to exist in the
future. Thus, taking the evidence in the light most
favorable to the State, we find that any rational trier of
fact could have found the continuing threat aggravating
circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. Proposition
IX is denied.

[*P112] In Proposition X, Appellant contends that the
especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating
circumstance is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad.
Similar to many others before him, Appellant argues that
this Court’s attempts to limit and narrow this aggravating
circumstance have been unsuccessful. We have
repeatedly [**62] rejected this claim. Martinez v. State,
2016 OK CR 3, 1167, 371 P.3d 1100, 1116, cert. denied,
— US. _, 137 5.Ct 386, 196 L.Ed.2d 304 (2016);
Postelle v. State, 2011 OK CR 30, .84, 267 P.3d 114,
144; Cole v. State, 2007 OK CR 27, 1. 37. 164 P.3d
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1089, 1098. The argument and authorities which
Appellant presents raise nothing new. We continue to
find that HN23[#] the current uniform instructions
defining this aggravating circumstance sufficiently
narrow its application to pass constitutional muster. /d.;
Postelle, 2011 OK CR 30, 1184, 267 P.3d at 144.

[*P113] Appellant also challenges the sufficiency of the

evidence to show that the murder was especially
heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Again, we review a
challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence of an
aggravating circumstance by taking the evidence in the
light most favorable to the State to determine if any
rational trier of fact could have found the aggravating
circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. /d.; DeRosa
2004 OK CR 19, 1185, 89 P.3d at 1153.

[*P114] HN24[%] To prove that a murder is especially
heinous, atrocious or cruel, the State must show: (1) the
victim's death was preceded by torture or serious
physical abuse; and (2} that the facts and circumstances
of the case establish that the murder was heinous,
atrocious, or cruel. Cuesta-Rodriguez v. State, 2010 OK
CR 23, 1178, 241 P.3d 214, 238. Torture in the context
of this aggravating circumstance may take any of
several forms including the infliction of either great
physical anguish or extreme mental cruelty. Turrentine
v. State, 1998 OK CR 33, 1 70, 965 P.2d 955, 976. As
to the circumstance of extreme mental cruelty, the
torture [**63] must produce mental anguish in addition
to that which of necessity accompanies the underlying
killing. /d. HNZS[?] Anticipation of death is sufficient to
support the mental anguish requirement of the
aggravator. Postelle, 2011 OK CR 30, 183, 267 P.3d at
144. The length of time which the victim suffers mental
anguish is irrelevant. Turrentine, 1998 OK CR 33, 1 70,
965 P.2d at 976; Neill v. State, 1994 OK CR 69, { 60,
896 P.2d 537, 555; Bergel v. State. 1991 OK CR 121,
d1,824 P.2d 364, 373. Instead, the analysis focuses on
the acts of the petitioner and the level of tension
created, /d.

[*P115] Serious physical abuse is proved by showing
that the victim endured conscious physical suffering
before dying. Martinez, 2016 OK CR 3, 1168, 371 P.3d
at_1116. This Court has found sufficient evidence of
serious physical abuse where the victim suffered
numerous defensive wounds indicating that the victim
was conscious and attempted to fight off her attacker.
DeRosa, 2004 OK CR 19, 1199 n. 166, 89 P.3d at 1157
n. 186; Cheney v. State, 1995 OK CR 72, {18 n. 22,
908 P.2d 74, 81 n. 22; Romano v. State, 1993 QK CR 8

M _77-80, 847 P.2d 368 386--87. "[Slo long as the

evidence supports a finding that death was preceded by
torture or serious physical abuse, the jury is permitted to
consider all the circumstances of the case, including the
attitude of the killer and the pitiless nature of the crime.”

Underwood v. State, 2011 OK CR 12, 1 64, 252 P.3d
221, 247 (quotation and citation omitted).

[*P116] Appellant argues that the State failed to
establish that Henry's death involved conscious physical
suffering. "The crucial aspect of this aggravator is the
victim's awareness." /d. Both torture and serious
physical [**64] abuse require evidence of

consciousness. [d.; Pavalt v. State, 2007 OK CR 19,
75, 159 P.3d 272, 294.

['P117] Taking the evidence in the light most favorable

to the prosecution in the present case, we find that any
rational trier of fact could have found that Henry suffered
torture and serious physical abuse prior to her death.
Appellant admitted to Dr. Grundy that he attacked Henry
at the soda fountain. He struck Henry and strangled her
with a choke-hold. Appellant also admitted to attacking
Henry a second time on the floor in the stockroom of the
store.

[*P118] The evidence at trial revealed that Henry
suffered serious physical abuse. Appellant subjected the
teenager to a prolonged, brutal, and relentless attack.
Appellant beat Henry so severely with his hands that
they were demonstrably swollen to the law enforcement
officers who came into contact with him after his arrest.
The medical examiner, Dr. Inas Yacoub, testified that
Henry had extensive blunt force trauma to her head,
face, scalp, neck, back and upper torso. The trauma
was so significant that Henry had bruising behind her
sternum and bleeding in the lining of her airways. She
had suffered a traumatic brain injury from the trauma to
her head. Yacoub indicated that the numerous injuries
could [**65] not be explained by a single impact.

[*P119] Yacoub testified that Henry also had bruises
on her legs, arms, and hands. Sufficient pressure had
been applied to Henry's neck to cause the fracture of
the cricoid cartilage and petechiae in both eyes. Henry
also had pattern injuries on her head, neck, arm, and
upper back which were consistent with the bottom of
Appellant's shoes.

[*P120] Based on the extensive injuries from the
beating, any rational juror would also have recognized
that Henry would have been under extreme mental
anguish and emotional fear as she realized she was
being beaten to death, one of the most agonizing ways
a person can die. In addition, Dr. Yacoub's testimony
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suggesied that Henry fought back in an effort to save
her own life. Yacoub testified that Appellant had a bruise
on his elbow and a bite mark where Henry had fought
back. Yacoub noted that the bruises on Henry's right
forearm were defensive in nature. Henry had numerous
abrasions and a braoken toe nail.

[*P121] Although Dr. Yacoub could not determine at
what exact paint Henry became unconscious, she did
not see any evidence that Henry was immediately
rendered unconscious. She explained that the pattern
injury depicted in State's [**66] Exhibit Number 504
where Appellant had apparently stomped on Henry's
throat occurred, as with the great majority of the other
injuries, while Henry was still alive. She detailed that
Henry had injuries to both the inside and outside of her
head consistent with her having been dragged across
the floor while still alive and conscious. Yacoub related
that the blecod on Henry's face indicated that Henry was
conscious after Appellant's attack on her torso and
coughed out blood from her nose and mouth. She
stated that Henry breathed in her own blood and had
suffered the painful experience of air hunger as she
tried to breathe but could not get air into her fluid filled
lungs.

[*P122] The photographs of Henry's injuries and the
clothing that Appellant wore on the night of her death
thoroughly corroborated Dr. Yacoub's account.
Appellant did not present any evidence to contravene
the State's evidence. Therefore, we conclude that,
taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the
prosecution in the present case, we find that any
rational trier of fact could have found that Henry's
murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel
beyond a reasonable doubt. Proposition X is denied.

ISSUES CONCERNING [**67] BOTH STAGES

[*P123] In Proposition VI, Appellant alleges that
prosecutorial misconduct occurred during both stages of
the trial. Our review for prosecutorial misconduct is well
established. HNZGE?] Relief will only be granted where
the prosecutor committed misconduct that so infected
the defendant's trial that it was rendered fundamentally
unfair, such that the jury's verdicts should not be relied
upon. Sanders v. State, 2015 OK CR 11, 121, 358 P.3d
280, 286, citing Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416_U.S.
637, 645, 904 S.Ct. 1868 1872 40 L.Ed 2d 431 (1974}).
We evaluate alleged prosecutorial misconduct within the
context of the entire trial, considering not only the
propriety of the prosecutor's actions, but also the

strength of the evidence against the defendant and the
corresponding arguments of defense counsel. /d. We
have long allowed counsel a wide range of discussion
and illustration in closing argument. /d. Counsel are
permitted to fully discuss from their standpoint the
evidence, the inferences and deductions arising from it.
Id.

[*P124] Appellant, first, claims that the prosecutors
introduced false or misleading testimony from Melissa
Lynn. M"i"] "The knowing use of false or misleading
evidence important to the prosecution's case in chief
viclates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment." Omalza v. State, 1995 QK CR 80. 1 77.
911 P.2d 286. 307 (quatations and citation omitted). To
prove such a claim on appeal the appellant bears
the [**68] burden to establish (1) certain testimony was
misleading, (2) the prosecution knowingly used the
testimony and (3) the testimony was material to guilt or
innocence. /d.

[*P125] In the present case, nothing in the record
supports Appellant's claim. Instead, Appellant cites to
materials attached to Appellant's Application for
Evidentiary Hearing on Sixth Amendment Claim filed
contemporaneously with his appellate brief. The
materials filed in support of a request for an evidentiary
hearing are not considered, by reason of their filing with
this Court, part of the trial record. Bland, 2000 OK CR
11, 1115 4 £.3d at 731. If the items are not within the
existing record, then only if they are properly introduced
at the evidentiary hearing will they be a part of the trial
court record on appeal. /d. As the materials in the
present case are not properly before the Court at this
time, and Appellant has failed to develop his arguments
in his appellate brief, without citation to the non-record
materials, we find that he has effectively waived review
of those arguments. We have consistently held that
HN28|'1T] we will not review allegations of error that are
neither supported in the record or by legal authority. /d.
We will only consider the materials when we
address [*69] the Application for Evidentiary Hearing
on Sixth Amendment Claim.

[*P126] Second, Appellant claims that the prosecutors
misstated and improperly shifted the burden of proof
concerning Appellant's insanity defense. We note that
Appellant waived appellate review of this claim when he
failed to challenge the prosecutor's remarks at trial.
Malone, 2013 OK CR 1, 11.40, 293 P.3d at 211. We
review the claim for plain error under the test set forth in
Simpson and determine whether he has shown an
actual error that is plain or obvious as set out in
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Proposition VI, above. [d, 2013 OK CR 1, 7 41, 293
P3dat211

[*P127] Appellant argues that the prosecutor told the
jury not to consider his mental health evidence. We find
that Appellant's argument is not supported by the
record. The prosecutor did not inform the jury to not
consider the mental health evidence. Instead, the
prosecutor informed the jurors that they need not decide
Appellant's exact mental health diagnosis to determine
his sanity. As the prosecutor properly focused the jury
on determining whether Appellant knew right from
wrong or could appreciate the nature and the
consequences of his action, we find that the
prosecutor's comments were proper. Pugh v. Stale,
1989 OK CR 70, Y13, 781 P.2d 843, 843-44; Inst. No. 8-
32, OUJI-CR(2d)(Supp.2014).

[*P128] Appellant further argues that the prosecutors
impermissibly [**70] shifted the burden of proof by
arguing that it was Appellant's burden to prove insanity.
He argues that the prosecutor compounded this error
when he stated that Appellant had to prove insanity
"beyond a reasonable doubt” in the rebuttal portion of
closing argument. We note that HN29|'1’] there exists a
presumption of sanity under Oklahoma law that
continues until a criminal defendant presents sufficient
evidence to raise a reasonable doubt as to his sanity at
the time of the offense. Jackson v. State, 1998 OK CR
39, 1164 964 P.2d 875, 892. Only if a criminal defendant
presents sufficient evidence to raise reasonable doubt
as to his sanity, does the State bear the burden of
proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant
was sane at the time of the commission of the offense.
id. In Taylor v. State, this Court found that a
prosecutor's reference to the defendant's burden of
raising a doubt as to sanity as "beyond a reasonable
doubt" did not constitute fundamental error where the
comment did not appear to be a blatant attempt to
misstate the burden of proof and the jury was otherwise
adequately instructed on the issue. /d.. 7994 OK CR &1,
.14, 881 P.2d 755, 759.

[*P129] The record in the present case reveals that the
trial court properly instructed the jury conceming the
burden of proof [**71] for the defense of sanity with the
uniform jury instructions. Inst. Nos. 8-32, 8-33, OUJI-
CR{2d) (Supp.2014). In the initial part of closing
argument, the prosecutor directed the jury to the trial
court's instruction and comrectly paraphrased the uniform
jury instruction concerning Appellant's burden of proof.
She accurately stated that Appellant had the burden of
raising a reasonable doubt as to his sanity but that if he

raised such a doubt, the State had the overall burden of
proving sanity beyond a reasonable doubt. Defense
counsel then directed the jury to the trial court's
instruction and argued that the State had to prove that
Appellant was sane because Appellant had raised a
reasonable doubt as to his sanity. In rebuttal the second
prosecutor, again, directed the jury to the trial court's
instruction and correctly stated that Appellant was
presumed sane and had the burden to prove that he
was not sane. However, he mistakenly stated that
Appellant's burden was "beyond a reasonable doubt."!!
It is apparent from these facts that the proseculor's
comment was not a blatant attempt to misstate the
burden of proof. As the prosecutor correctly stated the
burdens in her initial argument, [**72] defense counsel
comrectly stated the State's burden, and the trial court
adequately instructed the jury on the issue, we find that
the error was not plain or obvious in this instance.

(*P130] Third, Appellant claims that the prosecutor
improperly bolstered the testimony of Dr. Hall with
hearsay. He does not challenge Hall's reliance or
relation of the hearsay at frial but, instead, argues that
the prosecutor improperly used the evidence during
closing argument to argue that Appellant was deceptive
to his own attorneys. We note that Appellant waived
appellate review of this claim when he failed to
challenge the prosecutor's remarks at trial. Malone
2013 OK CR 1, 1140, 293 P.3d at 211. We review the
claim for plain error under the test set forth in Simpson
and determine whether he has shown an actual error
that is plain or obvious. /d.. 2013 OK CR 1.1 41,293
P.3d at 211.

[*P131] Appellant's claim is not supported by the
record. The prosecutor's argument did not constitute
improper bolstering. Marquez v. State, 1995 OK CR 17,
118,890 P.2d 980, 985 (holding witness's prior

consistent statement could not be admitted to bolster
credibility of witness when witness had not been
impeached). The prosecutor did not argue that
Appellant had been deceptive to his own attorneys.
Instead, the prosecutor properly summarized Hall's
testimony [**73] conceming jailer Dallas Cowen's
observation that Appellant's "behavior changed" "when
the doctors and the lawyers showed up in the jail." The
prosecutor's comment “still in that planning stage"
suggesting that Appellant had planned his insanity

"It is not entirely cerain that the court reporter precisely
captured the prosecutor's argument. | note that there are
numerous inslances within the transcripts which give the
reader a vague sense that a word was inexactly captured.
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defense from the very beginning of the offense was a
reasonable inference based upon the evidence at trial.
As the prosecutor's comments fell within the wide
latitude afforded counsel during closing argument, we
find that Appellant has not shown that error, plain or
otherwise, occurred.

[*P132] Fourth, Appellant argues that the prosecutor
argued facts not in evidence when discussing the cash
register receipt from the Teepee Totem. As Appellant
failed to raise this challenge at trial, we find that he has
waived appellate review of this issue for all but plain
error, and review the claim for plain error pursuant to the

test set forth in Simpson.Malone, 2013 OK CR 1, .40,
293 P.3d at 211.

[*P133] Appellant introduced the cash register receipts
from the Teepee Totem for the shift which he worked on
the night of Henry's murder. The receipts illustrated that
Appellant had used unconventional mathematics,
somewhat similar to common core math, to calculate
sales that evening. In closing argument, defense
counsel [**74] asserted that the receipts evinced
Appellant's psychotic break and insanity at the time of
the offense. The prosecutor countered in rebuttal
stating; "How many of you have been a clerk? How
many of you have been bored out of your minds and
decided to do something while you were sitting there? |
have ran a business in the past, and [ have seen clerks
do stuff like that."

[*P134] The prosecutor's request that the jurors use
their own experience in assessing whether the odd
entries were indicative of boredom or a psychotic break
was entirely proper. A prosecutor may properly urge the
jury to use common sense in assessing the evidence,
See Harris v. State, 2000 OK CR 20, 1137,_13 P.3d 489,
498,

[*P135] We reach a different conclusion as to the
prosecutor's comment on his own experience as a
business owner. As the prosecutor injected facts not in
the trial record, we find that the comment was improper
and constituted an actual error that was plain or
obvious. Dawkins v. State, 2011 OK CR 1, 1 19, 252
P.3d 214, 220 (finding prosecutor argued facts not in
evidence where he referenced evidence not in the trial
record). However, we find that the prosecutor's
comment did not constitute plain error, because the
isolated comment did not affect his substantial rights
and Appellant was not prejudiced by the extra-
record [**75] remark. /d.; Malone, 2013 OK CR 1, 41,
293 P.3d at 211 ("[T)his Court will correct plain error

only if the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity or
public reputation of the judicial proceedings or otherwise
represents a miscarriage of justice.") (quotations and
citation omitted). As discussed in Proposition VI, the
evidence would not have permitted the jury to find that
Appellant was insane at the time of the offense.
Therefore, no relief is required.

[*P136] Fifth, Appellant argues that the prosecutor
misstated the evidence concerning the mopped fioor in
the store and Appellant's farewell statement to his
grandfather. As Appellant failed to raise this challenge
at trial, we find that he has waived appellate review of
this issue for all but plain error, and review the claim for
plain eror pursuant to the test set forth in Simpson,
Maljone. 2013 OK CR 1, 1140, 293 P.3d at 211.

[*P137] HN30|"F] The law is clear that prosecutors
may not misstate the evidence. Langley v. State, 1991
OK CR 66, 1124, 813 P.2d 526, 531. However, they are
permitted to comment upon the evidence and draw
logical inferences therefrom. Grissom v. State, 2011 OK
CR 3. 1167, 253 P.3d 969, 992. A minor misstatement of
fact will not warrant a reversal unless, after a review of
the totality of the evidence, it appears the same could
have affected the outcome of the trial. Langley, 7991
OK CR 66, 1124, 813 P.2d at 531.

[*P138] The prosecutor's suggestion in the present
case that "[tjhe [™76] floor around the soda fountain
was wet, like it had been mopped" was reasonably
based upon the evidence at trial. Tammy Wilkerson was
the first person to discover the pool of blood in the
storeroom of the Teepee Totem. She testified that she
observed that the floor was a little wet near the fountain
drink dispenser. Wilkerson unmistakably hesitated when
defense counsel on cross-examination attempted to
secure her affirmation that this was to be expected
around a soda fountain. Deputy Michael Moore testified
that he observed droplets of blood leading from the
storeroom, through the store and out to the front doors.
He further observed a utility sink, mop, and a mop
bucket in the storeroom. Both Wilkerson and Moore
testified that they observed a cup of ice with a clear
liquid in it on the counter next to the soda dispenser,
Based upon this evidence, we find that the prosecutor
did not misstate the evidence.

[*P139] It appears that the prosecutor made a minor
misstatement of fact when he recounted Stanley
Bench's testimony in closing argument. Bench did not
testify that Appellant stated; "Good-bye, Grandpa. | love
you. Don't get hurt." Instead, Bench indicated that when
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Appellant declared, "Pa, [*77] | love you,” Bench had
replied, "l do you, too. Be careful out there and don't get
hurt." Reviewing the totality of the evidence, we find that
this minor misstaternent did not constitute plain error.
Appellant was not prejudiced by the misstatement, and
thus it did not affect his substantial rights. We conclude
that plain error did not occur.

[*P140] Sixth, Appellant argues that the prosecutor
improperly impeached his mother, Dana Huff, during the
second stage of the trial. He, first, claims that the
prosecutor used a "mix-up” about her violation of the
rule of sequestration to portray Huff as a liar and then
imputed this circumstance to the remainder of her
testimony. Appellant failed to raise this specific
challenge before the trial court, therefore, we find that
he has waived appellate review of this issue for all but
plain error, and review the claim for plain error pursuant
to the test set forth in Simpson. Malone, 2013 CK CR 1.
140, 293 P.3d at 211; Harmon v. Stafte, 2011 OK CR 6,
1136, 248 F.3d 918, 934 ("[W]hen a specific objection is
made at trial, this Court will not entertain a different
objection on appeal.”).

["P141] We are unpersuaded by Appellant's argument.
We note that the trial court is permitted to fashion a
proper remedy for the violation of the rule of
sequestration. See McKay v. City of Tulsa, 1988 OK CR
238, 116, 763 P.2d 703, 704 (holding [**78] trial court
properly allowed witness to take the stand despite
violation of rule of sequestration); Villanueva v. State
1985 OK CR 8, 11 2. 695 P.2d 858, 860 (disagreeing with
appellant’'s contention that exclusion of witness is
mandatory result of violation of the rule). We further
note that generally, the State is permitted to cross-
examine the defendant’s witnesses at frial concerning
any matter which is responsive to testimony given on
direct examination or which is material or relevant
thereto and which tends to elucidate, modify, explain,
contradict or rebut testimony given in chief by the

witness, Malone, 2013 OK CR 1, 1145, 293 P.3d at 212,

[*P142] Reviewing the record, we find that there was
no "mix-up." Defense counsel invoked the rule of
sequestration immediately prior to opening statements
in the first stage of the trial. When defense counsel
called Appellant's mother to testify, the State
approached and alleged a violation of the rule. During
the in camera hearing held on this issue, Huff admitted
to violating the rule and speaking to her husband about
his testimony after he had testified, as well as speaking
to another listed witness about his expected testimaony.
Acknowledging this fact, defense counsel suggested

that cross-examination as to credibility was the proper
remedy [**79] instead of exclusion of Huff's testimony.
Huff testified in Appellant's defense. On cross-
examination, she very reluctantly admitted to violating
the rule. As Huff clearly viclated the rle of
sequestration, we find that the prosecutor properly
impeached her with this fact.

[*P143] Second, Appellant argues that the State
impermissibly implied that Mrs. Huff lied during her son's
enlistment with the Navy. Dr. Grundy admitted during
his testimony that contrary to their statements to him
both Appellant and Mrs. Huff had certified that Appellant
did not have any educational, medical, psychiatric,
psychological, emotional or mental health problems on
his enlistment forms with the Navy, They further certified
that Appellant did not have trouble sleeping and had
never attempted suicide. Huff testified and
acknowledged Appellant's educational, medical,
emotional, and mental health problems as he was
growing up. She claimed that Appellant had always had
trouble sleeping and focused on harming himself during
the time that he was on medication to help his inability
to focus. When the prosecutor confronted Huff with her
lie to the Federal Government, Huff was evasive and
refused to acknowledge her untruthfulness. [**80] She
claimed that she did not remember the Navy asking her
about Appellant's educational history and only admitted
to lying about Appellant's bouts of sleeplessness if they
had, in fact, asked that question. She explained her
denial of Appellant's psychiatric history explaining that
she did not fee! that Appellant had any psychiatric
issues before joining the Navy. Ultimately, she admitted
to presenting a falsehood to the officer that investigated
the domestic violence incident between Appellant and
Farlan Huff. She further admitted that she had run
interference for Appellant his whole life. As the
prosecutor's questions 1o Huff tended to contradict or
rebut her testimony given on direct, we find that
Appellant has not shown that an eror, plain or
otherwise, occurred. The prosecutor's  cross-
examination was proper.

[*P144] Finally, Appellant argues that the prosecutor
improperly invoked sympathy for the victim during
second stage closing argument. Appellant failed to raise
this specific challenge before the trial court, therefore,
we find that he has waived appellate review of this issue
for all but plain error, and review the claim for plain error
pursuant to the test set forth in Simpson.Malone, 2013

OK CR 1, 140, 293 P.3d at 211; Harmon, 2011 OK CR
6, 1136, 248 P.3d at 934,
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J:P145] This [**81] Court has consistently held HN31|
4] it is improper for the prosecution to attempt to elicit
sympathy for victims. Garrison v. State, 2004 QK CR
35 9117, 103 P.3d 590, 610--11. However, we have
distinguished between the instance where a prosecutor
"overtly sought sympathy for the victims" and the
instance where the prosecutor's commenits likely evoked
an emotional reaction but were reasonable inferences
based upon the evidence at trial. Jackson v. State, 2007
OK CR 24, 27, 163 P.3d 596, 604. Comments which
are not a deliberate attempt to elicit sympathy but are
reasonable inferences based upon the evidence
generally fall within the wide range of permissible
argument. Id.; Bland, 2000 OK CR 11. 1.97._4 P.3d at
728.

[*P146] Appellant claims that the prosecutor invoked
sympathy by injecting her own thoughts and emotions
during clasing argument. The prosecutor's comment that
she had been upset about missing her daughter's Ag
show that day until she saw Henry's parents and
realized that she had been selfish was borderline.
Although the prosecutor's comment placed importance
on focusing on the trial at hand, her personal
observations were irrelevant and the comment had the
potential to invoke sympathy. However, we do not find
that the prosecutor's self-absorbed statement
constituted plain error. Appellant claims that the
prosecutor asked the jurors to imagine [**82] their
daughters and nieces in Henry's circumstances.
Although we have cautioned prosecutors against
encouraging jurors to imagine themselves as the victim
during the offense, we have concluded that these types
of comments do not constitute plain error. Srowning v.
State, 2006 OK CR 8, 1 37,_134 P.3d 816, 839. Taking
the prosecutor's comments in context, we find that
Appellant's claim is not supported by the record. The
prosecutor did not ask the jurors to imagine their
daughters and nieces in Henry's circumstances.
Instead, while comparing the diverse responses of the
differently aged women to Appellant's aggressive sexual
behavior, the prosecutor asked the jurors if Appellant’s
unwelcome physical contact with several of the young
female wilnesses would be a "big deal” if it had occurred
to their daughter or niece. As the prosecutor did not ask
the jurors in the present case to place either themselves
or their relatives in the victim's circumstances, we find
that plain error did not accur.

[*P147] Appellant also claims thal the prosecutor
invoked sympathy for Henry when he asked the jurors to
listen for a voice that was no longer there during the
rebuttal portion of the State's closing argument. While

the prosecutor should not encourage the jury [**83] to
impose the death penalty out of sympathy for the victim,
we find that the prosecutor's comment did not rise to the
level of plain error. Pickens v. Siate, 2001 OK CR 3, 1
40, 19 P.3d 866, 880 (finding prosecutor's request for
jurors to remember that last person the victim saw was
the defendant and the last sound the victim heard was
sound of thunder from gun did not rise to the level of
plain error). We note that the victim's silence occurred
as a result of Appellant's criminal act and thus the
prosecutor's argument was reasonably based upon the
evidence at trial,

[*P148] Finally, Appellant claims that the prosecutor
invoked sympathy when he compared the in-life
photograph of Henry with one of the post-mortem
photographs of her. We are not persuaded by this
argument.

[*P149] The record reveals that the State introduced
as State's Exhibit Number 1 a recent school portrait of
Henry to show her general appearance and condition
before her death pursuant to 12 0.8 Supp.2003, §
2403. During second stage closing argument the
prosecutor compared the in-life photo with a post-
mortem photo depicting the injuries to Henry's head,
face, neck, and shoulders. The prosecutor stated that
one image reflected Henry before Appellant's attack and
the other image reflected her appearance after [**84]
Appellant was done with her. Appellant's suggestion that
members of the public gasped during this display is not
supported by the record. The affidavit which he
references Is not part of the record and we do not
consider it. Bland, 2000 OK CR 11, §.115. 4 P.3d at
731, The trial court instructed the jurors to not let
sympathy, except for the defendant, enter into its
deliberations.

[*P150] The prosecutor's contrasting of the two images

did not render Appellant's trial fundamentally unfair. See
Mitchell, 2011 OK CR 26,_1_75_270 P.3d at 179,
overruled on other grounds by Nicholson v. Stale, 2018
OK CR 10, 9% 171-12, 421 P.3d 890 895 {finding
prosecutor's display and contrasting of pre-death and
post-moriem photographs in closing argument did not
deny appellant a fair trial). In short, the prosecutor's
actions did not unfairly evoke sympathy for the victim so
much as it underscored the nature of Appellant's crime.
As the prosecutor's display was reasonably based upon
the evidence at trial we conclude that Appellant has not
shown that plain error occurred.

[*P151] Reviewing the entire record, the cumulative
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effect of the prosecutor's comments and conduct did not
deprive Appellant of a fundamentally fair trial or
sentencing proceeding. The evidence strongly
supported the jury's determination of both guilt and
recommendation as to sentence. Proposition [**85] VI
is denied.

[*P152] In Proposition VIll, Appellant raises several
challenges to the admission of State's Exhibit Number 1,
the inlife photograph of Henry. The State introduced the
photo pursuant to the language within 12

0.5.8upp.2003, _§ 2403 allowing the admission of a

photograph of a criminal homicide victim while alive.

[*P153] Appellant, first, asserts that this statutory
provision is unconstitutional. He argues that in-life
photographs are never relevant and inject passion and
sympathy into the trial proceedings. This Court has
repeatedly rejected these arguments. Grant v. State
2009 OK CR 11, 1152, 205 P.3d 1, 22: Glossip, 2007 OK
CR 12, T .77-80. 157 P.3d at 156-57; Coddington v.
State, 2006 OK CR 34, 11 53--57, 142 P.3d at 452--53.
The arguments and authorities which Appellant presents
raise nothing new. Marquez-Burrola v. Stale, 2007 QK
CR 14. 1M 29-31,_157 P.3d 749, 760. We continue to
find that HN32|?] this statutory provision is
constitutional.

['P154] Appellant further argues that, under the
circumstances of this case, the indife photo was more
prejudicial than probative. He asserts that the
prosecutor's comparison of the in-life photograph of
Henry with a post-mortem photograph of her during
second stage closing argument rendered his trial
fundamentally unfair.'2 We determined in Proposition
Vit that the prosecutor's act of displaying these images
did not render Appellant's trial fundamentally unfair.

[*P155] The photograph admitted in the present case
was an [**86] appropriate snapshot of the decedent
offered to show her general appearance and condition
while alive. During second stage closing argument the
prosecutor compared the in-life photo with a photo of
Henry's body shortly after it was discovered. The post-
mortem photo depicted the injuries to Henry's head,
face, neck, and shoulders. Comparison of these two

'Z Appellant's suggestion that members of the public gasped
when the prosecutor displayed the photo next to an image
depicting Henry's facial injuries is not supported by the record.
The affidavit which he references is not part of the record and
we do not consider it. Bland, 2000 OK CR 11, 1115, 4 P.3d ai
731,

photos was the only means to grasp the true extent of
Henry's injuries and the nature of Appellant's crime. As
the contrasting images tended to establish both serious
physical abuse and the calloused nature of Appellant,
the photos held great probative value concerning the
State's alleged aggravating circumstances. Giving the
in-life photo its maximum reasonable probative force
and its minimum reasonable prejudicial value, we find
that the photo's probative value was not substantially
outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Mayes, 1994 OK CR
44, 77, 887 P.2d at 1310. Proposition VIl is denied.

ALLEGATIONS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF
COUNSEL

[*P156] In Proposition IV, Appellant challenges the
effectiveness of defense counsel in both stages of the
trial. HN33[{¥] This Court reviews ineffective assistance
of counsel claims under the two-part test mandated by
the United States Supreme Court in Strickland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668. 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064,
80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) [**87]) . Malone, 2013 OK CR 1,
T 74, 293 P.3d at 206. The Strickland test requires an
appellant to show: (1) that counsel's performance was
constitutionally deficient; and (2) that counsel's deficient
performance prejudiced the defense. /d.

[*P157] The Court begins its analysis with the strong
presumption that counsel's conduct fell within the wide
range of reasonable professional assistance. Strickland,
466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct _at 2065. Agppellant must
overcome this presumption and demonstrate that
counsel's representation was unreasonable under
prevailing professional norms and that the challenged
action could not be considered sound trial strategy. /d.

[*P158] HN34[7'-‘] When a claim of ineffectiveness of
counsel can be disposed of on the ground of lack of
prejudice, that course should be followed. Malone, 2013
OK CR 1 1Y 16, 293 P.3d at 207. To demonstrate
prejudice an appellant must show that there is a
reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial
would have been different but for counsel's
unprofessional errors. /d. "The likelihood of a different
result must be substantial, not just conceivable."
Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 112, 131 S.Ct. 770,
792178 L. Ed.2d 624 (2011). When a defendant
challenges a death sentence, the question is whether
there is a reasonable probability that, absent counsel's
errors, the sentencer would have concluded that the
balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did
not warrant death. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695,104 S.CI.
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at 2069.

[*P159] Appellant raises several claims of ineffective
assistance predicated on circumstances within the
record on appeal. He, first, claims that defense counsel
was [**88] ineffective for failing to object to several of
the instances he alleged constituted prosecutorial
miscenduct in Proposition VI. We determined in
Proposition VIl that the challenged comments and
conduct did not deprive Appellant of a fundamentally fair
frial and sentencing proceeding. As such, we find that
Appeitant has not shown a reasonable probability that
the outcome of the trial would have been different but
for counsel's alleged failures. Glossip, 2007 OK CR 12,
1713, 157 P.3d at 161 (rejecting ineffective assistance
of counsel claim where underlying claim did not rise to
the level of plain error).

[*P160] Second, Appellant claims that counsel was
ineffective for failing to object to the expert testimony of
Dr. Terese Hall which he argued was improper in
Proposition VI. We determined in that Proposition that
Appellant had not shown that Dr. Terese Hall's
testimony constituted plain error. As such, we find that
Appellant has not shown ineffective assistance of
counsel under Strickland. I/d.. 2007 OK CR 12 Y 112,
157 P.3d at 161.

[*P161] Third, Appellant claims that counsel was
ineffective for failing to impeach Dr. Hall's testimony. He
argues that counsel should have impeached Hall with
Clayton Jenson's trial testimony. Solely citing Jenson's
testimony for the defense, Appellant [**89] asserts that
defense counsel could have undercut Dr. Hall's
testimony by questioning her conceming Jenson's
statements. Taking Jenson's testimony in the full context
of the trial, we find that Appellant has not shown that
counsel's conduct fell outside the wide range of
reasonable professional assistance.

[*P162] Appellant's cousin, Clayton Jenson, testified
for both the State and the defense at trial. Although
Jenson extrapolated on his statements as the trial went
on, his account remained consistent. Jenson testified in
the State's case-in-chief that he regularly spoke with
Appellant and spent approximately 2 hours with
Appellant on the day of Henry's murder. He indicated
that Appellant was able to engage him in meaningful
conversation and they discussed their future plans
together that day. Although Appellant had previously
voiced concerns that other people might think he was
different or crazy, Jenson did not see any sign of these
things. Jenson testified that he did not see anything

wrong with Appellant on the day of Henry's death.

[*P163] Jenson expounded on Appellant's concerns
while testifying in Appellant's defense, He recounted
that Appellant had talked about things bothering him in
his [**90] room, like a demon. Appellant had also stated
that a man and a woman were hunting him, trying to find
him and kill him, because he knew too much from what
he had done in the military. He had claimed that he had
a chip in his brain like a universal soldier science project
and proclaimed that he was afraid of going to the doctor
for fear that he would be committed. Jenson advised
that Appellant has stated that he had gone days without
sleeping.

[*P164] On cross-examination, Jenson affirmed that he
did not believe that there was anything wrong with
Appellant during the two weeks preceding Henry's
death. He explained that he did not believe Appeliant's
statements at that time. Jenson related that Appellant
was clean and had good hygiene. He had meaningful
conversations with Jenson. He was rational during these
conversations and Jenson did not see anything to
indicate that Appellant had any problem. Jenson
testified that, consistent with his former testimony, he
still did not believe that there was anything wrong with
Appellant.

[*P165] On redirect, defense counsel secured
Jenson's affirmation that he did not want to believe
Appellant's statements at the time. Jenson also affirmed
that he had just blown [**91] Appellant off because he
did not want to hear it.

[*P166] Dr. Hall testified in rebuttal for the State. She
indicated she relied upon information from Jenson in
forming her opinion that Appellant was sane at the time
of Henry's murder. Hall observed that Jenson's
statements to her two years after Henry's death were
consistent with his initial statements. Jenson reported
that Appellant and he were about the same age and
spent quite a bit of time together, including on the day of
the offense. Jenson did not see anything wrong with
Appellant and believed that he was normal.

[*P167]) When defense counsel cross-examined Hall,
he did not seek to impeach Hall with Jenson's testimony
for the defense. However, we find that counsel's
omission did not constitute ineffective assistance of
counsel. As outlined above, Jenson's testimony
remained consistent. He wholly acknowledged
Appellant's claims but consistently maintained that he
did not believe that Appellant had mental health
problems based upon the fact that he did not see any
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signs to support Appellants claims. Even after
disclosing the nature and extent of Appellant's claims,
Jenson explicitly testified that, consistent with his former
testimony, he still [**92] did not believe that there was
anything wrong with Appellant. Since Jenson's
testimony in defense would not have undercut his
statements to Hall or his testimony in the State's case-
in-chief, we find that counsel's conduct fell within the
wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

[*P168] Appellant also argues that counsel was
ineffective for failing to impeach Dr. Hall with her
testimony in another case. He cites to this Court's
unpublished opinion in Fears v. State, F-2004-1279
{Okla. Cr., July 7, 2006) as evidencing Dr. Hall's
testimony. However, Appellant has not provided any
authority establishing that defense counsel would have
been able to use this Court's unpublished opinion to
impeach Dr. Hall. Although the author of Fears
described certain statements from Dr. Hall's testimony in
that case, this Court's opinion in Fears does not
constitute Dr. Hall's prior testimony. See Roy v._State,
2006 OK CR 47, 1.20._152 P.3d 217, 224 n. 20 {finding
transcript constitutes official record of the case); Rule
2.2(D), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal
Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 18, App. (2017) ("The transcript
prepared by the court reporter shall constitute the record
of the proceedings from which it was transcribed.”). Dr.
Hall's testimony from Fears is not within the record on
appeal and Appellant has [*93] not sought to
supplement the record with the official court reporter's
transcripts from that trial. As such, we must conclude
that Appellant has not shown that counsel's
performance was constitutionally deficient.

[*P169] Even if we were to consider the statements
which Appellant recounts from Fears, we would find that
it did not undermine Dr. Hall's testimony in the present
case. Hall's testimony did not materially differ. To the
contrary, the facts in Fears actually reveal that Hall's
testimony remained consistent. The officers who
arrested the defendant in Fears observed signs of
mental iliness in him and the defendant, himself,
verbalized a delusion to one of the officers. These were
the very circumstances which Dr. Hall cited as missing
from Appellant's conversations with Clayton Jenson,
Stanley Bench, Deputy Quinton Short, and Detention
Officer Brown and which led her to conclude that
Appellant had not suffered a psychotic break. Therefore,
we are forced to conclude that Appellant has not shown
that there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of
the trial would have been different but for counsel's
failure to use Hall's testimony from the Fears case.

[*P170] Appellant also argues that[*94] counsel
should have impeached Dr. Hall with the conclusions of
Scott Orth, Ph.D. and Peter Rausch, Ph.D. of the
Oklahoma Forensic Center. We note that Dr. Orth's
competency report and Dr. Rausch's testimony from
Appellant's competency trial were both filed of record in
the case and are among the items which Dr. Hall
reviewed in formulating her opinion at trial.

[*P171] Although this information was readily available
to impeach Dr. Hall at trial, we are not convinced that
the conclusions of Dr. Oth and Dr. Rausch were
favorable to Appellant's defense because their
observations and conclusions were more consistent with
Dr. Hall's testimony than Appellant's own expert. Dr.
Grundy testified that Appellant appeared psychotic
when he visited him. Grundy did not find any evidence
of malingering. He found that Appellant suffered active
symptoms of mental illness, such as delusions and
hallucinations, which caused him not to understand the
legal wrongness of his behavior at the time of the
offense.

[*P172] Dr. Orth's report contrasted with Grundy's
findings. Orth clearly found evidence of either fabrication
or feigning when he evaluated Appellant in February of
2013. Dr. Orth did not see any overt evidence [**95]} of
Appellant's self-proclaimed hallucinations or delusions
and noted that Appellant gave “"vague and unusual
responses regarding his experiences of psychiatric
symptoms." Orth assessed Appellant with the MMPI-2 to
determine  whether  Appellant was  “feigning
psychopathology." He wrote in his report that the testing
indicated that Appellant "may have been responding to
items In a manner to communicate that he is very
psychologically disturbed when in fact that is not the
case” or "he may have been responding to items in a
manner to draw attention to negative characteristics,
exaggerating his self-reported psychological symptoms
as a plea for help.” Orth did not conclusively determine
whether Appellant was faking or exaggerating his
symptoms. Instead, he wrole that it was his
"conservative opinion” that it was more likely that
Appellant had exaggerated his psychological symptoms
as a plea for help. Ultimately, Orth determined that
Appellant was not a person requiring treatment.

[*P173] Although Orth's "conservative opinion” did not
exactly match Hall's conclusion that Appellant was
malingering, overall Orth's report tended to corroborate
Dr. Hall's testimony. Hall testified that Appellant's
results [*96] on the two scales for assessing over-
reporting or exaggeration on the MMPI-2 were
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extremely high. Appellant admits that the results of Dr.
Orth's administration of the exam to Appellant were
similar to the results which Dr. Hall obtained. Orth's
report was consistent with Dr. Hall's explanation that
she did not see any overt evidence of psychosis during
her evaluation of Appellant. It also corroborated Hall's
account that Appellant's report of delusions was very
unusual.

[*P174] As with Dr. Orth, we find that Dr. Rausch's
testimony tended to corroborate Hall's observations and
opinion. Dr. Rausch testified that he performed an
outpatient evaluation with Appellant in March of 2014.
The evaluation tock place in an interview room over the
course of approximately one hour. Rausch did not see
any need to retest Appellant and simply relied upon his
coworker, Dr. Orth's, prior testing of Appellant. Rausch
indicated that he agreed with Orth's interpretation of
Appellant's MMPI-2 testing. He indicated that the results
revealed either that Appellant was “feigning
psychological symptoms and pathology" or was
endorsing a lot of symptoms and over-reporting as a cry
for help. Rausch also testified that[**97] Appellant
engaged in fairly unusual behavior during his evaluation.
Dr. Rausch did not have any reason to dispute Orth's
finding that Appellant did not have any substantial
symptoms. Each of these findings was consistent with
Dr. Hall's observations and tended to contradict Dr.
Grundy's testimony. As such, we find that Appellant has
not shown that counsel's performance fell outside the
wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

[*P175]) Similarly, Appellant has not shown prejudice
from counsel's omission. The evidence at trial strongly
indicated that Appellant was sane at the time of the
offense. When Appellant enlisted in the Navy in
November of 2011, his mother verified that he did not
have any mental health issues. The Navy had a doctor
examine Appellant and he certified that Appellant did
not have any psychiatric issues. After Appellant was
discharged for going AWOL, his stepfather had him
seen by a mental health professional on two separate
occasions. Neither mental health professional
determined that Appellant was a person requiring
treatment.

[*P176] Appellant's actions on the day of the murder
evinced his sanity. Neither Stanley Bench nor Clayton
Jenson observed Appellant acting out[**98] of the
ordinary that night. Appellant did not report any
delusions to them. Appellant's behavior immediately
after killing Henry appeared to be rational, goal-oriented
action. He quickly attempted to conceal the crime by

secreting Henry out of the store and hiding her body in a
semi-secluded area near his home. Appellant attempted
to escape from the State in Henry's car afier washing
himself and covering up his blood soaked clothes.

[*P177] Appellant acted coherent and rational when he
later interacted with the law enforcement officials that
night. He appeared lucid and normal to both Deputy
Quinton Short and Detention Officer Kendall Brown. Dr.
Grundy admited that there was not any independent
evidence to corrocborate Appellant's claimed delusions.

[*P178] The audio tape of Appellant's conversation
with Brown was convincing. Appellant did not relate any
delusions during the conversation. He was self-directed
and voluntarily initiated a discussion with Brown
concerning the viability of an insanity defense.
Appellant's comments illustrated his prior knowledge
concerning psychological evaluations and feigning
mental illness.

[*P179] The evidence also strongly suggested that
Appellant was feigning mental illness. [**99] Although
Appellant had passed Dr. Grundy's tests for
malingering, Appellant's test results on the MMPI-2
tended to indicate that he was feigning or over-reporting
symptoms. Appellant took two MMPI-2 tests. Both tests
indicated that Appellant was feigning or over-reporting
mental health symptoms. When Dr. Hall gave Appellant
the MMPI-2 after Grundy's evaluation, the scores
indicated that Appellant was exaggerating and over-
reporting. Even Dr. Grundy had to admit that Appellant
might not be the most truthful person in the world.

[*P180] Dr. Hall did not see any evidence of severe
psychosis in Appellant. At the time of trial, Appellant still
maintained that he was not mentally ill. None of the
seven separate mental health professionals who had
evaluated Appellant found that he was a person
requiring treatment. Only Dr. Grundy had diagnosed
Appellant as insane on the night of the offense. Despite
Grundy's belief that Appellant had schizophrenia and
was psychotic when he first evaluated him, Appellant
was able to appear at trial and participate in his defense
without taking any medication for the condition.

[*P181] In light of the evidence of Appellant's sanity
and feigning we conclude that the evidence [**100]
would not have permitted the jury to find that Appellant
was insane at the time of the offense. Accordingly, we
find that Appellant has not shown a reasonable
probability that the outcome of the trial would have been
different had counsel attempted to impeach Dr. Hall with
Dr. Orth's competency report and Dr. Rausch's
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testimony from the competency trial.

[“P182] Fourth, Appellant asserts that counsel was
ineffective because she wholly abandoned the theme
that he was a severely mentally ill individual during the
second stage of the trial. He alleges that this caused an
unreasonable inconsistency between his first and
second stage defenses. We find that Appellant's
assertion is not supported by the record. Counsel
emphasized Appellant's mental health issues during
both stages of the trial.

[*P183] Although counsel did not explicitly mention the
term "schizophrenia” during the second stage, counsel
presented testimony from several witnesses concerning
Appellant's mental health. She introduced testimony
from Naval Chief, Andre Southerland, who had
overseen Appellant's training in boot camp. Chief
Southerland had sent Appellant for a psychiatric
evaluation during his extended time in boot camp.
Counse! [**101] also called Appellant's best friend,
Anthony Michael Popovich, to testify. Popovich
interacted with Appellant while he was AWOL from the
Navy and testified as to Appellant's mental state during
this time. Popovich related that Appellant appeared
disturbed, acted paranoid, and informed him that he was
working “Special Ops" doing top secret work for the
Navy. Defense counsel introduced Rebecca Becker's
testimony that Appellant appeared both disoriented and
scared at the arraignment following his arrest for
stealing a vehicle while AWOL. She also presented
Farlan Huff's testimony concemning Appellant's mental
health and his attempts to have Appellant admitted for
treatment after he came home from the Navy. Counsel
called Sharon Clements of Ada's Program of Assertive
Community Treatment to explain why they were unable
to help Appellant.

[*P184] Counsel's second stage closing argument
emphasized that Appellant's mental health problems
played a large role in his life and were mitigating. Thus,
the record reflects that defense counsel presented a
consistent defense across hoth stages of the trial
centering upon a downtum in Appellant's mental health
following his time in the Navy. As such, we find [**102]
that Appellant has not shown that counsel's
performance fell outside the wide range of reasonable
professional assistance.

[*P185] Appellant also raises several claims of
ineffective assistance of counsel predicated on
circumstances outside the record. Simultaneous with
the filing of his Brief, Appellant filed his Application for

Evidentiary Hearing on Sixth Amendment Claim.
Appellant seeks to supplement the record on appeal
pursuant to both Rule 3.11(A) and 3.11(B), Rules of the
Oklahoma Couwrt of Criminal Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 18,
App. (2017} and requests an evidentiary hearing on his
claims of ineffective assistance. We must address
Appellant's application before we can determine his
claims of ineffective assistance.

[*P186] HN35|'1’] This Court analyzes requests to
supplement the record which are based upon ineffective
assistance of counsel claims pursuant to Rule 3.11(B).
Day v. State, 2013 OK CR 8, Y 10, 303 P.3d 291, 297.
Rule 3.11(A) solely allows this Court to supplement the
record on appeal with items admitted during
proceedings in the trial court but which were not
designated or actually included in the record on appeal.
Id.; McEimurry v. State, 2002 OK CR 40, 11 167, 60 P.3d
4, 36 (holding Rule 3.11(B) strictly limits
supplementation under Rule 3.11(A) to matters which
were presented to the trial court). Rule 3.11(A) is not
intended to allow parties to bolster a trial record with
extra-record documents or evidence. /d. In contrast,
Rule 3.11(B)(3)(b) enables [**103] an appellant to
qualify for an evidentiary hearing to support his or her
claim of ineffective assistance of counsel by submitting
affidavits and extra-record documents attached to his
application for evidentiary hearing. Hancock v. State,
2007 OKCR 9. f 112, 155 P.3d 796, 822, overruled on
other grounds by Williamson v. State, 2018 OK CR 15,
422 P.3d 752.

[*P187] As Appellant has not argued for
supplementation with items admitted during proceedings
in the triat court but which were not designated or
actually included in the record on appeal, we find that
his request for supplementation under Rule 3.11(A)
must be denied. We review his request to supplement
the record in support of his Sixth Amendment claim
pursuant Rule 3.11(B)(3Xb).

[*P188] HN36|?] This Court reviews an application
under Rule 3.41(B)3)(b) pursuant to the analysis set
forth in Simpson v. State, 2010 OK CR 6, 153, 230 P.3d
888, 905--906. We review and consider an appellant's
application and affidavits along with other attached non-
record evidence to determine whether the appellant has
provided sufficient information to show this Court by
clear and convincing evidence that there is a strong
possibility trial counsel was ineffective for failing to
utilize or identify the evidence at issue. /d. This standard
is less demanding than the test imposed by Strickland.
Id.
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[*P189] Reviewing Appellant's application under this
standard, we find that he has not shown clear and
convincing [**104] evidence that there is a strong
possibility that counsel was ineffective for failing to
identify or utilize the proffered evidence. Appellant
asserts in his application that counsel was ineffective for
failing to effectively cross-examine his co-worker at the
Teepee Totem, Melissa Lynn. Arguing that Lynn's
testimony at trial was in direct conflict with her statement
to the police, Appellant refers us to Exhibit "1" to his
application. This exhibit appears to be a copy of the
DVD recording of Lynn's statement to Law Enforcement.
Lynn's statements to the investigating officer in Exhibit
"1" substantially conformed to her testimony at trial. The
only exception was that Lynn informed the investigating
officer that Appellant was slow and was not catching on.
She explained that part of the reason that Appellant was
slow was because he was young and liked to flit with
every girl that came into the store.

[*P190] It appears that the State provided Exhibit "1" to
the defense prior to trial. Comparing Lynn's testimony at
trial with Exhibit "1" we find that Lynn's testimony was
not false or misleading. Although defense counsel did
not impeach Lynn with her prior statement that
Appellant was slow and [**105] was not catching on,
we find that Appellant has not shown that defense
counsel's decision could not be considered sound trial
strategy. Since Lynn parly attributed Appellant's
slowness to the fact that he was young and liked to flirt
with every girl that came into the store, we find that it
was reasonable for counsel fo omit this impeachment
evidence. Delving into this topic with Lynn had the
potential to undercut the defense's other evidence that
Appellant was actually slow. Clearly, the defense
wanted to avoid portraying Appellant as having
approached other young females in the store.

[*P191] We further find that Appellant has not shown
that there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of
the trial would have been different had defense counsel
impeached Lynn. We note that defense counsel
presented the testimony of several teachers and
neighbors from Appellant's childhood. These individuals
testified that Appellant had a learning disability and was
in special education classes as he grew up. Counsel
also presented Chief Southerland's testimony that
Appellant required extra attention and did not do well in
boot camp because he was slow and could not
complete more than a 3 step process. [**106]
Southerland sent Appellant to the Navy's special
program which was akin to special education; however,
it was apparent that Appellant was not going to

complete boot camp even before he went AWOL. This
testimony more than subsumed the evidence which
Appellant contends defense counsel should have
introduced. Accordingly, we find that Appellant has not
shown clear and convincing evidence of a strong
possibility that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to
impeach Lynn with the proffered evidence. Simpson,

2010 QK CR 6, 1153, 230 P.3d at 905--906,

[*P192] Appellant further asserts in his application that
counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach Lynn with
the civil lawsuit which Henry's family filed against
Appellant, the Teepee Totem, and its owners. He refers
us to Exhibit "2" to his application. This exhibit appears
to be a copy of a Petition alleging that Appellant, the
Teepee Totem, and its owners we liable for the wrongful
death of Henry. Lynn is not mentioned in the alleged
petition,

[*P193] Appefiant has not provided any authority
establishing that defense counsel would have been able
to use this lawsuit to impeach Lynn. As Appellant has
failed to establish that counsel's performance was
constitutionally deficient, we, again, find [**107] that
Appellant has not shown clear and convincing evidence
of a strong possihility that trial counsel was ineffective
for failing to utilize or identify the proffered evidence.

Simpson, 2010 OK CR 6. 153, 230 P.3d at 905--908.

[*P194] Appellant further asserts in his application that
counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge Dr. Hall's
opinion that he was "malingering" or "faking" mental
illness and her suggestion that it was easy to fool the
Structured Interview of Reported Symptoms ("SIRS).
Appellant argues that counsel should have called Dr.
Grundy to testify in surrebuttal and impeach Dr. Hall's
testimony on these points. He refers us to Exhibit "4" to
his application. This exhibit is the affidavit of Dr. Curtis
Grundy, Appellant's psychological expert from trial. The
affidavit alleges that Dr. Grundy consulted with the
defense team after Dr. Hall's testimony and informed
them that he would not recommend his testifying in
surrebuttal. Now, in hindsight, Grundy believes that if he
had testified he could have challenged Dr. Hall's
testimony suggesting that Appellant was "malingering”
or "faking.”

[*P195] We refuse to review counsel's performance in
the lens of hindsight. Robinson v. State, 1997 OK CR
24, 9 21, 937 P.2d 101. _108. Defense counsel's
apparent reliance upon Dr. Grundy's expertise [**108]
in determining whether to call him in surrebuttal was a
strategic decision. That Grundy and appellate counsel
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have now imagined ways to impeach Dr. Hall is not
persuasive. See Hancock, 2007 OK CR 9, §1 113, 155
P.3d at 822 ("Imaginative criticisms of trial counsel's
performance issue all too readily from the gainful
vantage of a zealous hindsight.”

[*P196] We further find that Appellant has not shown a
reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial
would have been different had counsel called Grundy in
surrebuttal. Grundy's testimony at trial conceming
"malingering” and "faking" was consistent with Dr. Hall's
trial testimony. Dr. Grundy recounted that he gave
Appellant two different tests to determine if he was
malingering. One of the tests assessed "feigning or
fabricating symptoms of mental illness” and the other
test assessed "whether someone is trying to feign or
fake memory impaiment.” Dr. Grundy agreed that
equating malingering with “faking” was a lay-person's
way of viewing it. On cross-examination, Grundy
admitted that Appellant was not the most truthful
person. Accordingly, we find that Appellant has not
shown clear and convincing evidence of a strong
possibility that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to
call [**109] Dr. Grundy in surrebuttal. Simpson. 2010
OK CR 8 153, 230 P.3d at 905--906.

[*P197] Appellant further asserts in his application that
counsel was ineffective for failing to present the
testimony of a mitigation specialist in the second stage
of the trial. He refers us to Exhibit "3" of his application.
This exhibit is the affidavit of David Musick, Ph.D., a
retired sociologist from the University of Northem
Colorado, who claims to be a mitigation specialist. Dr.
Musick alleges that he was retained to construct a social
history in Appellant's case; reviewed all of the material
which counsel sent him; interviewed Appellant, his
mother, and half-brother; prepared a report; appeared at
Appellant's trial to testify; but defense counsel! did not
call him to testify because he did not want the jury to
hear 4 lines of information contained in his report.
Attachment "B" to Musick's affidavit is his self-styled
original report.!3 The ostensible language from Musick's
report professes that Appellant had told his grandmother
that young customers at the convenience store had
called him cruel names.' It further denoted that the last

'IAttachment "A" is Dr. Musick's Curriculum Vita and
Attachment "C" appears lo be a diagram of the family
dynamics in Appellant's family.

"4 Evincing the unproven nalure of the exhibit, Appellant and
the State debate whether Dr. Musick's attribution of this
statementl to Appellant’s grandmother was accurate.

thought of Appellant's mother was that Appellant might
have reached his limit after taking years and years of
abuse.

[*P198] Despite [**110] Musick's acknowledgment of
counsel's reason for not calling him as a witness at trial,
Appellant asserts that Musick's testimony was
necessary to explain and personalize the other
mitigation evidence which counsel presented. This
Court has explicitly rejected the notion that capital
defense counsel must use the services of a "mitigation
specialist." Marguez-Burrola, 2007 OK CR 14, 1160, 157
P.3d at 767--68. HN37[¥] "Defense counsel's decision
not to present particular evidence in mitigation may be
sound trial strategy.” Coddington, 20711 OK CR 21, 1119,
259_P.3d at 839. Similarly, the question of which
witnesses to call on a criminal defendant's behalf is a
matter of trial strateqy. Camron v. State, 1992 OK CR
17. 1132, 829 P.2d 47, 54. An appellant must show that
capital defense counsel's strategic decision to not call a
witness was objectively unreasonable. /d.; Bobby v. Van
Hook. 558 U.S. 4, 9, 130 S.Ct. 13 17, 175 L.Ed.2d 255

(2009}

[*P199] Appellant has not made this showing in the
present case. He has neither argued nor shown that
counsel's strategic decision to not call Musick as a
witness to avoid his being questioned about the 4 lines
was objectively unreasonable. We note that these 4
lines were inconsistent with Appellant's first stage
defense. We cannot fault counsel for maintaining a
consistent defense through both stages of the trial. See
Taylor v. State, 2000 OK CR 6, 1. 48, 938 P.2d 1225,
1237, abrogated on other grounds by Malone v. Siate
2007 OK CR 34, 168 P.3d 185 (refusing to second
guess trial counsel's [**111] decision to maintain
consistent defenses in first and second stage of trial).

[*P200] Appellant has also failed to demonstrate
prejudice from counsel's decision to not call Musick as a
witness. Counsel presented the great majority of the
information contained in Dr. Musick's affidavit and
Report through the testimony of the numerous
witnesses that counsel called during the second stage
of the trial, Therefore, much of Musick's testimony would
have been cumulative and not likely to have had an
immense effect on the jury. At the same time, certain of
Dr. Musick's conclusions could be considered
detrimental to Appellant's case in mitigation. Musick's
conclusion that Appellant killed Henry as a reaction to
years and years of bullying was not so compelling as to
have shifted the jury's weighing of the evidence in
aggravation and mitigation. Nothing in the record
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suggests that Henry bullied or spoke harshly to
Appellant on the night of her death. That Appellant
allegedly took out the accumulated pain of years of
bullying on an innocent young female that ventured into
the store where he was working tends to support the
State’s theory that Appellant posed a continuing threat
to society.

[*P201] We also note [**112] that Musick's concluding
paragraph in his Report speculated that Appellant could
continue to engage in impulsive behavior, lack empathy,
and be aggressive in the future if his head injuries were
left untreated. This information also would have likely
tended to support the State's allegation that Appeliant
posed a continuing threat to society. As the great
majority of Musick's information was actually presented
to the jury and his ullimate conclusions might have
actually supported the State’'s case, we find that
Appellant has not shown a strong possibility that trial
counsel was ineffective for failing to utilize or identify the
proffered evidence. Simpson, 2010 OK CR 6_153,_230
P.3d at 305--906.

[*P202] Appellant further asserts in his application that
counse! was ineffective for failing to present the
testimony of a mental health expert in the second stage
of the trial. He, again, refers us to Exhibit “4," the
affidavit of Dr. Curtis Grundy. In his untested and
unproven affidavit, Dr. Grundy alleges that he could
have testified in the second stage of the trial that
Appellant met the criteria for diagnosis of schizophrenia.
He further alleges that schizophrenia is a severe mental
illness that requires ongoing treatment and that he
could [**113] have testified as to how this condition
impaired Appellant's functioning.

[*P203] Grundy's proffered statements are cumulative
to the testimony he actually gave in the first stage of the
trial. Grundy testified that he had diagnosed Appellant
as suffering from schizophrenia. He explained that this
accounted for his bizarre behavior afler his discharge
from the Navy, including his hallucinations, delusions,
grandiose ideas, paranoia, odd statements to others,
and boundary issues, i.e, failure to comply with notions
of personal space. Although wholly unnecessary,
defense counse! explicitly moved to introduce all of the
defense's evidence from the first stage of the trial into
evidence in the second stage of the trial. See 27
0.5.2011, § 701. 102 (providing that "all exhibits and a
transcript of all testimony and other evidence properly
admitted in the prior trial and sentencing shall be
admissible in [a] new sentencing proceeding.”). Thus,
the jury was free to consider Grundy's first stage

testimony and there was no reason for defense counsel
to call Grundy in the second stage of the trial. We,
again, find that Appellant has not shown clear and
convincing evidence of a strong possibility that counsel
was ineffective [™*114]} for failing to utilize or identify the

proffered evidence. Simpson, 2070 OK CR 6, 153, 230
P.3d at 905--806.

[*P204] Appellant further asserts in his application that
counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and
present neuroc-imaging evidence in both stages of the
trial. He cites to two different exhibits to his application
in support of this claim.

[*P205] Appellant refers us 1o Exhibit "5" to his
application for evidentiary hearing. This exhibit is the
affidavit of William Wemer Omison, M.D., the Chief of
Neuroradiology at Simon Med Imaging Centers in Las
Vegas, New Mexico. Dr. Orrison asserts that he
received the MRI data from Appellant's evaluation at the
University of Oklahoma Medical Center. He alleges that
Appellant has anomalies in four different areas of his
brain but does not relate those anomalies to Appellant's
behavior in any way. Dr. Orrison does not directly
correlate these alleged anomalies with any mental
defect disorder, disease, condition or illness. He has not
set farth any diagnosis of Appellant. Instead, Dr. Orrison
simply relates the problems which can result if a patient
has an anatomical abnormality in the specified areas of
the brain.

[*P206] Appellant further refers us to Exhibit "6" to his
application for evidentiary [**115] hearing. This exhibit
is the affidavit of Jason Faulus Kerkmans, J.D., the
Associate Director of MINDSET. Mr. Kerkmans asserts
that MINDSET's protocol exam is sufficient to identify a
wide range of structural brain abnormalities or
deviations which may be of behavioral and clinical
significance. He further asserts that additional imaging
is necessary because Appellant's current MRI imaging
data is not adequate to permit the full MINDSET
protocol.

[*P207] We find that Appellant has not established
prejudice from counsel's omission to present neuro-
imaging evidence at frial. The couris have not accepted
diagnosis of psychological conditions through neuro-
imaging as sufficiently reliable to be admissible under
the Daubert standard.'> See Jason P. Kerkmans, Lyn

5 Dauber! v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579,
113 8.Ct. 2786, 125 L.Ed.2d 469 (1993).
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M. Gaudet, Daubert on the Brain: How New Mexico's
Daubert Standard Should Inform its Handling of
Neuroimaging Evidence, 46 N.M.L. Rev, 383, 400-03

aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not
warrant death. Williams v. Taylor_ 529 U.5. 362, 397--
98 120 S. Ct._1495 1515 146 L. Ed. 2d 389 (2000);

(2016) (arguing that novel field of neuroc-imaging
diagnosis can be recognized by the law despite the
number of cases finding it does not meet the standard of
admissibility). This is because neuro-imaging methods
cannot readily determine whether a defendant knew
right from wrong, maintained criminal intent or suffered
from a  psychological [**116] condition  like
schizophrenia at the time of the criminal act. See
Arizona v. Pandeli, 242 Ariz. 175, 394 P.3d 2, 11 (Ariz.
2017) (finding counsel not ineffective for failing to
present brain imaging evidence because experts agreed
there was not a good correlation between scans and
cognitive ability); United States v. Merriweather, 921 F.
Supp.2d 1265, 1284 n. 26, 1300 {N.D. Ala. 2013)
(finding brain imaging questionable since medical
experts agreed that brain imaging cannot be used to
diagnose schizophrenia); United States v. Montgomery,
635 F£.3d 1074, 1090 (8th Cir. 2011) (finding PET scan
of brain could not be used to diagnosis Pseudocyesis);
Brant v. State, 197 So. 3d 1051, 1071 _(Fla. 2016)
(finding neuro-imaging could not identify abnormalities
as cause of criminal acts); Foster v. State, 132 So.3d
4058 (Fla. 2013} (distinguishing neuropsychologicat
testing from brain imaging tests of MRI, MRI and PET
scan). Thus, the proffered neurc-imaging evidence
would have been cumulative to the other evidence in
Appellant's defense.

[*P208] As more fully discussed, above, the evidence
at trial strongly indicated that Appellant was feigning a
severe mental illness. Appellant evinced knowledge of
both mental iliness and feigning during his impromptu
discussion with Officer Brown in the jail. He did not
appear to be hallucinating or suffering from delusions
immediately after the offense. Multiple psychologists
had come to the conclusion that Appellant was over-
reporting or feigning mental illness. [**117] We are not
persuaded that the neuro-imaging evidence would have
been able to overcome the compelling evidence of
Appellant's sanity.

{*P209] We further find that Appellant has not shown
prejudice from counsel's omission to present the
proffered neuro-imaging evidence in the second stage
of the frial. Reweighing the evidence in aggravation
against both the mitigating evidence which was
presented and the proffered neuroimaging, we find that
Appellant has not shown a reasonable probability that
had counsel presented the neuro-imaging evidence the
jury would have concluded that the balance of

Goode v._State, 2010 OK CR 10, § 93,236 P.3d 671,
688.

[*P210] The neuro-imaging evidence would not have
contributed greatly to Appellant's case in mitigation.
Counsel's omission to present the proffered evidence
did not prevent the jury from considering any additional
circumstance in mitigation because the neuro-imaging
evidence was cumulative to Appellant's other mitigating
evidence. The jury was instructed that they were able to
consider Appellant's [eaming disability, the influence of
his mental disturbance, his limitation in capacity to
appreciate the criminality of his conduct, and his
inability *118] to conform his behavior to the
requirements of the law among other potential mitigating
circumstances. Since the proffered neuro-imaging
evidence does not readily correlate to whether Appellant
knew right from wrong, maintained criminal intent or
suffered from schizophrenia we find that it did not
corroborate Dr. Grundy's diagnosis of schizophrenia
more adequately than the eyewitness accounts which
defense counsel presented. Likewise, the proffered
evidence would not have been sufficient to overcome
the strong evidence that Appellant had feigned a severe
mental iliness. The jurors were able to assess
Appellant's mental functioning for themselves by
listening to his recorded conversation with Detention
Officer Kendall Brown.

[*P211] The proffered neuro-imaging evidence would
not have been sufficient to overcome the State's
evidence. As discussed above, the evidence
establishing the aggravating circumstances of the
murder was compelling. The great weight of the
evidence showed that Henry endured conscious
physical suffering and severe emotional trauma before
dying. Appellant's behavior displayed a pattern of
escalating criminal activity and violence. Coupled with
the calloused nature of the [**119] offense, there was a
clear probability that Appeliant would continue to
constitute a threat to society. Therefore, we conclude
that Appellant has not shown clear and convincing
evidence of a strong possibility that counsel was
ineffective for failing to present neuro-imaging evidence.
Simpson, 2010 OK CR 6, {53, 230 P.3d at 905--906.

[*P212] Appellant further asserts in his application that
counsel was ineffective for failing to present testimony
from his mother and grandmother documenting poignant
stories and photographs from his life. He cites to two
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different exhibits to his application in support of this
claim.

[*P213] Appellant refers us to Exhibit “7" to his
application, This exhibit is the affidavit of his mother,
Dana Huff. In the affidavit, Mrs. Huff alleges that had
counsel asked her, she would have testified that
Appellant's life had value. She would have informed the
jury that she loved Appellant and that he loved his
siblings. She further alleges that she supplied
Appellant's defense team with stories from Appellant's
life as well as the 10 photographs atiached to her
affidavit. Mrs. Huff further alleges that she has sympathy
for the victim's family and knows their grief because she
had also lost a child.

[*P214] Appellant further refers us [**120] to Exhibit
"8" to his application. This exhibit is the affidavit of his
grandmother, Albertha Bench. In the affidavit, Mrs.
Bench alleges that had defense counsel called her
testify in the second stage of the trial, she would have
testified as to her love for Appellant and explained that
he had never scared her. She further alleges that she
gave defense counsel the photograph attached to her
affidavit which depicted Appellant in his Navy uniform
prior to trial. Mrs. Bench further alleges that she has
sympathy for the victim's family and knows their grief
because she had also lost a child.

[*P215] Turning to the record, we find that the jury was

not deprived of evidence showing that Appellant was a
beloved and loving son, grandson and brother. Instead,
it is quite clear from the record that Appellant's family
loved him. His grandfather, Stanley Bench, testified in
the first stage of the trial as to the exchange which
occurred when Appellant declared that he was leaving
his grandparents' home. Mr. Bench related that Mrs.
Bench did not want Appellant to leave so he had
advised Appellant; "You betler get on out of her
because when your grandma comes back, she is liable
to have a heart attack." [**121] Appellant replied; "Yes,
I know." Mr. Bench also testified as to their departing
words. Appellant declared; "Pa, | love you. Mr. Bench
responded; “l do you too. Be careful out there and don't
get hurt.

[*P216] Albertha Bench verified Mr. Bench's profession
that she loved Appellant when she testified in the first
stage of the trial. Mrs. Bench related how she had
attempted to care for Appellant. She explained that she
had ftried to help him overcome strep throat and
attempted to assuage his mental health issues while he
was living with her.

[*P217] Appellant's stepfather, Farlan Huff, testified in
the second stage of the trial. Mr. Huff's testimony tended
to show how Appellant's family loved him and he loved
his family. Mr. Huff related that he had raised Appellant
from the age of one-year as if he was his own son. Huff
had potty-trained Appellant and taught him how to drive.
Mr. Huff aiso explained that Appellant had sobbed after
Mrs. Huff ordered him to stop his viclent attack on Mr,
Huff. He further related that he had refused to press
charges against Appellant because he did not want to
split the family up. Mr. Huff made it clear that he still
considered himself as Appellant's father.

[*P218] Similarly, [**122] Dana Huff's testimony in the
second stage of the trial made it unmistakably clear that
she loved Appellant and wanted him to go on living. She
related how she had tried to care for Appellant his entire
life. Mrs. Huff testified that she was always proud of her
son. She testified conceming Appellant's brother and
explained that Appellant had not taken it well when his
sister died. While admitting that she was "running
interference” for Appellant, Mrs. Huff declared; "He is
my child, and | would like to save him."

[*P219] We further note that counsel presented other
evidence that humanized Appellant. Mrs. Huff testified
that Appellant had made friends with an elderly man in a
nursing home when he was a teenager. Since his family
had abandoned him in the home, Appellant became a
companion to the man, went on walks, and shared
many conversations with him. Counsel also presented
the testimony of Jackie Plese, Appellant's third grade
special education teacher. Ms. Plese informed the jury
that she had continued to correspond with Appellant
while he was in the jail. She regularly sent him Bible
passages.

{*P220] We further find that the proffered evidence
would have undercut counsel's overall second
stage [**123] strategy of emphasizing the upheaval and
dysfunction in his childhood. It appears that counsel had
identified and investigated the proffered testimony and
photographs. Instead of introducing this evidence at
trial, counsel presented evidence tending to show that
Appellant was a quiet and sad child who was mistreated
both at school and at home because of his leamning
disability and obsessive compulsive issues. Counsel
portrayed Appellant's childhood home as dysfunctional
and subject to numerous incidents of upheaval. Since
testimony establishing that Appellant had a normal and
happy childhood would have undercut the defense's
claims of mistreatment and dysfunction, it is clear that
counsel made a choice between these two avenues of
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evidence, As Appellant has neither argued nor shown
why counsel's chosen avenue was unreasonable, we
find that he has failed to overcome the presumption that
counsel's omission of the evidence was an objectively
reasonable strategic decision.

[*P221] Appellant's allegation that defense counsel
should have presented the declarations of Mrs. Huff and
Mrs. Bench that each of them had sympathy for the
victim's family and knew their grief because each had
also lost a [**124] child is not well received. As these
were the declarations of Appellant's family members, we
fail to see how they would have humanized Appellant.
Additionally, these declarations were not favorable to
Appellant's defense. Every individual's grief over the
loss of a loved one is unique and different. Certainly, the
grief of Henry's family was different than the grief which
Appellant's family members had suffered. Counsel's
decision to omit such testimony was more than
cbjectively reasonable. Accordingly, we find that
Appellant has not shown clear and convincing evidence
of a strong possibility that defense counsel was
ineffective for failing to present the proffered
photographs and testimony of his mother and
grandmother. Simpson, 2010 OK CR 6,953,230 P.3d
at 905--906.

[*P222] Finally, Appellant asserts in his application that

counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the audible
gasps in the courtroom when the prosecutor displayed
the in-life and post-mortem photographs of Henry during
closing argument. Appellant refers us to Exhibit "9" to
his application. This exhibit is the affidavit of Dale
Anderson, who asserts that he heard audible gasps
from the public seating area when these photos were
displayed. As Appellant has not raised [**125] a claim
of ineffective assistance of counsel in his brief
predicated upon this assertion, we find that Appellant
has waived appellate review of his request for
supplementation of the record with this affidavit. Rule
3.11(B)(3){b), Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal
Appeals, Title 22, Ch. 18, App. (2017), (setling forth
requirement of supporting request for evidentiary
hearing with proposition of error alleging ineffective
assistance of counsel raised in the brief-in-chief on
allegation).

['P223] Appellant has not shown clear and convincing
evidence of a strong possibility that counsel was
ineffective in any of his claims. Simpson, 2010 OK CR
6, 11.53,_230 P.3d at 905--906. Therefore, we find that
his Application for Evidentiary Hearing on Sixth
Amendment Claim is DENIED.

[*P224] Having determined that Appellant is not
entitled an evidentiary hearing we tum to the remaining
claims of ineffective assistance of counsel set forth in
Appellant's Brief. We examine these claims under the
lest set forth in Strickland but do not consider the
supplemental materials attached to Appellant's
application. See Bland, 2000 OK CR 11._1.115_4 P.3d
at 731 (holding Rule 3.11 affidavits are not considered
part of record on appeal but reviewed only to determine
if they contain clear and convincing evidence of
counsel's ineffectiveness).

[*P225] Appellant argues that counsel was ineffective
for failing [**126] to impeach Melissa Lynn and Dr. Hall;
failing to present the testimony of a mitigation specialist
and a mental heaith expert, failing to present neuro-
imaging evidence; and failing to present the value of
Appellant's life through the testimony of his mother and
grandmother. Nothing in the record supports these
claims, thus, we find that Appellant has not shown
ineffective assistance of counsel under the more
rigorous federal standard set forth in
Strickland.Simpson, 2010 OK CR 6,1 53. 230 P.3d at
906, Propaosition IV is denied.

ACCUMULATION OF ERROR CLAIM

[*P226] In Proposition XIl, Appellant contends that,
even if no individual error merits reversal, the
cumulative effect of such errors warrants either reversal
of his conviction or a madification of his death sentence.
Reviewing the entire record in the present case, we find
that Appellant was not denied a fair trial or sentencing
proceeding by egregious or numerous errars. Williams
v. State, 2001 OK CR 9 1 127 22 P.3d 702, 732
Bechtel v. State. 1987 OK CR 126, Y12, 738 P.2d 559,
561. Therefore, no new trial or modification of sentence
is warranted and this proposition of error is denied.

MANDATORY SENTENCE REVIEW

[*P227] In Proposition XlI, Appellant contends that
arbitrary factors determined his death sentence. We
consider this argument in conjunction with our
mandatory sentence review pursuant to 21 0.5.2011. §
701.13.

[*P228] The State [**127] alleged and the jury found
the presence of two aggravating circumstances: 1) the
murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and
2) the defendant posed a continuing threat to society. In
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Propositions VIII and 1X, we determined that the State
presented sufficient evidence to support the jury's
finding of these two aggravating circumstances.

[*P229] Appellant alleged the following circumstances
in mitigation of punishment: (1) he did not have any prior
violent felony convictions; (2) his capacity to appreciate
the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct
to the requirements of law was impaired; (3) he was
under the influence of mental disturbance at the time of
the crime; (4) he acted under circumstances which
tended to justify, excuse or reduce the crime; (5) he is
likely to be rehabilitated; (6) he fully cooperated with the
police when he was arrested; (7) he is only 23 years old
today and was only 21 years old at the time of the
offense; (8) he was diagnosed with a leaming difficulty
at an early age; (9) he was bullied, teased, and made
fun of in school; (10) he had a negative emotional and
family history; (11) he had suicidal thoughts when he
was 13 years of age; (12} ["*128] he was physically and
verbally abused as a child; (13) he wanted to serve in
the United States Navy, but was unable to complete
requirements for such service; and (14) he was
presented for mental health treatment and was denied.

['P230] Appellant presented the testimony of 18
witnesses in the sentencing stage of the trial, including
his friends, neighbors, educators, family members,
representatives of the Navy, and an administrator from a
health care program. In addition to the evidence in
mitigation detailed in Propositions IV and VI, the
evidence showed that Appellant had a learning disability
and had always struggled in the classroom. He
participated In special education classes in school
where it was determined that he had a normal
intelligence quotient but experienced processing delays.
By the eighth grade Appellant was very determined to
get out of the special education classes. Due to his hard
work he was able to transfer to a co-taught classroom in
the Eighth grade. He was also able to accomplish his
personal goal of making the school football team.
Appellant's teachers found him to be respectful, quiet
and polite.

['P231] The evidence further showed that Appellant's
delays impacted his personal [**129] relationships.
Appellant's family, neighbors, teachers and friends
testified concerning his childhood. Some of Appellant's
peers picked on him. He had a few friends but otherwise
spent much of his time alone. Appellant was awkward
around girls. Farlan Huff struggled to deal with
Appellant's limitations, belitled him, and harshly
disciplined him. This caused tension between them.

Both Dana Huff and Farlan Huff had worked with
Appellant to help him hide the fact that he was different.
They encouraged Appellant to enter the military
because they believed that this would fix him.

['P232] The evidence also showed that certain
individuals cared for Appellant and maintained a positive
relationship with him despite the passage of time.
Anthony Popovich, Appeliani's best friend from
childhood, maintained a relationship with Appellant even
after Appellant moved away. Jackie Plese, one of
Appellant's instructors, continued to correspond with
Appellant after his arrest and incarceration for Henry's
murder. Appellant’s maternal grandparents, Stanley and
Albertha Bench, also cared for Appellant.

(*P233] Appellant supplemented the evidence from the
first stage indicating that he had psychological issues
with lay [**130] witness testimony. This evidence
showed that he was diagnosed with attention deficit
hyperactivity disorder as a child and had nightmares of
a dark figure. As a teenager he engaged in obsessive
handwashing and was diagnosed with compulsive
personality disorder. He had to stop taking the
medication prescribed to help him focus when he
started to think about harming himself. Chief
Southerland testified that he had sent Appellant to a
psychiatrist for evaluation during his time in the Navy.'®
Appellant exhibited signs of paranoia after the Navy
discharged him. Farlan Huff tried to get him help at
several mental health clinics but they turned Appellant
away. A representative from the program in Ada
corroborated Farlan Huff's assertion that Appellant was
turned away from that program.

[*P234] Based upon the record before us, we find the
sentence of death to be factually substantiated and
appropriate. Malone, 2013 OK CR 1, f11.79-87,. 293 P.3d
at_ 218-21; Eizember, 2007 OK CR 28, 1 145, 164 P.3d
at 242. Reviewing the record, we cannot say the trier of
fact was influenced by passion, prejudice, or any other
arbitrary factor contrary to 21 0.5.2011 § 701.13(C) in
finding that the aggravating circumstances outweighed
the mitigating evidence. /d. We affirm the sentence of
death. 27 0.5.2011,_§ 701.13(E). Accordingly, finding
no error warranting [**131] reversal or modification, this
appeal is denied.

DECISION

'8 The psychiatrist determined that Appellant was ready and fit
for duty
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[*P235] The Judgment and Sentence is hereby
AFFIRMED. The Application for Evidentiary Hearing on
Sixth Amendment Claim is DENIED. Pursuant to Rule
3.15, Rules of the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Appeals,
Tite 22, Ch, 18, App. (2018), the MANDATE is
ORDERED issued upon the delivery and filing of this
decision.

OPINION BY: LUMPKIN, P.J.
LEWIS, V.P.J.: Concur

HUDSON, J.: Concurring in Results
KUEHN, J.: Specially Concurring
ROWLAND, J.: Concur

Concur by: HUDSON; KUEHN

Concur

HUDSON, J., CONCURRING IN RESULTS:

[*P1] | concur with the decision to affirm Appellant's
first degree murder conviction and death sentence. |
write separately to clarify in Proposition Five that the
evidence test adopted in Shrum v. State, 1999 OK CR
41, 991 P.2d 1032, is binding precedent in Oklahoma.
Its holding is simple: "all lesser forms of homicide are
necessarily included and instructions on lesser forms of
homicide should be administered if they are supported
by the evidence.” /d., 1999 OK CR 41, 1 10, 1999 OK
CR 41, 991 P.2d 1032, 1036. Accord Tryon v. Stale,
2018 OK CR 20. 11 66, 423 P.3d 617, 638 ("In a first
degree murder case, the trial court should instruct on
any lesser form of homicide supported by the
evidence."). Thus, whether a lesser form of homicide is
warranted is a fact-dependent issue, and hence, must
be decided on a case by case basis. State v. Tubby,
2016 OK CR 17. 111, 387 P.3d 918, 922 (Hudson, J..
Specially Concur). The pivotal question in the analysis is
whether prima [**132] facie evidence was presented
that "would allow a jury rationally to find the accused
guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the
greater.” Tryon, 2018 OK CR 20, 1166, 423 P.3d at 638.

['P2] The majority's statement that second degree
murder has historically been considered a lesser
included offense of first degree malice murder “is
superfluous . . . the legal determination is already made,
and the trial court need only look to the evidence to

determine whether instructions on lesser forms of
homicide are supported.” Davis v. State, 2011 OK CR
29, 1.2, 268 P.3d 86, 141 (Lewis, V.P.J., concurring in
results). The issue is whether prima facie evidence of
the lesser offense was presented at trial warranting
instruction on the lesser included or lesser related
offense. See Irvon, 2018 OK CR 20._Y1.68-69, 423
P.3d at 638. The majority's approach is contrary to this
Court's binding legal precedent and confuses the issue
for the bench, bar and public. | agree, however, that
insufficient evidence was presented in this case to
support instruction on second degree murder under the
governing test.

KUEHN, J., SPECIALLY CONCURRING:

[*P1] | agree that Appellant's conviction and sentence
should be affirmed, but write to discuss Propositions V
and VI in more detail.

[*P2] Regarding Proposition V, | agree the evidence
did not warrant instructions on [**133] Second Degree
Depraved Mind Murder, but | believe the Majority's
analysis is overly complicated. | agree that even in
capital cases, a trial court is not required to instruct the
jury on any lesser (non-capital) option unless the
evidence reasonably supports it. Beck v. Alabama, 447
U.S. 625, 637 100 S.Ct. 2382, 2389, 65 | Ed.2d 392
{1980); Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 455-56, 104
S.Ct._3154. 3159-60, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 {1984).1 That
determination is based on state law. Hopkins v. Reeves,
524 U.S, 88 90-91, 118 S.Ct. 1895, 1898, 141 L.Ed.2d
76_(1998). We have rejected the strict "elements”
approach to deciding whether it is appropriate to instruct
on lesser offenses. Shrum v._ State, 1999 OK CR 41,
991 P.2d 10322 Instead, we consider (1) whether a
reasonable view of the evidence meets all elements of
the lesser option, and if so, (2) whether a rational juror
could have acquitted Appellant of the greater option and

' Overruled on other grounds, Hurst v. Florida, 577 U.S. -- 136
S.Ct 616, 193 L Ed.2d 504 (2016).

ZIn fact, with regard to homicides, we rejected that notion
more than a century ago. Our early cases treated all murders
and manslaughters as degrees of "felonious homicide,” aven
though their intent elements are dissimilar and, al times,
mutually exclusive. Seg Rhea v. Territory, 1909 OK CR 153, 3
Okla_Crim_ 230, 105 P. 314, 316 (affirming manslaughter
conviction for defendant charged with premeditated murder);
Smith v. Territory, 1904 OK 53, 14 Okla. 162, 77 P. 187, 188
{upholding conviction for second-degree manslaughter on a
charge of murder).
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convicted him of the lesser -- in other words, whether a
rational juror could have disregarded any evidence or
element that distinguishes the greater from the lesser.
McHam v._State, 2005 OK CR 28, 1121, 126 P.3d 662,
670; Shrum, 1999 OK CR 41, 16 n. 2, 991 P.2d 1032,
1034 n. 2.

[*P3] The question presented here is whether any
rational juror could have viewed Appellant's conduct as
imminently dangerous and evincing a depraved mind in
extreme disregard of human life, but not done with the
intention of taking the life of any particular person. See
OUJI-CR (2nd) No. 4-81 (elements of Depraved Mind
Murder).> The Majority makes reference [*134] to
"shooting into a crowd” as a textbook example of
conduct evincing a depraved mind, but the fact that
Appellant committed violence against only one person
does not categorically render him ineligible for an
instruction on this lesser offense.® Nevertheless, | find
that from the totality of the evidence, no rational juror
could have concluded that Appellant acted with anything
less than an intent to kill.

[*P4] First, Appellant's own statements indicate that he
intended to kill. At times he suggested that he had
delusions about who the victim was, and at times he
appeared to be feigning mental illness to escape
liability. Regardless, the statements reasonably suggest
that Appellant intended to cause the death of the victim.
Second, the nature of the victim's injuries, and the
sequence of these horrible events, leave no doubt in my
mind that Appellant acted with decidedly more than
"extreme disregard for human life." The Medical
Examiner testified that the victim suffered repeated and
extensive blunt force trauma to her head and torso, as
well as bruising to her extremities. In short, it appeared
that Appellant repeatedly stomped his victim until she
died. What is more, he admitted to [**135] Dr. Grundy
that after his first attack on the victim, he returned and
attacked her a second time. The evidence suggested

3The statutory text defines Depraved Mind Murder as a
homicide "perpetrated by an act imminenlly dangerous to
another person and evincing a depraved mind, regardless of
human life, although without any premeditated design to effect
the death of any padicular individual.” 27 0.5.2011,_ §
701.8(1),

4Eg. Palmer v. State, 1994 _OK CR_16, 871 P.2d 429
(evidence supported conviction for depraved-mind murder,
where defendant gave the victim a dose of very potent
cocaine, knowing that the victim had suffered a severe
reaction to cocaing two weeks earlier).

that the victim was conscious for some part of the
attack, and fought back as best she could. The evidence
also indicated that Appellant dragged her body across
the floor while she was still conscious. The point here is
not just that the attack was brutal and cruel; it clearly
was. The point is that Appellant's extensive and
protracted attack, and Henry's defensive attempts,
convince me that no rational juror could have found any
intent on Appellant's part but to kill her. The trial court
properly rejected instructions on Depraved Mind Murder.

['P5] In Proposition VI, the Majority finds that the
State's mental-health expert, Dr. Terese Hall, did not
improperly comment on the veracity of other witnesses,
but cautions that she came "dangerously close” to doing
so at one point. | believe Dr. Hail's testimony was proper
in all respects. Witnesses with specialized training and
experience are often asked to explain why they find
certain information noteworthy or credible. Expert
witnesses are permitled to base their conclusions on
evidence that may not otherwise be admissible, [**136]
such as hearsay. 12 0.5.2011, § 2703; Studie v. State
1985 OK CR 124, 119, 706 P.2d 1390, 1391. They may
be asked to disclose the underlying facts supporting
their conclusions. 12 0.5.2011. § 2705; Lewis v. State
1898 OK CR 24, 1118, 970 P.2d 1158, 1166-67. Indeed,
an expert's opinion may be excluded if it is not

supported by the facts. Casady v. Stale, 1986 OK CR
114, 116, 721 P.2d 1342, 13486.

[*P6] Sanity is not determined by a litmus test; it relies
on a compilation of information, much of it coming from
lay people who have observed the subject's behavior
over time. Thus, explaining the basis for an opinion on
sanity necessarily includes a direct or indirect
assessment of others' credibility, more than opinions
based on "harder” science might. Here, both parties
probed the bases for both experts' opinions, asking
each what they considered, and what they considered
probative. If the prosecutor had not asked Dr. Hall to
explain her conclusion in the face of contradictory
information, defense counsel was sure to do so in cross-
examination.5

5E.9. Simpson v._Stale 2010 OK CR 6, 11.35-36. 230 P.3d
688, 901 (detective did not vouch for wilness credibility by
commenting on inconsistencies among statements of the
accused and his co-defendants, ar by pointing out that another
witness had given police previously-unknown information).

6The prosecutor cross-examined Dr. Grundy about
information he had discounted or failed to consider. In fact, the
questions that the prosecutor asked Dr. Hall on direct were



2018 OK CR 31, *31; 2018 Okla. Crim. App. LEXIS 33, **136

[*P7] As the Majority notes, "vouching” is when a
witness or attorney makes personal assurances to
jurors about the credibility of a witness, based on
information not actually presented fo them. See
Simpson v. State, 2010 OK CR 6, Y 35-36_ 230 P.3d
888901, There was no vouching here. Not only was
the basis for Dr. Hall's assessment (the consistency of
family observations) easy to understand, but the key
sources [**137] of that information (Appellant's
grandmother and cousin) themselves lestified before the
jury, and were specifically asked whether their
assessments of Appellant's mental health had changed
over time.” Dr. Hall did not judge any witness's
credibility using some secret formula or undisclosed
fact. She simply told the jury how she reached her own
conclusions. The credibility of all witnesses (including
Dr. Hall) was left for the jury to determine. There was
nothing improper in Dr. Hall's testimony.
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similar to those she had previously asked Grundy -- what he
thought about the changes in the grandparemts’ accounts, and
why he discounted Clayton Jenson's observations. Defense
counsel himself asked Dr. Grundy "what weight did you give"
to certain information, and even asked him whether a
parlicular observation related by Appellant's grandmother was
“significant in this case.” The prosecutor's questions to Dr. Hall
were not substantively different from defense counsel's own
questions to Dr. Grundy (e.g.: "Tell me about what weight, if
any, you gave lo Mr. Bench's family members and their
asserlion of events”). In fact, as the Majority notes, Dr. Hall
was quile transparent in her assessment: "l think Dr. Grundy
considered [Appellant's] family information thal was offered
later to be highly credible and | did not. | think that is the main
difference [in our opinions].” Dr. Hall even noted that Dr.
Grundy used to be her supervisor, and that this was the rare
case where their diagnoses diverged.

7 While the jury did not hear testimony from Dallas Cowen, the
jail administrator, that brief description of Appellant's behavior
was only related by Dr. Hall to corroborate her own first-hand
observations. Dr. Hall testified thal after a long psychological
interview where Appellant claimed his jailers were trying to
poison him, she overheard him casually ask his jailers for a
double cheeseburger. Dr. Hall testified that Cowen had made
similar observations {claiming Appellant acted normally until a
lawyer or doctor came to visit him). | also note that while
Appellant complains Dr. Hall said she took the grandparents’
latter accounts with "a grain of salt," that phrase was actually
suggested by the prosecutor.



IN THE COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS OF

THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA FiLLD
IN COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS
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MILES STERLING BENCH, ) NOV -7 2018
) JOHN D. HADDEN
)

V. )} Case No. D-2015-462
)

THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA, )
)

Appellee. )

ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR REHEARING
AND DIRECTING ISSUANCE OF MANDATE

Appellant, Miles Sterling Bench, was tried by jury and convicted
of First Degree Murder (21 0.5.2011, § 701.7(A)) in the District Court
of Stephens County, Case Number CF-2012-172. The jury found the
presence of two aggravating circumstances: 1) the murder was
especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and 2) the defendant posed a
continuing threat to society, and set punishment as death. The trial
court formally sentenced Appellant in accordance with the jury's
verdict. On October 4, 2018, this Court affirmed Appellant’s

conviction and sentence of death in Bench v. State, 2018 OK CR 31,

__P3d___.



Appellant is now before the Court on a Petition for Rehearing.
According to Rule 3.14, Rules of the Court of Criminal Appeals, Title
22, Ch. 18, App. (2018}, a Petition for Rehearing shall be filed for two
reasons only:

(1) Some question decisive of the case and duly

submitted by the attorney of record has been overlooked

by the Court, or

(2) The decision is in conflict with an express statute or

controlling decision to which the attention of this Court
was not called either in the brief or in oral argument.

Id.

Appellant contends that this Court’s decision overlooked
questions decisive of the issue he raised in Proposition Five including
“binding precedent” and “evidence.” Reviewing Appellant’s allegations
pursuant to Rule 3.14(B)(1), we find that Appellant is not entitled to
rehearing as he has not shown that this Court overlooked some
question decisive of the case and duly submitted by the attorney of
record.! Based upon the foregoing, this Petition for Rehearing is
DENIED. The Clerk of this Court is ordered to issue the mandate

forthwith.

! See Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 635, 100 S. Ct. 2382, 2388, 65 L. Ed. 2d
392 (1980); McHam v. State, 2005 OK CR 28, { 21, 126 P.3d 662, 670.
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IT IS SO ORDERED.
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